
   Department of Transportation 
   Board of Directors  
                                   Notice of Public Meeting 
   1263 South Stewart Street 
   Third Floor Conference Room 
   Carson City, Nevada 
   August 12, 2013 – 9:00 a.m. 

 
 

AGENDA 
 

1. Receive Director’s Report – Informational item only. 
 
2. Public Comment – limited to no more than three (3) minutes. The public may comment on 

Agenda items prior to action by submitting a request to speak to the Chairman before the 
Meeting begins. Informational item only. 

 
3. Approval of July 8, 2013 Nevada Department of Transportation Board of Directors 

Meeting Minutes – For possible action. 
 
4. Briefing on Vehicle Miles Travelled (VMT) Study – Informational Item Only. 
 
5. Approval of Agreements over $300,000 – For possible action. 
 
6. Contracts, Agreements, and Settlements – Informational item only.  
 
7. Condemnation Resolution – For possible action.   

 
a. Condemnation Resolution No. 439 – US-93, Boulder City Bypass Project, Phase 1; 

between Foothills Drive and US-95, in the City of Henderson, Boulder City and in the 
unincorporated area of Clark County, NV – 1 owner, 1 parcel 

 
8. Quitclaim Deed – For possible action. 
 
 a. Disposal of NDOT water rights along Interstate 80, east of Imlay Interchange, in 

Pershing County, NV  SUR 13-03 
   
9. Approval of Amendments and Administrative Modifications to the FFY 2012-2015 

Statewide Transportation Improvement Program (STIP) – For possible action. 
 
10. Update on the Status of I-11 and Intermountain West Corridor Study – Informational item 

only. 
 
11. Old Business 
 

a. Report of Outside Counsel Costs on Open Matters – Informational item only. 
b. Monthly Litigation Report – Informational item only. 
c. Fatality Report dated July 17, 2013 – Informational item only. 

 
12. Public Comment – limited to no more than three (3) minutes. The public may comment on 

Agenda items prior to action by submitting a request to speak to the Chairman before the 
Meeting begins.  Informational item only. 

 
13. Adjournment – For possible action. 

  



Notes:   
 

• Items on the agenda may be taken out of order. 
• The Board may combine two or more agenda items for consideration 
• The Board may remove an item from the agenda or delay discussion relating to an item on the agenda 

at any time. 
• Reasonable efforts will be made to assist and accommodate physically handicapped persons desiring 

to attend the meeting. Requests for auxiliary aids or services to assist individuals with disabilities or 
limited English proficiency should be made with as much advance notice as possible to the 
Department of Transportation at (775) 888-7440.  

• This meeting is also expected to be available via video-conferencing, but is at least available via 
teleconferencing, at the Nevada Department of Transportation District One Office located at 123 East 
Washington, Las Vegas, Nevada in the Conference Room and at the District III Office located at 1951 
Idaho Street, Elko, Nevada. 

• Copies of non-confidential supporting materials provided to the Board are available upon request. 
• Request for such supporting materials should be made to Holli Stocks at (775) 888-7440 or 

hstocks@dot.state.nv.us. Such supporting material is available at 1263 South Stewart Street, Carson 
City, Nevada 89712 and if available on-line, at www.nevadadot.com. 
 

This agenda was posted at www.nevadadot.com and at the following locations: 
 
Nevada Dept. of Transportation Nevada Dept. of Transportation Nevada Dept. of Transportation 
1263 South Stewart Street 123 East Washington  310 Galletti Way 
Carson City, Nevada  Las Vegas, Nevada   Sparks, Nevada 
 
Nevada Dept. of Transportation Governor’s Office   Clark County    
1951 Idaho Street  Capitol Building   200 Lewis Avenue 
Elko, Nevada   Carson City, Nevada  Las Vegas, Nevada 
 
Pershing County 
398 Main Street 
Lovelock, Nevada 
 
 
 
 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

July 8, 2013 
 

1 

Governor Brian Sandoval 
Attorney General Catherine Cortez Masto 
Controller Kim Wallin 
Frank Martin 
Len Savage 
Tom Fransway 
Rudy Malfabon 
Bill Hoffman 
Dennis Gallagher  
______________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Sandoval: Good morning, ladies and gentlemen.  I’d like to welcome you to the July 
meeting of the Board of Directors for the Department of Transportation 
Meeting.  Can you hear me loud and clear in Southern Nevada? 

Martin: We can, sir. 

Sandoval: Great.  And I hope everyone had a great Fourth of July weekend, and we’re 
back to it now.  So we’ll begin with Agenda Item No. 1, which is 
presentation of retirement plaques to 25-plus-year employees. 

Malfabon: Thank you, Governor.  Apparently, I’m not sure if any of them are present.  
But I’m going to go through the names and years of service.  First, Dennis 
Taylor, who is the head of the Transportation Multimodal Planning at 
NDOT, retired with 21 years of service.  Todd Montgomery was Assistant 
Construction Engineer in the Construction office here in headquarters, 
retired in April with 25 years of service.  I don’t see him here, although I did 
go to his retirement party.  Bradley Hunt, who is a Maintenance Supervisor 
I, in Beatty, out there in District I, retired recently with 25 years of service.  
Hanigan Carpenter, who was an Electrician I on the Reno Maintenance 
Traffic Crew, retired in May with 22 years of service.  John Koster, who is a 
Professional Engineer, Roadway Design, 17 years of service, retired in May.  
And William Schworer, Highway Maintenance Worker III in Cold Springs 
District II Maintenance, 20 years of service, retired in June.  So I wanted to 
give them a round of applause for their years of service. 

Sandoval: I wish they were here, because I know that I can speak for all the Board 
members that we personally thank them all for their years of service as well 
as their commitment to the people of the State of Nevada.  So if you’ll pass 
that on if you see them -- you probably won’t, already you’re… 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

July 8, 2013 
 

2 

Malfabon: I might see a few of them. 

Sandoval: Okay.  All right then.  Let’s move on to Agenda Item No. 2, presentation of 
awards. 

Malfabon: Thank you, Governor and Board members.  First, there is one that’s not in 
the packet, but I wanted to take care of that first.  It was the American 
Public Works Association Nevada Chapter, and we have two chapters in 
Nevada, Southern and Northern Chapter.  We have representatives from the 
Northern Chapter here, Joy Guinn and Darren Schulz, who are going to talk 
about the award and why NDOT was selected. 

Schulz: Good morning. 

Sandoval: Good morning. 

Schulz: Darren Schulz, for the record.  I’m the President of the Nevada Chapter of 
APWA.  And I just wanted to start off by saying I wanted to thank the 
NDOT for their support for APW over the years.  Your numbers have went 
down recently, so if you want to encourage more people to be members… 

Malfabon: Well, there you go. 

Schulz: …that’d be great.  We have luncheons every month and a couple of 
conferences every year, and Joy’s going to go on and talk a little bit about 
our -- the award that you’re getting. 

Guinn: Good morning.  Thank you for having us here today.  My name is Joy 
Guinn.  I am with Nichols Consulting Engineers and I am a Director for the 
State Chapter for APWA.  And one of my responsibilities this year is to 
recognize outstanding projects throughout the State of Nevada.  And 
through that, we have a project of the year award.  We present the awards 
twice a year.  In the spring are the categories that are $10 million and less in 
construction, and then in the fall we recognize the projects that are over $10 
million in construction. 

This year, at our spring conference, I was thrilled to see we had nine 
nominees for our project of the year, and one of them was a NDOT project.  
And it was for SR 431, the water quality improvement program.  And Tyler 
Thew came and did a wonderful presentation in which we, out of a panel of 
three judges, selected NDOT to win that award for environmental projects 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

July 8, 2013 
 

3 

$5 million to $10 million in construction.  So if Tyler and Matt can come 
can come up and receive their award. 

Malfabon: If we could, Governor, we’d like to do a photo opportunity with the Board.  
Julie, if we could just have them go with the Board members, I guess, on the 
-- yeah. 

And the next two awards are related to the same project, although they’re 
different awards, they’re actually for the same purpose.  This is for the West 
Mesquite Interchange Design-Build Project, a very innovative project we 
used accelerated bridge construction on.  We had the design-build team of 
Horrocks Engineers and W.W. Clyde was the contractor on it.  And using 
the design-build method really opened it up to innovation. 

The Partnering Award, though, was from very -- a very prestigious award 
from AGC, Associated General Contractors of America, the Marvin M. 
Black Excellence in Partnering Award.  This is the second time that NDOT 
has won this award.  And both occasions it was for a design-build effort.  So 
a lot of teambuilding and partnering goes into these types of projects, 
because we hand over the project at a certain preliminary design stage, and 
the contractor and their designer work together to finish that design and 
construct it, often saving a lot of time because they can start construction 
while it’s -- the other future stages are being designed. 

So I wanted to honor the team that worked on this project, starting with the -
- if there’s representatives in Las Vegas, we want them to approach the -- for 
a photo opportunity in Las Vegas, at the same time as the group up here.  
Just to mention, the Project Manager for NDOT was Adam Searcy, and our 
Resident Engineer was Martin Strganac.  If any of them are present, if they 
could come up top.  And, I think, Tom Stevenson, is he also the -- is this an 
RE, Tracy, is he present? 

Unidentified Female: Director, both Martin Strganac and Tom Stevenson are here, so we’ve got 
a little stage set up for them to get their photo op. 

Malfabon: Okay, great.  We can take a photo op with the group down in Southern 
Nevada, while the group up here gets a photo as well.  And any 
representatives from the design-build team, either that worked for W.W. 
Clyde or Horrocks Engineers as well.  Because it’s an AGC Award, it’s 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

July 8, 2013 
 

4 

really on behalf of that design-builder team.  So I wanted to acknowledge 
them, if there’s any present up here in Carson City or in Las Vegas. 

So the -- just a little bit of background on the project.  We had -- our 
designer that assisted us was HDR on the delivery team.  And they worked 
in concert with the construction with project management and design to 
basically have delivery of a very successful project, received a lot of 
national attention.  We had other DOTs represented for the bridge slide that 
occurred overnight, a very amazing thing to see for the public, too.  They 
probably didn’t even -- people driving through there didn’t realize that -- 
how much effort went into that just to open it back up the next day on an 
important interstate. 

So with that, anybody up here that was -- is Adam around or -- he’s not here 
today, so let’s do the photo opportunity in Las Vegas.  Unfortunately, we 
have the awards up here, so we’ll Photoshop them in.  And I wanted to 
acknowledge Mary Martini’s efforts, too.  She’s very good at getting the 
teams together whenever there was any kind of issues, getting with project 
management and the design-builder.  Thank you, Mary, for your efforts on 
this successful project. 

Sandoval: Before you proceed, Mr. Director, I just, personally, on behalf of the Board, 
wanted to congratulate everybody involved with this project.  You truly 
make Nevada proud and a great representation of the Nevada Department of 
Transportation.  Thank you. 

Malfabon: Thank you, Governor.  The next award to mention is the American Society 
of Civil Engineers, Truckee Meadows Branch, Outstanding Achievement in 
Civil Engineering for the I-580 project.  We worked together with our 
consultant, CH2M Hill, for an outstanding civil engineering project on I-
580.  It opened in the summer of 2012, eight and a half miles, six lanes of 
freeway from South Reno to Washoe Valley.  As everybody up here knows, 
it’s really a timesaver and also a safer facility to use in getting between 
Carson City and Reno. 

I don’t have all the names that were -- a multitude of people, other than 
CH2M Hill and NDOT, obviously the constructor of that project.  But we 
wanted to acknowledge their efforts in this ASCE Award.  That’s a great 
project to use, as I’ve said.  And although there’s some concern with that 
North versus South issue, I think that it shows that it’s a very good facility 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

July 8, 2013 
 

5 

and a much safer facility than the freeway that was, I mean, the highway 
that was through the valley there, that had some fatalities over the years. 

Next contract is -- I mean, award is the AGC, Nevada Chapter, Sensitivity to 
Environment, History and Culture for projects more than $5 million for the 
same project, I-580 freeway extension project.  And this award is given for 
consideration and recognition of the environmental, cultural and historical 
sensitivity.  The AGC, Nevada Chapter, also had the Meeting the Challenge 
of a Difficult Job Award, a project more than $5 million for the I-80 design-
build project.  And Granite Construction did a great job in the -- through the 
heart of Reno on this project, really doing the construction under traffic was 
significant.  They came up with some innovative means to handle traffic 
during construction, and actually came up with some great ideas that 
improved flow of traffic through that corridor.  So I wanted to acknowledge 
Granite Construction’s efforts and partnership with our team.  Jeff LaRud 
was the Project Manager on that project, did a great job on the I-80 design-
build project. 

The International Partnering Institute, another project for the Sapphire Level 
of Northbound 395 Improvement Project.  This was through partnering, 
working with stakeholders, weekly team meetings and project walkthroughs.  
They quickly identified any opportunities, issues and had a full public-
outreach plan that helped make the public aware of any travel-related 
impacts.  The project was substantially completed five months ahead of 
schedule.  So we acknowledge the International Partnering Institute Award, 
there for -- Sapphire Level for that Northbound 395 project.  I believe that 
that was Jim Gallegos was the Project Manager on that one and Granite 
Construction was the contractor. 

Another one from the same institute, Sapphire Level for the Moana Lane 
Diverging Diamond Interchange.  Adam Searcy was the Project Manager on 
that, and Granite Construction did a great job of working in concert with the 
Q&D project that was under RTC that had to tie together on Moana Lane 
with this Diverging Diamond Interchange.  Anybody that drives through that 
interchange can attest that it is a unique interchange, but it really is well set 
up so that you can’t really take the wrong path when you enter into that.  But 
people are getting the hang of that.  It is the first Diverging Diamond 
Interchange in Nevada, and it’s working quite well with traffic flow. 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

July 8, 2013 
 

6 

Another AGC Nevada Chapter Award, Contractor Innovation for a Project 
more than $5 million for that same project.  One thing to mention is because 
of that Construction Manager at Risk method of delivery on this project, it 
saved a lot of time.  We could order the long-lead items with the Board 
approval of that two-phase construction contract, and it was open in only 70 
calendar days.  And that’s pretty much amazing to see that type of level of 
effort by the contractor, and just everything meshing together to deliver a 
great project.  The project also won the Caesar Chavez Day Union Project of 
the Year for Granite Construction.  And that is an annual event that they 
have.  You know, just pleased to mention that Moana Lane Diverging 
Diamond won another award there. 

Also, the Western Cooperative Test Group gave the Department superior 
quality and highest measure of participation for the materials testing -- the 
material sample testing of performance-grade binder.  And what 
performance-grade binder is, is basically the asphalt cement that’s mixed 
with the aggregate to make hot-mix asphalt.  And it’s performance grade 
because they’ve developed it to withstand extremes in temperature, load 
stresses from the traffic.  And our two asphalt labs, we have labs that do the 
testing of the asphalt in the Materials Division here, and they insure the 
highest quality of asphalt materials on all State roads.  Use of quality 
material with the most efficient lifestyle costs and material recycling are 
priorities of the labs.  The labs were recently recognized for superior quality 
and breadth of asphalt-binder testing by the Western Cooperative Test 
Group.  The Group shares innovative techniques to improve blacktop and 
the standardized testing of asphalt material, all to enhance the use, safety 
and value of asphalt roads across the West.  So I wanted to acknowledge the 
efforts of our Material Sample and Testing Group, particularly the asphalt 
labs that work every day with this material and make sure that we receive 
the quality on the roads. 

With that, wanted to acknowledge, is anyone -- oh, Reid Kaiser from 
Materials Division is here, so stand up, Reid.  I wanted to acknowledge the 
efforts of your staff and Materials Testing, particularly with asphalt.  Thank 
you.  With that, that concludes the awards portion. 

Sandoval: Thank you, Mr. Director.  Any questions for Board members on this Agenda 
item?  We will move on to the Director’s Report. 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

July 8, 2013 
 

7 

Malfabon: Thank you, Governor and Board members.  As you saw, Governor, this 
weekend when you flew down to view the damage to the Mount Charleston 
Fire and the activities that were in place to try to get that fire under control, 
the State plane is operational again.  Marcus Thomason was recently rehired 
by NDOT.  We are very pleased to get him back.  He was probably the best 
pilot we’ve ever had in service of the Department.  In mention of the flight 
operations, obviously, his goal is to make sure that he achieves the cost 
savings by flying our contingency of engineers and staff to Las Vegas on a 
daily basis, so that we can save those costs compared to the commercial 
airline costs. 

The mention of the Mount Charleston Fire, I wanted to acknowledge 
District Engineer Mary Martini’s efforts and her staff in working with the 
public agencies that are working to contain that fire.  Apparently it’s about 
15 percent contained right now, so it’s still a huge amount of work to do.  
And we’re assisting by providing fuel to those public works -- public 
agencies’ vehicles from our maintenance station. 

The other thing to mention, on the federal level, Anthony Foxx was sworn in 
as U.S. DOT Secretary of Transportation recently.  He had mentioned that 
safety is his first priority, and I’m pleased to hear that.  And the Board will 
be receiving a presentation on Nevada’s safety efforts later in the Agenda. 

Also on the national front, I chaired the meeting of the Standing Committee 
on Highway Traffic Safety.  There were representatives from Nevada 
present at that meeting.  We did a joint meeting this year with the 
Subcommittee on Traffic Engineering at the national level.  So it was good 
for us, because traffic safety and traffic engineering are usually tied very 
closely at the hip, as well as working with other groups.  It was good to have 
a joint meeting.  And also, we heard a lot of good things, recognizing 
Nevada for our safety efforts.  And you’ll hear about those later in the 
Agenda item.  But I just wanted to acknowledge that they’ve, AASHTO and 
the states that were present at the meeting, view NDOT and Nevada as a 
leader in the safety efforts that we’ve implemented. 

The Veterans’ Affairs issue came up recently from Senator Heller’s office.  I 
wanted to mention that we will be working directly to respond to Senator 
Heller’s office, but we came up with a solution that we think will work.  It 
had to do with when veterans are getting reimbursement for travel to a 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

July 8, 2013 
 

8 

veterans’ hospital or clinic, they have to work through the VA, and 
sometimes there’s road closures due to weather or due to other restrictions, 
and they have to take an alternate route.  So the VA takes the direct route, 
looking at map software from the internet such as Google Maps, and 
sometimes a veteran has to take a more circuitous route.  So we’re going to 
work directly with the VA and Director of Veterans’ Affairs, Caleb Cage, 
for State of Nevada, to make sure that our solution is implemented and that 
it’s workable, doesn’t add a lot of administrative costs, a very simple 
solution.  And we’ll, as I said, respond to Senator Heller’s office on that 
issue. 

On the legislative front, we’ve got a lot of work to do in implementation of 
some of the legislative requirements.  Obviously the groups in engineering 
will handle the Construction Manager at Risk requirements and the 
reporting requirements there that deal with the future elimination of the 
Sunset Clause that NDOT will be under.  But we will be allowed to continue 
using the Construction Manager at Risk process for procurement.  On the 
planning side, they’ll be responsible for dealing with the getting together 
with the local agencies in road relinquishments and road transfers, bringing 
that policy forward to the Board for your approval. 

And the Administrative Services Group and Civil Rights Group will work 
together on DBE implementation on State-funded contracts.  There’s a 
limited number of State-funded contracts.  Most of our State funds are used 
to leverage the federal funds.  But we’ll work closely between those two 
groups to come up with a process that doesn’t add a lot of administrative 
cost to implement that DBE requirement.  So a lot of other work to be done, 
and I’ll report to the Board back or bring stuff for the Board approval on any 
policies that have to be enacted, such as the sponsorship of rest stops and 
rest areas requirements.  We’ll bring that to the Board for your approval on 
how we propose to implement that. 

Recently, in the news, you might have seen in the media report about the 
Reason Foundation gave an annual highway report, Nevada was ranked 16th.  
And they looked at pavement condition, urban traffic congestion, deficient 
bridges, unsafe narrow lanes, traffic fatalities, total spending per mile on 
State roads and administrative cost per mile.  We’re staying about what we 
were last year.  I think we might have dropped down one place.  But they 
look at a lot more than what we report on bridge or pavement condition.  As 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

July 8, 2013 
 

9 

you saw on another media report a month ago, we were actually tied for first 
or second for the bridge condition.  So a lot of these things have to be taken 
in context and look at the factors that they use to rank.  But the point is, at 
least we weren’t losing any ground from last year’s report on that Reason 
Foundation report. 

Our budget has been established for fiscal year ’14, and we worked closely 
with different divisions within the Department and the District Engineers to 
understand what went into building their budget.  A lot of the Directors’ 
office staff came in after that budget had been submitted, but we came up to 
speed as far as what the needs were and saw that we had to make some cuts.  
Between our budget requests and what was submitted, there was a lot of 
additional requests.  And often we have to look at what our commitments 
are, what we have a responsibility to deliver on a daily basis and then what 
we would like to do in the future as far as providing additional service, and 
have to establish our budgets in that manner. 

So we’ll watch our budgets closely, Governor and Board members, and stay 
within those budgets.  We might be taking some recommendations forward 
to shift some funding around, because we feel that we probably need a little 
bit more money in the operations section.  And we’re trying to see what -- a 
lot of times the operations section of the budget is dependent on weather.  
We had a, fortunately and unfortunately, a good kind of mild winter.  But 
for water, it’s not so good.  And you see some of the after-effects of that 
with brush fires and forest fires.  But we’ll stay on top of that and keep the 
Board apprised of any kind of budget swaps that we would go to Interim 
Finance Committee to do. 

Project NEON, we’re moving ahead with that.  We’ll have formal 
presentations on a quarterly basis.  You had the big presentation last month, 
as you approved going forward with that procurement.  We have an industry 
meeting scheduled on July 25.  And a lot of the meetings set up with the 
Interim Finance Committee are coming up.  So we’ll meet directly with the 
individuals on the Interim Finance Committee, explain the project to them, 
explain this financing scenario that we’ve received Transportation Board 
approval for, and let them know that eventually we’ll come formally to the 
IFC Committee as a whole to request the bonding and the funding, financing 
for the project.  We’ll also be working closely with the Treasurer’s office 
and the Bond Council for the State. 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

July 8, 2013 
 

10 

We also will be meeting directly with the City of Las Vegas to hammer out 
the terms of an agreement, because there’s a lot of local streets affected and 
local property affected.  We wanted to talk about what we’re building and 
what, in the future, the City of Las Vegas will construct in support of future 
phases of Project NEON. 

Presently the utility relocations are proceeding.  Much of that was approved 
recently, in the last month, by the Board to -- we have contracts with utility 
companies either for engineering or construction, and you’ll continue to see 
those in the months ahead. 

Regarding Boulder City Bypass Project, which is also called the future I-11 
project, since Assembly Bill 413 was passed, we expect that Clark County 
Commission -- Board of Commissioners will vote in August on enacting the 
fuel-tax indexing.  But as I reported previously, the RTC of Southern 
Nevada is looking at giving the Department some funding out of that to 
support our Phase 1 project, and they’re looking at funding their Phase 2 
project, over $330 million estimate, I think, for that project.  So $300 
million of this additional fuel-tax revenue to support Phase 2.  We’re going 
to be working closely to make sure that our schedules tie together on 
delivery of Phase 1 and Phase 2, so they’re completed around the same time. 

We have a -- on the -- another thing to report is that they are, the Boulder 
City Phase 2 project, which the RTC has responsibility for, they’re looking 
at perhaps an operations and maintenance component on that project, 
because the legislature, when they gave them the authority over that phase 
of the project, they asked for some innovative public-private partnerships to 
be considered in that.  So the RTC is considering operations and 
maintenance.  NDOT understands that at some point it might -- it should 
become a State facility, an Interstate 11.  So we’ll be working closely with 
them on oversight and hammer out an agreement on who’s responsible for 
what.  Often, when -- similar to the beltway construction in Clark County, 
NDOT oversees the fabrication of girders and some elements that are 
fabricated offsite.  And we have a role to play in oversight during 
construction phase, as well as design oversight. 

And we also will be looking -- because of the issue with eminent domain, 
which will be covered later, and the impacts of the PISTOL initiative on 
State law and the State constitution, we’re going to be looking for additional 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

July 8, 2013 
 

11 

legal support.  And we will issue a request for proposals, so they’ll be kind 
of casting a broader net for any kind of legal support that’s needed for these 
eminent domain cases.  And Dennis Gallagher will cover that a little bit 
later, more in detail, as he covers the eminent domain issues and the impacts 
from PISTOL.  And that about covers the Director’s Report, Governor and 
Board members. 

Sandoval: Thank you very much.  And, question, backing up a little bit on that 
sponsorship of the rest stops.  Do you have any idea when this Board will 
receive the proposed -- proposals? 

Malfabon: I think that it’s going to take us about -- by the third month I think that -- I 
think that we should have it within two to three months, we should have the 
proposed method of implementation.  We are going to model it after the 
Sponsor-A-Highway.  It could be sooner than that, Governor, but I like the 
idea that we heard from the Board members previously about, maybe, levels 
of sponsorship and you see that sometimes when there’s sponsors of certain 
events.  There’s the platinum sponsor or diamond sponsor and gold, silver.  
And we’ll work that out and bring that for Board approval, and then start 
advertising and announcing that and getting it out there to the possible 
sponsors of this. 

We’ve enjoyed a lot of success on our Sponsor-A-Highway Program.  We 
see a lot of the Zappos signs.  And I think there’s a lot of good community 
partners out there that are willing to get some credit for offsetting some of 
our costs on operating these rest areas and rest stops. 

Sandoval: You know that I’m a little eager, only because our Sesquicentennial 
celebration begins October 31 of this year, and I was hoping that we could 
coordinate those sponsorships for the beginning of the improvements on the 
rest areas consistent with that celebration, which is going to be for a year 
and there are going to be 150 different events statewide.  And I thought 
there’ll be a great opportunity for tourists as well as Nevada residents to 
enjoy those rest stops as they participate in these various events. 

Malfabon: That’s a good idea.  And I think that we could meet that schedule to try to 
get it to the October Board meeting, so we’d have it in place before the 
Sesquicentennial celebration starts on October 31. 

Sandoval: Yeah, it takes a while to learn to say Sesquicentennial. 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

July 8, 2013 
 

12 

Malfabon: Sesquicentennial. 

Sandoval: No, I had trouble myself.  And I also wanted to compliment the work that’s 
going on at Elko on those tunnels.  I traveled through there recently, and it 
looks like it’s moving along extremely well. 

Malfabon: Thank you, Governor.  And that is a Construction Manager at Risk project 
with Q&D and the crew there from District 3.  So thank you. 

Sandoval: Any other questions from Board members with regard to the Director’s 
Report?  Then we’ll move on to the public comment portion of the Agenda.  
Is there any member of the public here in Carson City that would like to 
provide public comment to the Board? 

Fransway: Governor? 

Sandoval: Yes, Mr. Fransway? 

Fransway: As a member of the public, I would like to say that I had the opportunity to 
travel the improvements of Highway 50 between Dayton and Silver Springs, 
and what a difference a month makes.  It’s a beautiful project and I think 
that the public is well served by that project, so… 

Sandoval: Thank you.  Is there anyone in Southern Nevada that would like to provide 
public comment to the Board? 

Martin: No, sir. 

Sandoval: Thank you.  We’ll move to Agenda Item No. 5, approval of June 10, 2013 
NDOT Board of Director Meeting Minutes.  Do any of the members have 
any changes to the proposed minutes? 

Cortez Masto: Governor, I have just a few corrections. 

Sandoval: All right. 

Cortez Masto: Page 60 of the minutes, I guess the last -- second to last paragraph, where 
I’m speaking and it states, “I just assume that there’s some sort of language 
in there that protects the State from them trying to come back after the 
State.”  It should read, “If there is a failure to perform by the contractor.”  
And then the only other one is page 64, “I appreciate the Board’s 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

July 8, 2013 
 

13 

indulgence,” although I like your diligence as well.  But it was 
“indulgence.”  And that’s it. 

Sandoval: Member Savage. 

Savage: Thank you, Governor.  Two minor corrections on page 52.  Five lines down, 
“I would really like to see the contractor,” not “contract to.”  It should read 
“contractor.”  And on page 76, six lines from the bottom, after Mr. Kaiser, 
should read, “Mr. Dyson.”  That’s all.  Thank you, Governor. 

Sandoval: Do any other Board members have any changes to the proposed minutes?  
And do we have all those changes marked? 

Hoffman: Yes. 

Sandoval: All right.  If there are no further changes, Chair will accept a motion for 
approval of the Board of Director’s Meeting Minutes for June 10, 2013. 

Martin: So moved. 

Wallin: Move to approve. 

Sandoval: We have a motion by Member Martin, second by Madam Controller.  Any 
questions or discussion on the motion?  All in favor, please say aye. 

Group: Aye. 

Sandoval: Opposed, no?  Motion passes unanimously.  We will move on to Agenda 
Item No. 6, update on United States EPA audit and NDOT storm water 
program. 

Malfabon: Thank you, Governor.  Steve Cooke, who is our Chief of Environmental 
Services, is going to cover this Agenda item. 

Cooke: Good morning, Governor, members of the Board.  My name’s Steve Cooke.  
I’m the Director of Environmental Services Division here at NDOT.  I’m 
here to provide you a brief summary of our EPA audit as well as our MS4 
Permit, which is administered by NDEP. 

 So we’ll start off with a summary.  Since our last face-to-face meeting with 
the EPA in August, 2012, we’ve been in contact with the EPA on a two to 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

July 8, 2013 
 

14 

three month basis, giving them updates about how we’re implementing our 
MS4 Permit.  We’re being proactive in this approach.  Rather than waiting 
for the EPA to come back and dictate to us what we need to be doing, we’re 
showing them that we are moving ahead with implementation of our 
program.  I failed to provide on this slide, but we’ve also been meeting 
quarterly with the NDEP to discuss our program and any other water quality 
permit aspects.  I appreciate their input.  They’ve been very insightful in 
providing us great guidance on how to proceed. 

We’ve been short staffed on the water quality work, and we’re working right 
now to get three new people in place.  One individual will be placed in each 
of the three districts.  We do anticipate some enforcement action from the 
EPA, possibly as soon as the end of this year.  They haven’t provided much 
guidance back to us.  It’s been kind of a one-way point of communication.  
We’ve provided information to the EPA.  They have not responded back 
with them.  We do know that the audit was turned over to the Enforcement 
Division several months ago. 

 Arizona DOT, they had their audit about nine months prior to ours.  And in 
April this year, they were administered a consent decree.  So we suspect that 
we’ll see something possibly the end of this year, if not, early next year. 

Malfabon: And, Governor, I wanted to mention that we’re thankful for your approval 
of using vacant positions for this effort, and also mention that Director of 
Conservation and Natural Resources, Leo Drozdoff, has been helping us to 
be a liaison also with U.S. EPA with his contacts. 

Cortez Masto: And, Governor, I just have a quick question.  So with respect to the 
penalties, is it remediation that’s required and/or are there civil penalties that 
can be assessed as well?  Do we know? 

Cooke: We don’t know.  There’s a probability there will be a fine as well as some 
sort of consent agreement stating that we need to complete our mitigation 
measures by a certain timeframe.  Rather than wait for them to tell us, we 
are moving ahead actively in pursuing those mitigation measures. 

Cortez Masto: Okay.  Thank you. 

Sandoval: You know, and I’d like to see if we can get some type of communication 
with Region 9 of EPA so we’re not flying blind here.  I feel like I don’t want 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

July 8, 2013 
 

15 

to get to this -- get a letter in the mail, when perhaps maybe there’s some 
other mitigation measures we can be taking.  So I’m happy to make a phone 
call to the Director of Region 9 to see if we can get a little bit more 
information as to what’s going on. 

Cooke: I think that would be very helpful.  Thank you. 

Sandoval: Because I think I share the Attorney General’s concern that we don’t know, 
as you said, maybe a consent decree, it could be a fine.  And we don’t know 
how much and the degree of what the penalty will be, if any.  So I -- as I 
said, it seems like, if it’s been almost a year since the -- we had contact with 
EPA or the meeting, that they should help with a bit more specificity with 
regard to what’s going on. 

Cooke: No, your input would be very helpful. 

Sandoval: Okay. 

Cooke: No, and I just had -- I should have connected it, because I just spoke with 
the acting EPA administrator, and I’m sure he -- he asked me if there’s 
anything that -- any questions that he could answer.  So now I’ll take him up 
on that. 

Malfabon: And we have a lot of things that we’ve enacted and the Board has approved 
that substantial contract last month, so we definitely have a -- at least a story 
to tell EPA about what efforts we have implemented in the year since we 
met with them directly. 

Sandoval: Any other questions or -- why don’t you finalize your presentation? 

Cooke: Sure.  One other item I wanted to mention on this is we’re pursuing hiring a 
consultant to help us implement our program.  That’s to help speed up our 
process, build, implement momentum, because we go through an audit cycle 
every five years.  And our next audit will be 2015, which is essentially, in 
my opinion, around the corner. 

 I want to change gears here and talk about our MS4 Permit.  MS4, as it’s 
typically called, is an acronym for Municipal Separate Storm Sewer 
Systems.  It’s essentially a system of conveyances.  It allows us to discharge 
storm water from our facilities, and this would be statewide.  All DOTs are -



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

July 8, 2013 
 

16 

- have one of these permits.  And I’ve looked at the permits for CalTrans, 
Arizona and Hawaii, and a lot of the components that they have under their 
permit are the same components that we have.  So they have kind of a 
blanket of requirements that everybody needs to follow. 

The MS4 is authorized under the Clean Water Act, and it’s permitted under 
the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System, which regulates point 
discharges in waters of the U.S.  We have an individual permit, and that 
covers all of our facilities within the State. 

 Our permit has five components.  I won’t go through these, but I want you 
to know Item No. 3, it has 23 subparts, and that’s the component of our 
permit that requires the most involvement in terms of labor and time.  These 
are some of the items that are under Item or Part No. 3.  It’s fairly extensive 
and laborious.  The first item, we have to go out and identify and locate all 
of our culverts within the State that are 36 inches or larger.  We have to 
locate them and identify them using GPS so we can build a map showing 
where all these discharge points are, so we can use them to help regulate 
potential pollutants into the waters of the U.S. 

We have to develop three storm water programs; one for the public 
awareness, one for NDOT employees and one for contractors.  We have to 
develop an illicit discharge detection elimination system.  Develop facility 
pollution prevention plans for all of our facilities within the State of Nevada.  
We have to conduct annual maintenance facility inspections, develop a 
water quality focus use application program for herbicides, pesticides and 
fertilizers.  We have two existing manuals.  We have to update those.  One 
is our design manual and one’s our construction manual.  They both deal 
with water quality.  And we have to develop a maintenance facility. 

 In order to do this, we’re proposing to hire a consultant.  Back, late this year, 
or actually in 2012, we issued an RFP.  And early this year, we evaluated 
them.  These are the six entities who submitted an RFP.  After we reviewed 
them, we selected Stantec Consulting Services, and we initiated negotiations 
with them in March.  The initial cost estimate was a little over $6 million.  
And after five rounds of negotiations, we agreed to the scope and cost of 
$4.365 million.  The proposed agreement is for a duration of four years. 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

July 8, 2013 
 

17 

 And I want to switch gears now, once again.  Back in May, Member 
Fransway had asked about EPA and their expanding their definition of 
waters in the U.S. and how that might impact our operations here at NDOT.  
The EPA is looking to use different methods and types of criteria for 
expanding what they consider waters in the U.S.  That’s the criteria they use 
to determine where their jurisdiction lies.  So they’re looking to expand their 
jurisdiction.  To me, it partially makes sense.  We have to protect our 
waters.  It’s a valuable resource, more so here in Nevada, being that it’s such 
a dry state.  But the implications to NDOT will be is, more of our projects 
will require more permits -- water quality permits, and that’ll take more 
time.  So it’s likely some of our schedules for our projects will be extended.  
And that concludes our -- the presentation. 

Malfabon: And, Governor, this was in concert with Item No. 3 on Agenda Item 8 for 
approval of agreement.  So we wanted to give you the presentation and 
allow the Board to ask any questions to Steve in clarification of the contract 
as well. 

Sandoval: Questions for Mr. Cooke?  Member Fransway. 

Fransway: Thank you, Governor.  And thank you for your response to my concern last 
meeting relative to the proposed changes in the Clean Water Act by 
changing applicable to waters of the U.S.  And, Governor, I want to 
compliment you on your decision to contact District 9.  And I hope that you 
will ask that question of where that’s at, because I am very concerned that it 
is indeed an administrative change that will usurp congressional action.  
And I believe that it’s very serious not only for the State of Nevada, but for 
all 50 states.  So, anyway, thank you for keeping an eye on that.  And I’d 
appreciate any updates coming to the Board.  Thank you, Governor. 

Sandoval: Member Savage. 

Savage: Thank you, Governor.  And thank you, Mr. Cooke.  One question, did the 
Department of Transportation engage an outside consultant for the EPA 
services during the years of 2010 and 2011? 

Cooke: Yes, we did.  We used an outside consultant to help update our storm water 
management manual.  We needed to have that updated as part of our MS4 
Permit. 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

July 8, 2013 
 

18 

Savage: And who was that consultant? 

Cooke: That was Stantec Consulting. 

Savage: Stantec?  Thank you. 

Sandoval: Further questions from Board members?  Thank you very much. 

Cooke: Thank you. 

Malfabon: Thank you, Steve. 

Sandoval: And if you -- Mr. Cooke, if you could give me a one page primer on dates 
and some of these issues that you just described, I can have that as a 
reference when I speak with Mr. Blumenfeld.  Thank you.  Agenda Item No. 
7, report on the Department of Transportation’s efforts to reduce traffic 
fatalities. 

Malfabon: Thank you, Governor.  Ken Mammen and Traci Pearl from the Department 
of Public Safety are going to jointly give this presentation.  I just wanted to 
thank Traci for her coordination and efforts with NDOT, a very close 
partner in driving down Nevada’s fatalities.  Ken is the acting Director of 
the Safety Division, and take it away, Ken. 

Mammen: Thank you, Rudy.  Good morning, Governor, members of the Board.  For 
the record, I’m Acting Chief Safety Engineer, not Director, but I’d like the 
promotion.  That’d be nice.  Thank you, sir. 

 Today we’re here to give you an overview of what our efforts are currently, 
to date, to reduce traffic fatalities on all of our roads.  I’m going to give you 
a brief overview of the fatal information as to date.  And I’m going to give 
you an emphasis on, basically, Clark County and interstate routes.  I’ll also 
talk about pedestrian fatalities.  And then I’ll give you an overview of our 
current program and what we’re doing from NDOT’s side to reduce 
fatalities.   With me, today, is Traci Pearl.  She’ll be talking about what the 
Office of Traffic Safety will be and what their current efforts are. 

 Currently, this is an old slide, you’ve seen this one before.  Chuck Reider 
presented this when he gave the annual report.  And, of course, it has the 
numbers.  The dash line is our rolling average.  That’s the one we use to 
track where we’re currently at.  The top line, the dash line, or the dotted line, 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

July 8, 2013 
 

19 

is our trend line where we like to set our goal.  That’s our goal line, actually.  
So you can see we’re well below that goal line.  And we’ve had a 40 percent 
reduction in fatal crashes since 2006.  And as you can see, in 2009, we’ve 
kind of hit a small plateau.  We expect ups and downs in the numbers, and 
that’s why we use that five-year rolling average. 

I took the liberty to break the information out as to interstates.  I think, 
Governor, you had a question on -- to the interstates.  And this is interstate 
routes only, and then local roads, and then the blue, of course, is NDOT 
maintained roads.  And the interstate is basically about 15 percent of our 
crashes.  And the local roads are about half.  So State routes and local roads 
were almost evenly split on fatal crashes.  And these numbers pretty much 
hold true from 2011 to 2012.  They don’t really change a whole lot, still 
about 15 to 16 percent on the interstate and almost half on local roads. 

 This is pedestrian fatalities.  As you can see, the trend lines in Clark County 
almost follow identically the total fatalities.  So we can see that the 
pedestrian fatalities actually drive some of the numbers down in Clark 
County.  And, unfortunately, we don’t have 2012 demographics yet for the 
fatals, but for 2011, we had 50 fatalities.  Out of those, 17 involved 
impairment.  Out of those 17, 10 were driver impaired, 6 were pedestrian, 1 
was both. 

And right now I want to thank my staff who helped pull this information 
together at the last minute and put these slides together for me so I didn’t 
look like a complete, total nerd engineer.  I was going to show some tables, 
and they said, “No, don’t do that.  Just show some good graphs.” 

As you look at these, what you see here is the fact that a lot of our fatalities 
are from the age of 46 on up.  That’s almost 70 percent of our fatalities.  
And, again, there’s a high number of those that are -- 13 of those involved 
impairment. 

Going on to what we are doing currently for Nevada for our Department of 
Transportation, we get about $21 million a year from MAP-21 to spend on 
our projects and our programs.  We’re spending about $3 million of that 
hiring consultants to run our road-safety audit program, doing some design 
services for us.  The Zero Fatalities Campaign, you see the bling on the 
tables, this is some of the outreach we do.  We pass this stuff out and get 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

July 8, 2013 
 

20 

some awareness up to get the word out on Zero Fatalities.  We also use the 
consultants to rollout the Highway Safety Manual, to implement that as a 
guide for NDOT and local users. 

We give support to the Office of Traffic Safety and about $2 million every 
year for their behavioral aspects.  And Traci will be speaking about that in a 
few minutes.  We spend about $1 million, plus or minus, on railroad 
crossings, upgrades, all the signals and lights and everything.  So every year 
we go out and do a diagnostic review on a third of our crossings, and from 
that we come up with some projects and programs to update these things.  
We spend about $15 million a year on systemic programs.  $11 million of 
that goes into shoulder widening, slope flattening, center-line rumble strips, 
cable median barrier.  We look at, you know, medians of less than 50 feet 
for cable. 

We spend about $2 million a year on systemic improvements statewide for 
the flashing yellow arrow, as you might see those down in Vegas.  We’re 
almost done in Vegas.  We have some of the harder projects to do yet, ones 
that involve right-of-way (inaudible) we have to put new poles in.  Those 
are a little bit longer.  But all the easy-picking ones where we can update the 
signals, we have done that or are going to be done next year.  And we spend 
about $2 million doing mitigations at local intersections.  This is, here, just 
an idea of blocking off the left-turn motions, which reduces crashes. 

This is the high-crash map for 2012 for Las Vegas area.  As you can see, 
they’re everywhere.  They’re just -- crashes are everywhere.  So looking at 
the inset, what we’d like to do in the future, and I think, Governor, you had 
a question on Kietzke Lane Safety Management Plan and why we’re 
spending so much money on that.  We’ve been kind of reactionary.  We 
look at the high-crash locations and we try to come up with mitigations.  
And what we’re trying to do -- and Kietzke Lane was our prototype project 
to look at -- instead of looking at spot locations, we’re looking at a corridor, 
and doing a corridor plan to improve everything.  So as you look at the map, 
like Sahara, we’re going to try to take point A to point B, Valley View to 
Eastern to come up with a project that addresses all the issues through that 
for safety.  That’d be ADA, signals, striping, signs, everything.  And that’s 
what the Kietzke Lane Management Plan’s doing for us. 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

July 8, 2013 
 

21 

And I’d like to stress that we have to look at all the roads, not just State 
routes.  We are responsible for all those crashes on all roads, and we’re able 
to spend federal dollars to mitigate those crashes.  So, hopefully, that 
answered your question on the Kietzke Land Management Plan.  Okay.  
And with that, I’m going to turn it over to Traci who’s going to talk about 
Traffic Safety’s efforts. 

Pearl: Hi.  For the record, Traci Pearl.  I’m the Division Administrator for the 
Department of Public Safety’s Office of Traffic Safety.  We work hand-in-
hand with NDOT, but we work from the behavioral side of the aspect and 
they work with the engineering side of the aspect.  Jim Wright is the Acting 
Director and serves as the State’s Governor’s Representative for Highway 
Safety.  Every state has one per the Highway Safety Act of 1966. 

Our office is a grants office.  We’re one of the few offices in the Department 
of Public Safety that don’t have sworn personnel.  We apply for traffic 
safety grants from the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration and 
then sub-grant those to locals and nonprofits throughout the State to mitigate 
traffic crashes, to change behavior of bad driving. 

 Our funded grant projects must be evidence based.  They must exhibit a 
proven counter measure.  And they must align with the Strategic Highway 
Safety Plan Program areas and emphasis areas.  That’s come a full circle, 
and ten years ago, when I was in this business, the federal government 
wanted us to have innovative projects.  And we’ve done a 180 to where 
everything is data based.  If it’s not data based or proven, it’s not funded.  
So money is being spent well. 

 We’ve been onboard with the Strategic Highway Safety Plan or the 
statewide plan since 2004 with NDOT.  We pretty much co-sponsor that.  
And we are basically a ying-yang with NDOT.  Like I said, they’re 
engineering, we’re behavioral, and we complement each other on our 
strengths and weaknesses. 

 The Zero Fatalities media campaign has been going on for -- it’s in its 
second year now.  That is a joint campaign between our office and NDOT.  
And using -- fortunately, we have the same media contractor for both of our 
departments.  That helps a lot.  And I’m going to show you some examples 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

July 8, 2013 
 

22 

of those public service announcements and TV ads and such from that 
campaign. 

 Every year we have to create a highway safety plan, which is we’re telling 
the government this is what we want to spend that grant money on and this 
is who we’re awarding it to and this is what we’re doing with it.  We just 
had to complete that plan for next federal fiscal year, as of July 1st.  It can be 
found online on our website, and I will get that information to the Board.  
And, of course, anything about Zero Fatalities in Nevada is also on the 
zerofatalitiesnv.com website. 

 Joining forces is one of our star programs.  HVE means High Visibility 
Enforcement.  We started a pilot of that in Nevada in 2001 and 2002, where 
the law enforcement agencies in Nevada work multi-jurisdictionally on 
certain problems in their local areas.  For instance, you might see a Click-it 
or Ticket seatbelt enforcement campaign in May in Fernley, and it involves 
the Lyon County Sheriff’s office and the Nevada Highway Patrol, and 
Washoe County might be over there with them.  And so they join together, 
they work overtime events, they look at the data where they’re having traffic 
problems in their jurisdictions and conduct those enforcement events.  And 
at the same time we have commercials and radios and TV and messaging 
going out saying, “You will get ticketed if you’re not wearing a belt,” or 
“Don’t drink and drive,” or those messages.  These are the five areas we 
focus on with the High Visibility Enforcement.  They’re all in tandem, 
again, with the Strategic Highway Safety Plan. 

 Since 2009 we’ve aggressively put a lot of federal money and earned -- into 
earned and paid media, where they’re -- earned media being press 
conferences, safety fairs, outreach.  We get a new story because of adjoining 
forces, High Visibility Enforcement event, that kind of thing.  Hopefully, 
you have seen our commercials, and if not, it’s because you’re not the target 
market that we’re trying to hit. 

 I have some samples of public safety announcements, current and recent, 
this year.  This is, “Marker Face.”  This just ran for July 4th impaired 
driving. 

(Playing Public Safety Announcement) 

There’s no shame in being the designated, sober driver.  Plan ahead and don’t drive impaired. 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

July 8, 2013 
 

23 

Pearl: When I ran that by my Director, he said, “I don’t get it.”  And I said, 
“Respectfully, sir, you’re not the target market.”  And he said, “Are you 
calling me old?”  I said, “No, I’m not.  No.”  But the target market for 
drinking and driving is males, males, males age 25 to 34.  So that appeals to 
them.  Oh.  It’s okay.  This next one is “Walking Wife.”  It’s a pedestrian 
safety commercial. 

(Playing Public Safety Announcement) 

Do you see the face of someone you love in every pedestrian?  You should, because every 
pedestrian is important to someone.  Watch out for each other on our roads and make zero 
fatalities your goal.  Drive safe, Nevada. 

Pearl: This message is double.  Obviously someone -- a pedestrian is someone you 
love or can be someone you love.  And it also has the driver making eye 
contact with the pedestrian and back and forth, which is the message we’re 
trying to get.  Look and make sure the driver sees you and make sure you 
see the driver.  And this last one is called, “You’re Dead.” 

(Playing Public Safety Announcement) 

You’re dead.  You’re dead.  You’re dead.  You’re dead.  It’s just a figure of speech, until you let 
it become a reality.  Make zero fatalities your goal.  Drive safe, Nevada. 

Pearl: So we have general Zero Fatalities messages.  We’re saying, you know, 
don’t drive impaired, look for pedestrians, et cetera.  And then we have 
specific ones focused on a specific problem area like the impaired driving or 
pedestrian safety.  So that’s just some examples of what we’ve done 
recently.  Again, this is a major partnership with NDOT and we appreciate 
any feedback that you have on that.  And we also appreciate the Board’s 
support for this very important campaign.  Thank you. 

Mammen: We have a little bit more information.  We have some contacts and some 
links for more information.  If you’re interested in more information, you 
can always contact Traci or myself.  Contact information is provided.  It’ll 
be in the packet that Holly uploads. 

Some takeaways that Tom wanted to make sure that you shared is we did 
have -- we have had a 40 percent reduction in fatals since 2006.  And we’re 
using the systemic approach to reduce fatalities, where we’re actually going 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

July 8, 2013 
 

24 

out and being proactive instead of reactive.  So a lot of our projects that 
you’ll see will be like shoulder widening and slope flattening, where we 
know we have a certain characteristic of the road that causes serious injuries 
and fatals.  So those are the things that we’ll be working on. 

 So with that, we’ll open up for any questions. 

Sandoval: I have a few.  How long has that media been playing or been out there? 

Mammen: A lot of those just started.  The one, the, “Marker Face,” is brand new.  And 
you all have your little kits there, you’ve got a pen and a little doodle pad, so 
you can actually have some ideas to mark up, if you ever have the need.  But 
that just started.  And some of the others are just brand new, too, as well.  
Those are the new, current media that we have. 

Sandoval: And I guess that’s going into my next question is, what is the theory for why 
we’ve plateaued? 

Mammen: That’s a good question.  I’m not sure why.  When we get the answer, we’ll 
let you know.  But we do expect ups and downs in the numbers.  And, 
hence, again, that’s why we use that rolling average.  And I think when we 
hit this marketing campaign as heavily as we have in the last year or so, 
moving forward, we’re going to get more visibility with the campaign.  And 
the more visibility we get, the more the numbers will change in the 
perception of the bad driving behaviors.  And hopefully, with that, plateau 
will start going back down again in the next couple of years. 

Sandoval: And you moved a little fast through some of those slides, but what was the 
proportion between the pedestrian and -- pedestrian and fatality versus 
vehicle, on vehicle fatality? 

Mammen: As a percentage? 

Sandoval: Yes. 

Mammen: Do you know that off the top of your head? 

Pearl: I do.  Pedestrian fatalities are about 17 percent.  Motor vehicle fatalities are 
about 44, 45 percent. 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

July 8, 2013 
 

25 

Sandoval: And then perhaps it’s because it’s reported more in the media, it just seems 
like there have been more pedestrian fatalities than historical. 

Pearl: That came to our attention in early January, especially in 2012 and early 
first half of this year, Clark County and Carson City County have 
experienced some, not only pedestrian fatalities, but unusual ones.  There’s 
been some hit-and-runs at night.  The one driver in Vegas who drove up on 
the sidewalk with the people sitting outside eating, those kind of things.  So 
when those type of things occur, and they weren’t necessarily planned, our 
joining forces program and our media program, we sit down with them and 
say, “We need to do something about X.”  And so we created the, “Walking 
Wife,” and ran the pedestrian campaign in April and May.  And between 
that and the High Visibility Enforcement, to me, that is what’s really 
brought down the fatals in the last ten years, is making it visible that it’s not 
acceptable, that you will get cited for whatever you’re doing wrong.  And 
just like drunk driving took 30 years to become socially unacceptable, now 
we’re trying to make distracted driving and cell phones socially 
unacceptable. 

Sandoval: And you anticipated my next question.  Do you -- have you looked 
statistically about the number of citations we’ve had for texting while 
driving and how is that going? 

Pearl: I only have access to NHP’s.  They’ve issued about 12,000 in the last two 
years.  And fortunately a very small percentage of those are second and 
third-time offenders, with the height of the fine. 

Sandoval: Mm-hmm.  And then I don’t know if you have this -- the answer to this 
question, but Director Malfabon, in his Director’s Report or in the awards, 
talked about I-580 and the relationship between -- or the fact that we’ve had 
-- had had fatalities on 395.  And I’m not aware of any fatalities on I-580.  
So do we know, perhaps, how many lives we’ve saved in this one year’s 
time, based on historical experience? 

Mammen: Actually, Governor, we’ve actually got a study going on currently to analyze 
both the existing road and the new 580 road from a crash analysis 
standpoint.  And we will actually have some of those information for you 
maybe in next Board meeting or the Board meeting after that.  But we have 
UNR actually looking at all that. 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

July 8, 2013 
 

26 

Sandoval: Thank you.  And I don’t want to jinx anything, but my understanding is that 
we have not had a fatality on I-580 since it opened.  Is that accurate? 

Unidentified Male: Correct. 

Mammen: That is accurate.  I do not believe we’ve had a single fatality up there. 

Sandoval: All right.  I have no further questions.  Madam Controller? 

Wallin: Thank you very much for your presentation.  This is great and I like seeing 
the two agencies working together.  So I applaud you for that, because it’s a 
little hard to do one side and not the other side.  Ken, you mentioned that 
NDOT’s responsible for all safety on all roads, even those that we don’t 
own and stuff.  And one of the things that I noticed, especially driving 
around Las Vegas, is crosswalks that, especially like on Maryland Parkway 
south of Tropicana, you can’t even see the lines.  And at night it’s dark there 
and a lot of times you don’t see the people.  And I know, myself, driving on 
that road a few times, it’s -- I know that people might be there, so I’m 
paying attention, but it’s kind of dangerous.  So are you guys also looking to 
make sure that the striping and that people do see the crosswalks and stuff?  
Because I know people are kind of unaware, just here on, what, Stewart 
Street where you’ve got the little blinky light, and you push it and cars still 
whiz by you there.  So what are you doing for that? 

Mammen: That’s an ongoing maintenance issue.  And, yes, we do look at that.  When 
we do a road safety audit, we look at all the striping issues and recommend 
that they be updated or upgraded.  Unfortunately, down in the Vegas area, 
you know, with the heat, it does wear out the striping much faster.  And for 
the crews to get out there and maintain those, it just -- it’s a cycle that they 
have to go through.  And I know that each of the agencies down south are all 
strapped for cash as well, so I know they push their limits as much as they 
possibly can, unfortunately. 

Malfabon: And also, to add to that response, Madam Controller, the RTC of Southern 
Nevada actually sponsored a study on that issue, because of the heat and the 
road oils, they get a build-up even on newer crosswalks down there.  They 
get that black discoloration over a very quick period of time.  But it is 
something that we, as Ken mentioned, our maintenance forces try to stay on 
top of that on a regular cycle.  It’s just that they -- there’s just so many 
crosswalks down there that are not the Department’s.  Even keeping on top 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

July 8, 2013 
 

27 

of the Department’s State routes, it’s really tough to stay on top of those and 
prevent that discoloration that happens from the tires and the road oils in Las 
Vegas. 

Sandoval: Member Fransway. 

Fransway: Thank you, Governor.  I did see one statistic on one of your graphs as it 
relates to pedestrian fatalities, and that was the gap of gender as it relates to 
numbers of fatal incidents.  And it seems as though males is way up there.  
Is there a reason for that?  Has there been any study into why that is a fact? 

Mammen: Do you have any basic information on that?  I have some, but not a lot. 

Pearl: I have some, but not a lot as well.  It’s males, unfortunately, traditionally are 
more aggressive and more risk takers and end up being our main focus for 
changing behavior, whether it’s impaired driving or pedestrian safety or 
such.  And as you might have noticed, too, about half of our pedestrian 
fatalities are impaired.  It’s definitely an urban problem, Washoe County 
and Clark County, 24-hour towns, 24-hour alcohol.  We tell them not to 
drink and drive and then they go walk and drive.  So we don’t really have a 
good answer for that yet, but we’re working on it. 

Fransway: Okay.  I suggest that maybe it might be a target for you.  I understand that 
males may have a thicker skull, but it doesn’t count when it meets the 
pavement or a bumper, so… 

Mammen: One thing I will mention, Member Fransway, is that we also have another 
study going on in Vegas where they’re going to put cameras up and -- 
thematic cameras up and take videos of pedestrians walking on some of our 
heavier traveled routes and monitor it for a period of time to see the 
activities of pedestrians and vehicles, so we can get a better understanding 
of what’s actually going on.  Because we can theorize that people are just 
wandering out in traffic, but are they actually darting out in traffic?  Are 
they just -- are they distracted out in traffic, or what?  So we do have a study 
going on that will help us understand some of the behaviors. 

Fransway: Thank you. 

Sandoval: Any other questions?  One more, and you had that map with all the locations 
of the -- where we’ve had those accidents.  You know, obviously, in 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

July 8, 2013 
 

28 

Southern Nevada, we’ve got some pretty wide streets with some higher 
speed limits.  Is there more incidents of the pedestrian accidents there, 
because it takes a while to get across that street and you have cars traveling 
at a greater rate of speed? 

Pearl: Absolutely.  The majority is probably about 70, 72 percent of the pedestrian 
fatalities occur in Clark County.  And you’re absolutely right, it’s because of 
the multiple-lane roads, the average speed is 45 miles per hour, so they’re 
going 55.  A lot of folks, including pedestrians, don’t understand that a legal 
crosswalk doesn’t necessarily have to be painted.  It’s just -- it could be an 
intersection between two traffic signals.  That’s a crosswalk by definition.  
So that’s the education we try to put out there as well. 

Sandoval: And I’ve always wondered about this, but those buttons actually work, don’t 
they, when you -- when you’re at an intersection? 

Mammen: Sometimes. 

Sandoval: I mean, again, I’ve always wondered. 

Malfabon: Only press it once, Governor.  It actually doesn’t jump any faster. 

Mammen: They don’t work faster if you push them more than once (inaudible).  As 
long as they’re maintained, they should function, yes. 

Sandoval: All right.  Any further questions?  Thank you very much.  That was very 
informative. 

Malfabon: I just wanted to add a few things, Governor.  And Traci hit on it, is one thing 
that I learned as the Chair of the AASHTO Standing Committee on 
Highway Traffic Safety is the importance of the behavioral side.  And as an 
engineer, I kind of had to be educated about that.  We will have to continue 
on shifting a portion of our safety funds to that effort, although we had the 
legislation changed that corrected the open-container law in Nevada, to get 
it compliant with the national standard.  Because of the fact that it doesn’t 
take effect until October 1st, that was after the deadline that the federal 
government had for the Department to enact that law.  So it’s just one more 
year of shifting some additional funds over to the -- that effort, will 
continue. 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

July 8, 2013 
 

29 

And what it is, is a shift from the regular projects to the safety projects, and 
a portion of that is going to the behavioral side as well.  But it is worthwhile.  
It does actually pay great benefits for the cost.  And you can see some of 
that in the ad campaign that’s been very successful, as we’ve done some 
polling on recognition of that ad campaign.  A lot more people are getting 
more -- are recognizing that Zero Fatalities message.  So it is getting out 
there and being understood and heard. 

Sandoval: Thank you.  And in all seriousness, those buttons, I mean, I think sometimes 
people get impatient, because they don’t feel like it’s responding.  And then, 
perhaps, they are more willing to take a risk because they want to get across 
the street, and perhaps it’s not responding.  So that -- I know I’ve 
experienced that myself.  So that’s why I asked the question.  All right.  
Then we’ll move on to Agenda Item No. 8, approval of agreements over 
$300,000. 

Malfabon: Governor, I wanted to mention, as Bill is approaching the podium there, that 
there was a error on the payable amount on No. 3.  We had discussed the 
storm-water management program consultant.  And it is a new agreement, 
so those columns should match up, the original agreement amount and the 
payable amount.  It’s just that it’s a multi-year agreement.  I think they just 
split it up into what would be paid out in the first year or approximately, so 
that was an error.  Those numbers should match.  $4.365 million should be 
in both of those columns.  And take it away, Bill. 

Hoffman: Okay.  Good morning, Governor, Transportation Board Members.  Bill 
Hoffman, for the record, Deputy Director.  I’m still filling in for the 
Assistant Director of Administration.  So this Agenda Item No. 8 is fairly 
straightforward.  There are three agreements this month that we’re seeking 
approval on.  The first is an update to the 2007 Southern Nevada High-
Occupancy Vehicle Plan and to evaluate Phase 1, HOV, or High-Occupancy 
Vehicle Short-Term Priorities for Implementation for Project NEON in 
Clark County.  The second one is design services for the removal and 
replacement of 16 escalators at the Tropicana pedestrian bridges in Clark 
County.  And the third, as Rudy noted, there was a correction.  You should 
be looking at the July 1st Board memorandum, not the June 27th version.  
The July 1st should have the updated amount of $4.365 million, and those 
are services to assist the Department with implementing the MS4 Permit 
Storm-Water Program.  So those, Steve Cooke presented on that a little 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

July 8, 2013 
 

30 

earlier and actually gave a little bit of detail on the firms that competed for 
that and that had submitted RFPs.  So with that, I’ll just open it up for any 
questions. 

Sandoval: Questions from Board members? 

Malfabon: Governor, I wanted to mention that on the design services for the pedestrian 
bridges at Tropicana and Las Vegas Boulevard, that, as we go forward in 
requesting the remaining funding from the Las Vegas Convention and 
Visitors Authority, that we will ask that they reimburse the State funds used 
for the design effort as well. 

Sandoval: If there are no questions, the Chair will accept a motion for approval of the 
agreements over $300,000, as described in Agenda Item No. 8. 

Wallin: Move to approve. 

Sandoval: We have a motion for approval by Madam Controller.  Is there a second? 

Cortez Masto: Second the motion. 

Sandoval: We have a second by Madam Attorney General.  Any questions or 
discussion from Board members?  All those in favor, please say aye. 

Group: Aye. 

Sandoval: Opposed, no?  The motion passes.  I don’t see Mr. -- or Member Martin in 
the room, so will you mark him as absent from the vote?  We’ll move on to 
Agenda Item No. 9. 

Malfabon: Bill Hoffman will present this item, Governor. 

Hoffman: Okay.  Again, for the record, Bill Hoffman, Deputy Director.  Contracts and 
agreement settlements, for informational only.  The purpose of this item is 
to inform the Board of construction contracts under $5 million, awarded 
between May 21, 2013 to June 17, 2013; also for agreements under 
$300,000 that were executed between May 21 and June 17 of this year.  And 
then to inform the Board of settlements entered into by the Department, 
which were presented for approval to the Board of Examiners between that 
same timeframe. 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

July 8, 2013 
 

31 

 So to start off with, construction contracts under $5 million, we do have 
two.  And there was an addendum or an updated corrected version, so, 
again, you should be working off the July 1, 2013 Board memorandum, not 
the June 27 version.  So the first of the contracts that were awarded that are 
under $5 million is Contract No. 800-13, it’s the project for demolition, 
asbestos and hazardous material abatement for 12 parcels along I-15 
corridor for Project NEON in Clark County.  The Director awarded the 
contract on May 22, 2013 to Baldwin Development, LLC, in the amount of 
$972,972.  The engineer’s estimate for that was $2.221 million. 

Malfabon: And that is the correction, Governor and Board members, that provided -- I 
mean, required us to give an update, as the engineer’s estimate was an error 
in the first packet. 

Hoffman: The engineer’s estimate in that -- in the contract number that I just listed 
was also an error, too.  But those two were corrected in the July 1 version.  
So that was the first project that was awarded. 

 The second was Contract No. 3542.  And that is a bridge rehabilitation 
project on multiple bridges on I-80 in the Verdi area.  So there were -- there 
was work done to repair the bridge deck spalls, delaminations, replace 
bridge joints and so forth.  The Director awarded the contract on June 4, 
2013 to Q&D Construction in the amount of $1.33 million.  The engineer’s 
estimate was $1,648,940.36.  So are there any questions on the contracts 
awarded? 

Sandoval: Only on question one, for me.  There’s a substantial gap between the amount 
of the bid and the engineer’s estimate. 

Hoffman: Right.  Well, I might be -- I don’t know exactly why that is.  If I could 
guess, it would be that the DOT, with transportation projects, we’re not 
experts in the demolition area.  So this was building demolition, and there 
were some high-risk items, hazardous material and asbestos that was 
involved.  So we might have priced that, probably, a little bit higher.  Again, 
I’m just guessing, but we can certainly get word back to you, to the Board, 
on why there was such a large gap.  But, just offering up, that would be what 
I would suspect. 

Malfabon: That typically is the case, Governor, with asbestos abatement.  We do 
sample the buildings that are going to be demolished, but we kind of put a 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

July 8, 2013 
 

32 

factor in there to -- just to make sure that we have enough budget in there to 
do the demolition with the appropriate abatement measures on asbestos. 

Sandoval: Any other questions from Board members? 

Martin: Yes, sir. 

Sandoval: Member Martin? 

Martin: There’s a $266,000 gap between Baldwin and NCM.  Is that any concern to 
the staff? 

Malfabon: Member Martin, it is significant.  However, since we’re -- we have to award 
to the apparent low bidder, in this case, that’s what we’re recommending to 
the Board.  And in that case of contracts, if there is an issue, then we can 
look at the -- any kind of legal terms of the contract to basically end the 
contract with them and look at those scenarios.  Typically, we’ve been in the 
situation before, infrequently, in the past with contactors that give a low bid.  
And they may end up losing money on the project.  But we have controls in 
the legal contract that protect the State in those instances. 

Sandoval: Does that satisfy your question, Member Martin? 

Martin: Well, kind of.  It just seems to me like it’s -- maybe be easier to anticipate 
these issues rather than depending on the legal process, because we all know 
how well that works for us. 

Sandoval: You know, and that -- you’ve basically touched on what my concern was as 
well, is that we get a nice, low bid, but I don’t want to see a lot of change 
orders in the future. 

Hoffman: Right. 

Sandoval: So we’ll keep a close eye, I would imagine, on this contract. 

Hoffman: Yeah, we’ll keep a close eye, Governor. 

Sandoval: Any other questions?  Do you have anything else, Mr. Hoffman? 

Hoffman: Not on those two, but if I could just continue down.  So we still have, under 
that same item number, agreements under $300,000.  So that’s the list, pages 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

July 8, 2013 
 

33 

-- I think it starts on page 16.  But that’s the table of agreements under 
$300,000.  And I just would open it up for any questions on any of those. 

Sandoval: While we’re back on Agenda Item No. 8, Member Martin, you had stepped 
out of the room when I took a motion.  And, Mr. Gallagher, is it -- am I 
allowed to go ahead and ask him if he would have voted yes on that, so he 
can be included in the record as a vote one way or the other? 

Gallagher: Governor, you could certainly do so, but the motion has already carried and 
passed.  So, well, Board Member Martin may appreciate the courtesy, it’s 
not necessary, but it would allow for a new -- reconsideration of the same 
motion. 

Sandoval: Would you like me to open that vote back up so you can be recorded as 
having voted on that matter, Member Martin? 

Martin: No, sir.  It’s not necessary from my end.  I had already reviewed this stuff 
prior to coming into this meeting and I was comfortable with the items. 

Sandoval: All right.  Thank you.  Board members, do you have any questions with 
regard to the other information contained in Agenda Item No. 8? 

Hoffman: Well, I’m sorry.  If I said Agenda Item No. 8, I apologize.  That was a 
misstatement.  I should have said Agenda Item No. 9.  Sorry about that. 

Sandoval: Right.  Agenda Item No. 9. 

Hoffman: And also, we’re on agreements under $300,000 under Agenda Item No. 8 -- 
9, 9. 

Sandoval: Now, wait.  Now, you’ve got me confused here. 

Hoffman: I don’t know why I’ve got 8 in my mind. 

Sandoval: Because No. 9, we have for… 

Hoffman: No. 9, yes. 

Sandoval: …contracts, agreements and settlements.  I mean, we’ve already taken a 
motion on Agenda Item No. 8.  So are you on 9? 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

July 8, 2013 
 

34 

Hoffman: I’m on 9.  I was just -- what I was doing was just walking -- in the Board 
memo, there’s three sub-categories.  It’s construction contracts under 
$5,000, agreements under $300,000 and settlements.  I was just taking each 
one of those in order, to see if you had specific questions.  I just wanted to 
make sure you had every opportunity to go through each of those sub-items. 

Sandoval: Member Savage. 

Savage: Thank you, Governor.  Mr. Hoffman, on line item number 30 and 32, I’m 
reading those as time extensions only.  And as you know, I’ve asked this 
question in the past, but if there are any dollars associated with the time 
extensions, it’s an expectation to provide those dollars at the same time; is 
that correct? 

Hoffman: Yes, Member Savage.  That is correct.  These are just time extensions.  And 
if we do have amendments that are for an increased cost and it does take the 
total cost for that over $300,000, then they do come before the Board.  Yes, 
sir. 

Savage: But the timing -- my whole point is the timing is -- that if there is a dollar 
amount change, it should reflect at the same time as the extension of the 
date. 

Hoffman: Yes.  Yes, sir.  Yes. 

Malfabon: And in response to Member Savage, the dollar amounts were previously 
amended.  In each of those cases, there was a previous amendment to 
increase.  So you’ll see the payable amount increase, but these current ones 
before the Board are the time extensions, not related to increased cost. 

Savage: That’s why I saw that.  I thank you, Mr. Director.  Thank you, Mr. Hoffman. 

Hoffman: Sure. 

Savage: Thank you, Governor. 

Sandoval: Any other questions from Board members with regard to Agenda Item No. 
9? 

Fransway: Governor? 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

July 8, 2013 
 

35 

Sandoval: Yes, Member Fransway. 

Fransway: Thank you, Governor.  First of all, number three.  Could you explain what 
the terminology “down and out” means? 

Saucedo: Member Fransway, Paul Saucedo, for the record. 

Fransway: Sounds like a boxing match. 

Saucedo: Well, it’s actually -- it’s in regards to removal of the service, of the power 
service.  And that’s in anticipation of a demolition.  And so that’s for a 
particular property.  So they’ll actually -- the power company will come in 
and actually remove their equipment, the meters and things of that nature, 
and disconnect the power, so that the demolition can move forward. 

Fransway: Thank you. 

Sandoval: And for the record, that was Paul Saucedo. 

Fransway: Mr. Hoffman? 

Hoffman: Yes, sir. 

Fransway: Number 14. 

Hoffman: Fourteen.  Yes.  I have that circled on my… 

Fransway: That is a substantial reduction in monthly air rent -- charge.  And I -- can 
you explain that? 

Hoffman: Yes.  Well, actually, I’d like Mr. Paul Saucedo to explain that. 

Saucedo: Thank you, Member Fransway.  Paul Saucedo, Chief Right-of-Way Agent, 
for the record.  When we -- we have to reevaluate leases every -- I think it’s 
every five years.  And when we do that, we have an appraisal done.  And in 
this situation, when the appraisal was done, the appraiser came back with a 
lower per month rent.  And I think that may be due to recent commercial 
values, you know, being lower than they were back then.  I know, in this 
particular instance, the area also decreased a little bit.  Initially, when the 
original appraisal was done, they included the entire area.  This is for a -- for 
the Sparks Nugget, and it’s a building underneath I-80.  They actually lease 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

July 8, 2013 
 

36 

a space underneath I-80.  I think, in the new lease that was done, they 
actually removed the area of the pillars and things of that nature, so reduced 
the rentable space to the Sparks Nugget to just include what they were 
actually using.  So between that and probably the lowering of the 
commercial values, you get a substantial decrease in the value. 

Fransway: Okay.  So the bottom line, that’s determined by appraisal. 

Saucedo: Yes, sir. 

Fransway: Okay.  Thank you. 

Sandoval: Any more questions with regard to Agenda Item No. 9?  It’s an 
informational item, so we will not be taking a motion.  Do you have 
anything else, Mr. Hoffman? 

Hoffman: No.  No, I don’t.  Thank you, Governor. 

Sandoval: Thank you very much.  Agenda Item No. 10, overview of condemnation 
process, inverse condemnation claims, including Article 1, Section 22, of 
the State Constitution, PISTOL. 

Malfabon: Thank you, Governor.  Dennis Gallagher, Chief Deputy, AG, will present 
this item to the Board. 

Gallagher: Good morning, Governor, members of the Board.  For the record, Dennis 
Gallagher, Chief Counsel.  It was suggested to me this morning that perhaps 
I’m violating a Board policy, because I do not have a PowerPoint.  So my 
apologies. 

 The concept of the state or a sovereign taking private property for public use 
has been around at least since the time of the Romans.  However, the 
concept or the name, “eminent domain,” is of far more recent origin.  
Grotius, a 17th century legal scholar and philosopher, is believed to be the 
person who came up with the phrase.  Now, Grotius does sound like he 
might have been a Roman, but he was a Dutch philosopher/legal scholar.  
And he described it in the power of the government to take private property 
for the greater good, but that the owner of the property should not bear the 
consequences of the loss of the property without some sort of compensation.  
The underlying principle is that it’s unfair for government to force an 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

July 8, 2013 
 

37 

individual property owner to give up their property without payment.  And 
all those who benefit, the citizens, should bear the cost of compensating that 
property owner. 

 I did think about taking the Board through the history of eminent domain 
from the 17th century, but out of deference for your time and respect for 
your sanity, I’m going to fast-forward it to the present.  The just 
compensation clause is found both in the United States Constitution, 
contained in the Fifth Amendment, and Nevada’s independent, but similar 
just compensation provision in Article 1, Section 8 of the State Constitution.  
And it simply provides, very briefly, private property shall not be taken for 
public use without just compensation having been first made or secured, 
except in the case of war, riot, fire or great public peril, in which case, 
compensation shall be made afterward. 

For my purposes today, I’m going to use the phrase “taking clause,” when I 
refer to the rights and obligations of NDOT and in the context of the 
eminent domain cases.  I’m also going to use the term “eminent domain,” 
“condemnation,” and “takings,” interchangeably.  Under Nevada law, 
eminent domain proceedings are considered to be special judicial 
proceedings.  The basic ground rules for eminent domain proceedings are 
set forth in Chapter 37 of the Nevada Revised Statutes. 

I’m going to take a little time at the beginning of this presentation to 
describe the fundamentals of condemnation action and explain the 
difference between a direct condemnation action and an inverse 
condemnation action.  I’m going to briefly describe what I believe to be is 
the legal framework that’s been established in the United States Supreme 
Court and in the Nevada Supreme Court through decisions they have 
rendered.  A brief timeline explaining the procedures NDOT follows before 
filing an eminent domain action will be discussed, followed by a basic 
timeline of how a condemnation case works its way through the State court 
system.  The final part of this presentation will be a summation of the 
people’s initiative to stop taking of our land, commonly known as PISTOL, 
which became effective in 2008. 

First, I’ll start off with the direct condemnation case, because perhaps it’s 
the simplest, or at least most straight forward.  NRS Chapter 408 gives 
NDOT the power to exercise eminent domain for road and highway 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

July 8, 2013 
 

38 

purposes, to acquire private property for those purposes.  If a property is 
needed for a project and it cannot be obtained through negotiation with the 
landowner, NDOT has the authority to come before this Board to ask for a 
condemnation resolution authorizing initiation of a legal proceeding to 
condemn the property that’s needed for the project.  In a direct 
condemnation action, NDOT identifies the property it needs for the public 
use.  And within NDOT, this identification happens after the project has 
been designed. 

Once a design has been determined, NDOT holds a meeting called the right-
of-way setting to identify what privately-owned property it needs to acquire 
in order to build and complete the project.  Once there’s been a right-of-way 
setting, NDOT hires an appraiser to determine the amount of fair 
compensation that should be paid to the landowner for the taking of their 
property.  Once the appraisal is received and reviewed by NDOT, a right-of-
way agent provides the appraiser -- the appraisal to the landowner.  
Oftentimes the landowner agrees to the just compensation amount 
determined by the appraiser and the agreement is reached.  So NDOT 
receives its land in exchange for the payment of compensation. 

But sometimes NDOT cannot reach an agreement with the landowner over 
the amount of compensation that is fair both to the landowner and to the 
taxpayers.  In those cases, again, after coming to the Board for a 
condemnation resolution, we file a complaint in State court and ask the court 
to enter an order condemning the property so that NDOT can use it.  When 
that happens, what NDOT is really doing is admitting that it’s required to 
pay just compensation for the property.  And usually the landowner agrees 
that NDOT has the right to take the property.  The sole issue that remains to 
be determined either by a judge or a jury is the amount of compensation that 
should be paid.  In some instances, the construction project requires that the 
entire parcel owned by a particular landowner is needed for the project.  
That’s what’s referred to as a total take.  In other instances, the project may 
only require a portion of that property, and that’s what’s referred to as a 
partial take. 

In a total-take case, NDOT pays the fair market value of the property as of 
the date of value, which is the date the condemnation complaint is received 
by the landowner.  The property is valued on that date for the amount the 
appraisers estimate the property would sell for on the open market between 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

July 8, 2013 
 

39 

informed parties dealing at an arm’s length with each other.  These cases are 
relatively straightforward.  NDOT hires an appraiser to evaluate the 
legitimate uses to which the property could be put.  If the landowner does 
not agree to that value, typically they hire their own appraiser.  And then the 
negotiations start.  As negotiations reach a settlement, the settlement is 
presented to the Board of Examiners for its approval, because it’s a 
settlement of litigation at that point.  If negotiations are not successful, the 
trial focuses on the simple issue of which appraiser’s estimate of value is 
most reasonable. 

Partial-taking cases are a little bit more complicated.  In a partial-taking 
case, the first step is the same as a total-takings case.  In other words, the 
determination of the fair market value of the entire property is made.  But 
then additional steps must be taken to determine what compensation should 
justly be paid to the landowner. 

Probably the best way to explain this might be an example.  Imagine a ten-
acre vacant parcel zoned for residential development.  NDOT needs to 
acquire two of those acres for a freeway interchange.  The landowner will 
lose two acres through condemnation and keep eight acres after NDOT’s 
taking.  The first step in the evaluation analysis will be value the entire ten 
acres on an open-market sale to, let’s say, a residential homebuilder.  Let’s 
say, for example, the land is determined to be worth $10,000, or, excuse me, 
$100,000 per acre, or the total parcel cost would be $1 million.  Since 
NDOT is taking two acres valued at $100,000, NDOT would owe the 
landowner $200,000 for the land taking.  That is called the “value” of the 
take. 

But the analysis does not stop there in these partial-taking cases.  The next 
step is to examine whether the NDOT interchange in our example adds any 
value to the remaining eight acres, or does it somehow damage the value of 
the remaining eight acres?  If the NDOT project, as construction, damages 
the remaining eight acres, the landowner is entitled to what’s called 
severance damages.  Severance damages can be caused by many factors.  
There could be a loss of reasonable access to the remaining eight acres in 
our example.  There could be a drainage problem caused by the construction 
of the freeway interchange.  There could be local zoning regulations that are 
triggered by the smaller size, now, of the property available for 
development.  Whatever the issue is, that is something the appraisers need to 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

July 8, 2013 
 

40 

consider to determine whether or not severance damages should be paid to 
the landowner. 

But sometimes a project can both damage a property, but also benefit.  
Using our example, let’s assume the landowner would have had the 
severance damages of $200,000.  But let’s also assume that the freeway off-
ramp will increase the accessibility of the remaining eight acres, so the 
property that was worth $100,000 an acre is now worth $120,000 an acre.  
That special -- that benefit is called a special benefit, because the $20,000 
increase per acre would make the remainder of the property $160,000 more 
valuable on the open market.  So in our example, NDOT would get a credit, 
if you will, of $160,000 credited against the severance damages of 
$200,000, and only owe $40,000 for the property. 

One other area that we sometimes deal with is referred to as a “temporary 
construction easement.”  Sometimes NDOT only needs the property during 
a construction phase.  It may be that it needs the property in order to 
construct some of the improvements, the roadways, the drainage ditch, a 
slope that supports a roadway.  For this, NDOT pays the property owner 
what, in essence, is a fair rental value for the property for the duration of 
time that the property’s needed by NDOT. 

So to summarize, in a direct-taking case, NDOT pays the landowner the fair 
market value of the property that’s being permanently acquired for a 
highway project.  In a partial-taking case, if there are severance damages 
caused, the property that will remain in private ownership after construction, 
NDOT must pay the amount of those damages, after being credited for any 
increase in the fair market value that’s a result of the construction of the 
highway project.  In addition, NDOT basically pays the rent for temporary 
construction easements to property owner.  Those are direct-taking cases.  
As of May 15, we have 19 direct-taking cases, all in Clark County, the vast 
majority of which are related to either Project NEON or the Boulder City 
Bypass. 

Now, you’ve heard many times the phrase inverse condemnation.  I’m going 
to briefly walk you through what that is.  Until the current recession, inverse 
condemnation claims against NDOT were extremely rare.  We have recently 
seen a number of lawsuits brought against NDOT in which the landowners 
have claimed, through various allegations, that NDOT acted in a manner 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

July 8, 2013 
 

41 

which appropriated their property for public use, but that NDOT did not file 
a direct condemnation actions.  This is an inverse condemnation claim. 

As Board members are keenly aware, the planning process for a highway 
project is very complicated.  It involves the federal government, lengthy 
environmental studies, the participation of local entities and utilities and, 
certainly, budgetary constraints.  The public is kept informed through many 
public hearings in which input to various alternatives are reviewed, 
received, discussed.  NDOT has a duty to keep the public informed every 
step of the way, from the time the project is first envisioned until final plans 
are in place.  This massive effort, in some cases, often can take longer than 
ten years. 

We all recognize that land values in Nevada peaked sometime a few years 
ago, 2007, 2008.  Two NDOT projects were in the planning-design stage 
during those years, Project NEON and the Boulder City Bypass.  Some 
landowners have filed inverse condemnation claims against NDOT alleging 
that because of NDOT’s public announcements, the hearing process and 
other activities, that their property was inversely condemned, and they’re 
seeking a date of value back at the height of the market.  While in these 
cases the landowner has a heavy burden of proof to show that NDOT took 
actions that constituted a taking, they’re trying to, again, tie their date of 
valuation to the height of the market. 

And NDOT’s approach in these cases is very different than in the direct 
actions.  In the direct actions, if you recall, NDOT basically says, “We 
admit, we’re liable to you.  We just may disagree over what is just 
compensation.”  In an inverse case, NDOT is defending itself and its 
actions, taking the position that it did not take the property, and that no 
taking took place, therefore no compensation is due the landowner.  NDOT 
relies on Supreme Court precedent here in Nevada that says, “Mere planning 
is not a taking in the State of Nevada.” 

And the stakes can be very, very high in these cases, because if a landowner 
does, in fact, prove that NDOT’s actions constituted something beyond mere 
planning and constituted a functional acquisition or taking of their property, 
they’re entitled to just compensation.  They’ll also argue, then, that NDOT 
must also pay their cost, their attorneys’ fees.  In addition, they’ll argue they 
must pay interest on the value of the property at prime, plus two, 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

July 8, 2013 
 

42 

compounded daily.  So in some cases, it’s quite possible that adding all that 
up would far exceed the value of the underlying property.  That’s why we 
really fight hard in these inverse claims, because the stakes are so high. 

Cortez Masto: (Inaudible). 

Gallagher: Actually filed, I believe ten, Madam Attorney General, and probably at least 
another half dozen to a dozen that have been threatened to be filed.  We’re 
seeing, in some cases, as we now move forward with the direct eminent 
domain actions, that the landowner is filing a counterclaim based on an 
inverse condemnation theory.  So it, you know, ups the litigation value a 
little bit. 

 A couple of general legal principles on these taking cases.  The Nevada 
Supreme Court has held that inverse condemnation cases are the functional 
equivalent to a direct condemnation.  So what that means is the provisions 
of Chapter 37 of NRS applies.  And as you may recall, one of the provisions 
in Chapter 37 is that these matters are deemed a special proceeding and get a 
priority in the courts.  And the courts have typically set these matters for 
trial within two years of the filing.  That is so different than all other civil 
litigation, which typically takes four to five years to go through the process.  
What that means is the cases are in a consolidated or accelerated discovery 
process. 

The discovery, especially in the inverse condemnation claims, are extreme 
by way of an extreme example, a request to NDOT to produce every piece 
of paper, every electronic file that deals in any way, shape or form with 
Project NEON.  I don’t even know the number of documents that, you 
know, that will require a response to.  Plus, not only the staffing to collect 
the documents, then there’s the issue of reviewing the documents for 
privilege, et cetera.  These are very large cases and very time intensive. 

If you’ll remember, though, the underlying principle in all takings cases is 
the landowner should be paid an amount that puts him back in the same 
financial position he or she would have been in had their property not been 
taken.  In other words, the landowner should be made whole.  However, just 
as the landowner shouldn’t have to sustain a unique burden because their 
property is needed for a highway, the taxpayers should not have to shoulder 
the burden of paying a landowner a windfall value for that property.  The 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

July 8, 2013 
 

43 

legal process in eminent domain action is designed to determine what 
compensation is “just” to the landowner and to the taxpayers. 

Now, in a direct takings action, if the landowner and NDOT can’t agree to 
just compensation, this Board will pass it’s condemnation resolution.  
Shortly thereafter, my office will file a complaint in the district court for 
eminent domain.  Typically, if we need the property right away, we will 
make a deposit with the court with the appraised value for that property.  
That allows us to ask the court for immediate occupancy to commence the 
project that it’s needed for.  If we don’t need the property right away, we 
don’t have to file that amount with the court at that point in time. 

The complaint, once it’s filed, is served on the landowner and anyone else 
who a title search indicates may have an interest in the underlying property, 
which oftentimes includes utilities with their easements.  The landowner 
usually files an answer agreeing that NDOT has eminent domain authority 
to take their property, but what they’re asking is for the judge or a jury, if 
requested, to determine the amount of just compensation.  Thus, as we 
proceed in the litigation, you have one set of appraisals versus another set of 
appraisals, and it becomes the battle of the appraisers.  Which does the fact 
finder, be it the jury or judge, determine? 

Anecdotal evidence would suggest that in some cases, juries don’t 
understand the fine art of appraisal, since it’s not a science, and some might 
dispute that it’s a fine art.  But I will defer to the appraisers who are licensed 
in this State.  But there are huge differences of opinion in some of these 
cases, just huge.  And the anecdotal evidence would suggest, at least in a 
couple of jury cases, that the juries were inclined to split the difference.  
That’s a reality that, you know, we must -- we must face.  Judges, on the 
other hand, generally display some other theory other than just cutting the 
baby in half. 

Sandoval: Mr. Gallagher, may I ask a question? 

Gallagher: Of course, sir. 

Sandoval: Sorry to interrupt.  When you file your cases, do you seek to waive jury, or 
do you -- which approach do you take? 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

July 8, 2013 
 

44 

Gallagher: Different lawyers have different theories.  Generally, we -- the State does 
not ask for a jury. 

Sandoval: Thank you. 

Gallagher: The trier of fact, be it the judge or jury, will hear testimony when we go to 
trial from engineers, consultants and appraisers and render their verdict for 
whatever they feel is just compensation.  The landowner is entitled -- 
additionally entitled to interest on what the award is.  And the amount of 
interest will depend on when or if NDOT deposited with the court its 
appraised value and how much higher, perhaps, the fact finder determines is 
just compensation.  I’m not aware of any case where the fact finder came in 
at a lower dollar amount than the appraisal for the State. 

 The landowner also seeks to recover reasonable costs associated with the 
litigation.  Those include expert witness fees, depositions fees.  And then the 
judge hears arguments from both sides as to what the interest and cost award 
should be and will include those amounts in the order of condemnation. 

 Once the payment is made, after Board of Examiner approval, title to the 
property is transferred to NDOT.  Now, if NDOT believes that a 
condemnation award was the result of a serious error of law, NDOT will file 
an appeal with the Nevada Supreme Court.  Such an appeal can take 12 to 
24 months to work its way through the court process.  The filing of an 
appeal by NDOT is something that is extremely rare and is only done if 
something really egregious happened at the lower court. 

Earlier this year, however, NDOT filed a petition in the Nevada Supreme 
Court seeking an extraordinary writ of prohibition or mandamus in a district 
court case involving an inverse condemnation claim where the district judge 
found a taking had occurred back in, I believe, 2007.  NDOT filed a writ 
with the Supreme Court, ask -- arguing that, based upon the evidence, 
NDOT did not acquire this property back in 2007.  Last week, the court 
ordered the landowner to file an answer to our application for a writ.  So 
we’re encouraged by that. 

 Which now brings me to the exciting world of PISTOL, which we’ve said, 
we say it sometimes like an expletive.  It was a significant change in Nevada 
law.  It was the result of the initiative, a voter initiative that passed both in 
2006 and 2008, and became law in 2008.  The People’s Initiative to Stop the 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

July 8, 2013 
 

45 

Taking of Our Land, I mean, and then commonly referred to PISTOL.  It’s 
something we have to live with. 

 One of the major causes for PISTOL’s adoption was a U.S. Supreme Court 
case, I believe it was from Connecticut, where the U.S. Supreme Court 
permitted the city to take private land and transfer it to another developer, 
because this other developer was going to redevelop this certain area.  And 
the city’s view was it was going to enhance tax revenues, it would help clear 
up a blighted area of their city, et cetera.  Well, about the same time as that 
decision, there was a case out of Clark County, Nevada, involving the 
Pappas family, who owned property in downtown Las Vegas that was 
acquired and then given to the -- or transferred to the Fremont Street 
Experience in order that a garage could be built on it.  There was a lot of 
public outcry to both of those questions.  And the landowner’s bar, in 
particular, was the prime mover behind PISTOL, and funded it and argued 
it.  And, ultimately, the public approved it, and it became effective in 2008, 
like I said. 

 While NDOT doesn’t engage in redevelopment projects, such as the one at 
issue in the Pappas case in Las Vegas or the U.S. Supreme Court case, there 
are provisions of PISTOL that have a direct impact on NDOT.  For example, 
when NDOT needed to widen a portion of Warm Springs Road in Las 
Vegas, it acquired Nevada Energy utility easements on the north side of the 
road in order to widen it.  Well, in order to assist Nevada Energy relocate 
those easements, as it acquired -- NDOT acquired property on the south side 
of the road, it acquired property for the Nevada Energy easement so it could 
move its transmission lines from the north side to the south side. 

NDOT filed a condemnation complaint to acquire those easements.  And 
NDOT argued that those easements -- or that particular easement was 
needed for public use, because NDOT couldn’t widen Warm Springs 
without providing a replacement easement for Nevada Energy.  However, 
based upon PISTOL, the landowner is challenging NDOT’s right to 
condemn its property, so that Nevada Energy could have an easement for its 
transmission lines.  The district court denied the landowner’s objection, and 
the widening of the road and the relocation of the utility lines has been 
completed. 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

July 8, 2013 
 

46 

However, the landowner has now filed a writ in the Nevada Supreme Court, 
alleging that PISTOL prevented NDOT from acquiring that easement on 
behalf of Nevada Energy, because it viewed Nevada Energy as a private 
person.  And it also challenges the district court’s finding that PISTOL -- 
that, under PISTOL, the landowner had the right for a jury determination 
that it was a public use. 

On the same day last week that we received notification from the court, the 
Supreme Court, that our writ apparently had found its way of some merit in 
that the property owner was ordered to answer it, on that same day, minutes 
apart, we were ordered to respond to the landowner in this case on Warm 
Springs.  So we will proceed, obviously, on both cases.  This is the first 
time, at least in recent memory, that I can think that NDOT’s had two 
matters pending before the State Supreme Court. 

Now, the key provisions of PISTOL impacting NDOT are as follows.  
Public use does not include the direct or indirect transfer of any interest in 
property from one private property owner to another.  That’s the issue in the 
case involving Nevada Energy that I just mentioned.  A landowner, under 
PISTOL, is entitled to a determination by a jury that the taking is for a 
public use.  That’s also an issue in the Nevada Energy case. 

Another impact of PISTOL, all appraisals by the government must be given 
to the landowner prior to an occupancy order.  PISTOL also requires 
property to be valued at its highest and best use.  PISTOL defines just 
compensation as the sum necessary to place the property owner back in the 
same monetary position as if the property were never taken.  Just 
compensation includes compound interest, reasonable costs and expenses 
actually incurred.  This particular provision of PISTOL, in my opinion, has 
provided landowners a motivation to bring inverse condemnation claims to 
push back the date of taking so that interest will begin to run at the earlier 
date and accrue on a compound basis, which the court must determine, but 
the landowners’ attorneys argue must be compounded daily. 

Fair market value under PISTOL is defined as the highest price for the 
property would get on the open market.  The property, which is condemned, 
must be used within five years of the entry of the final order of 
condemnation.  If not so used, the property owner has the right to purchase 
it for the price he sold it -- he or she sold it for.  This provision may, in fact, 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

July 8, 2013 
 

47 

be in violation of the code of federal regulations.  No cases have gone before 
the State Supreme Court interpreting these provisions of PISTOL, not yet 
anyway.  At some point in time I anticipate that a number of them will. 

I should also point out, too, there was -- I believe there was a voter petition 
in 2010 to amend PISTOL.  One of the amendments would have taken that 
5-year provision that I just mentioned and changed it to 15 years, which is 
the provision that’s currently provided in the Nevada Revised Statutes.  
However, the petition in 2010 failed. 

The final provision of PISTOL that impacts is the provision of the property 
owner shall not be liable to the government for attorneys’ fees and costs in 
any eminent domain action, no matter what.  Even if -- even if the property 
owner acquires, excuse me, gets an award that’s less than the amount that 
NDOT put in, NDOT is not entitled to seek its costs and fees from the 
property owner.  So the settlement incentive is taken off the table.  The 
contrary argument is the government has unlimited resources and property 
owners don’t.  I’ll leave that to the public to decide. 

But, thank you for your time and attention for this very broad 35,000-feet 
view of this little process that NDOT deals with.  And, you know, Paul 
Saucedo from Right-of-Way was up earlier and his people.  You know, they 
work very, very hard trying to make sure that these actions don’t make it to 
my office.  And I’m very much appreciative of that.  However, I do 
anticipate, both with NEON, particularly NEON, we will have a number of 
condemnation actions that will come before the Board, because I don’t 
know that the negotiations that are currently underway in Right-of-Way will 
be successful.  And, of course, we have all those threats of inverse 
condemnations, and I expect more of those. 

I would like to take this opportunity, if I may, Mr. Chairman, to introduce 
the Board to Laura Fitzsimmons, who’s here.  Laura is, in my opinion, the 
most -- the preeminent eminent domain lawyer in the State of Nevada.  She 
has a long and successful career representing landowners.  And I don’t want 
to put words in her mouth, but she agreed to assist us in formulating a legal 
strategy, understanding the plaintiff’s bar a little bit more, and she’s actually 
defending the State in a couple of actions.  And we’re very grateful to have 
her.  The deputies -- my deputies that work directly with her think the world 
of her.  And contrary to popular belief, when she agreed to work with us and 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

July 8, 2013 
 

48 

came into the building, the building still is standing.  I’d be happy to 
entertain any questions any of the Board members may have. 

Sandoval: Thank you, Mr. Gallagher.  And good morning, Ms. Fitzsimmons, and we’re 
glad you’re on our side.  And we look forward to working with you.  One 
other question, procedurally, Mr. Gallagher, are there judges who these 
cases are generally assigned to, or are they assigned randomly? 

Gallagher: It’s a random assignment. 

Sandoval: Has there been any kind of discussion similar to the construction defect 
litigation, whereby we might want to have specific judges who volunteer to 
take these kind of cases so that there’s that -- because this is such a complex 
area, that those cases would be assigned to a particular department? 

Gallagher: We’ve had some of those discussions, but have not yet gone to the eighth 
judicial district court to see about perhaps the creation or appointment of a 
condemnation court. 

Sandoval: It just seems that that would be ripe for conversation now, given your 
anticipation of these multiple cases and the evolution of Project NEON. 

Gallagher: Mm-hmm.  And as the Board knows, with the build-out for Project NEON, 
you know, Phase 6 is estimated to be completed in 2025? 

Unidentified Male: Yeah. 

Gallagher: About?  So, yeah, I think we’re going to have a steady flow of litigation, 
Governor, throughout.  Especially as we move forward in these next phases. 

Sandoval: So would that conversation occur with the chief judge in the eighth judicial 
district? 

Gallagher I believe it would, sir. 

Sandoval: Thank you.  Any further questions from Board members?  Mr. Martin, do 
you have any questions? 

Martin: No, sir. 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

July 8, 2013 
 

49 

Sandoval: Thank you very much.  That was very informative.  Did you see the balls on 
the bottom of the screen?  They look like lottery balls. 

Gallagher: I missed that.  Did anybody else see that?  Because I didn’t.  Thank you. 

Sandoval: Thank you very much. 

Gallagher: Mm-hmm. 

Malfabon: Thank you, Dennis. 

Sandoval: Agenda Item No. 11, old business. 

Malfabon: Thank you, Governor.  Standing items of report to the Board, we have the 
report of outside counsel costs and open matters, the monthly litigation 
report and the fatality report. 

 In the fatality report, I’m pleased to report that at least the fatalities 
compared to this time last year, or at least on the day of the report, which 
was July 1, that we were a bit lower than these fatalities last year, in 
comparison. 

 I also wanted to echo the appreciation for Ms. Fitzsimmons’ efforts on the 
Boulder City Bypass Project and educating NDOT, not just the right-of-
way, but also the engineering side, on how to approach projects differently 
to mitigate these types of challenges under PISTOL.  And also kudos to the 
Attorney General’s staff in Las Vegas that have been very good at handling 
these cases.  You saw, previously, the settlement in the Iovino case that 
went to the Board of Examiners for -- previously for approval.  But they’re 
very hard working and very educated on the process and, unfortunately, 
have a lot more to get through.  But it is kind of the nature of the business 
nowadays with our projects is that we definitely impact landowners that are 
adjacent to these projects, and we have to deal with these situations as they 
come up.  Any questions for the old business reports?  We have the staff 
available to respond. 

Sandoval: There are none. 

Malfabon: I wanted to add, Governor, that Mr. Gallagher is going to proceed with a 
request for proposals for casting that net for outside counsel on these 
matters, recognizing that we do have a lot of legal attorneys on staff, both 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

July 8, 2013 
 

50 

in-house and that we’ve hired externally.  But we see, as he had mentioned, 
a lot of cases coming up. 

Gallagher: Governor, if I may, it’s been some time since the office has gone out and 
solicited interest from the bar.  And so we thought this would be a good 
opportunity to do it, to see who’s interested, what resources are available as 
we move forward.  I’d also like to mention, with the approval of the 
Attorney General, we had a vacancy in our office here in Carson City.  The 
General approved the relocation of the position to Las Vegas, because that’s 
where these cases are all coming up.  And so I’m pleased to inform the 
Board that today is the first day for the individual who was hired to fill that 
position.  And he, like his colleagues down there, will be dedicated almost 
full time, or exclusively, to litigation. 

Sandoval: Thank you.  Any other questions on Agenda Item 11?  Agenda Item 12, 
public comment.  Is there any member of the public here in Carson City that 
would like to provide public comment to the Board?  I see none. 

Malfabon: Governor, I’d mentioned that we have conducted the interviews for 
Assistant Director for Administration.  We interviewed nine applicants.  We 
received over 20 applications and very good, qualified applicants.  And 
hopefully by this time next month we’ll have somebody in place. 

Sandoval: All right.  Thank you.  Is there any public comment from Las Vegas? 

Martin: No, sir. 

Sandoval: I’ll close the public comment portion of the Agenda.  Agenda Item 13, 
adjournment.  Is there a motion for adjournment? 

Martin: So moved. 

Sandoval: Member Martin has made a motion for adjournment.  Is there a second? 

Savage: Second. 

Sandoval: Second by Member Savage.  All those in favor, please say aye. 

Group: Aye. 



Minutes of Nevada Department of Transportation 
Board of Director’s Meeting 

July 8, 2013 
 

51 

Sandoval: Motion passes unanimously.  Thank you, ladies and gentlemen.  This 
meeting is adjourned. 

 

 

 

_____________________________   ______________________________ 

Secretary to the Board     Preparer of Minutes 

 



 
 

 
 

MEMORANDUM 
                        July 18, 2013 

TO:   Department of Transportation Board of Directors  
FROM:  Rudy Malfabon, Director   
SUBJECT:      August 12, 2013 Transportation Board of Directors Meeting 
Item # 4:  Briefing on Vehicle Miles Travelled (VMT) Study 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Summary:  
 
Nevada Department of Transportation is currently working to explore alternative funding 
mechanisms for transportation needs. The purpose of this alternative funding study is to assess 
the feasibility and practicality of any alternative, equitable and future-oriented transportation 
funding mechanism that will potentially replace the current fuel tax (per gallon)funding 
mechanism. The study has eliminated vehicle GPS tracking, is not advocating for a particular 
payment mechanism, and is not intended to discuss raising taxes, fees, or generating additional 
revenue. Taxing, fees, and revenues are policy questions that will be decided by the elected 
officials with support from the system users. The sole purpose of this study is to find a 
sustainable, future-oriented payment and collection method to potentially replace the fuel tax as 
the fuel tax method is becoming less effective due to technological changes and its lack of 
flexibility with the changing needs and paradigm shift as a result of increased fuel efficiency 
standards and electric and hybrid vehicles.   
 
We are working with UNR, UNLV, Oregon and Washington States on a regional west coast 
multi-state alternative funding study. Oregon recently became the first state to pass legislation 
to allow the use of mileages based user fee system (VMT) instead of tax per gallon on voluntary 
basis.  
 
About 18 other States across the nation are also evaluating alternative funding mechanisms to 
potentially replace the fuel tax mechanism. 
 
At the end of the study, every aspect of the alternative funding mechanism will have been 
studied and answers will be provided for all relevant questions to the decision makers and the 
public to see what might be the best future-oriented mechanism to continue to provide funding 
for a safe and efficient transportation infrastructure. 
 
Background: 
 
Most of the funding for Transportation projects comes from the fuel tax per gallon levied on 
gasoline and special fuels in Nevada and at the national (Federal) levels. Fuel tax has been a 
good source of revenue in the past and has served well its purpose of providing funding for the 
transportation system, except that the Federal fuel tax has not been raise in over two decades. 
Therefore, the fuel tax funding format has become insufficient and threatens the sustainability of 
the nation’s transportation system. The fuel tax revenue mechanism will continue to become 
less effective and less sustainable due to a myriad of reasons. The fuel tax has lost over 35% of 
purchasing power due to inflation and continues to lose the purchasing power. Alternative fuel 
vehicles and electric vehicles, although good for the environment, don’t pay for the road usage. 
It is projected that the number of electric and hybrid vehicles will continue to grow in the near 

 
1263 South Stewart 

Street 
Carson City, Nevada 

89712 
Phone: (775) 888-7440 

        
 



future. By 2016, car manufacturers have been tasked to produce 1 million electric vehicles. 
Increased Corporate Average Fuel Efficiency (CAFÉ) to 37 mpg by 2016 will cause further dent 
to the highway fund revenue for transportation. 
 
We will be primarily focusing on collection methods to minimize cost of admin and eliminate 
privacy issues. The study will assess the impact of out-of-state visitors relative to VMT fee 
payment and collection, identify administrative issues related to out-of-state travelers, and 
define parameters for seamless collection and distribution of VMT fee associated with the out-
of-state vehicles. The west-coast multi-state study will pave the way for building a future broader 
coalition and support among the states for eventual transition from the fuel tax to an alternative 
funding mechanism.  
 
The study will include: comprehensive public outreach and education to solicit input, identify 
concerns, educate the public about the critical future funding shortfalls and limitations of the 
current fuel tax, assessment and evaluation of any privacy impacts, analyses of institutional, 
policy, legislative, and legal aspects and, developing economic models to assess and 
recommend equitable VMT fee. The study will also include reaching out to the legislators and 
key decisions makers and other stakeholder groups. In addition to other components, the main 
elements of the study include: 

1. Grass-Roots Level Public Involvement and Participation: Meet with and receive 
guidance and feedback from Elected Officials, Stakeholders, Public Policy Makers, 
Business Owners, Rural and Urban Residents, Farmers, Shipping Companies, Taxis, 
Trucking Association, League of Cities, Utilities Providers, Tax Payers Association,  
Departments of Taxation, Tourism, Business and Industry, Motor Vehicles, and 
Economic Development, Chambers of Commerce, ACLU, Regional Development 
Authorities, Economic Development Offices, RTCs- MPOs, Cities, Counties, and others  

2. Rural versus Urban Equity  
3. Financial Impact on Low-Income Residents and high-mileage users 
4. Impact of Out-of-State visitors 
5. System Interoperability and revenue collection and distribution between neighboring 

States 
6. Revenue collection and distribution of revenue among local agencies  
7. Technological costs 
8. Cost of Administration 
9. Additional resources needed, if any, for DMV 
10. Review of existing legislation and regulations 
11. Legal Issues and constitutional aspects 
12. Socio-economic analyses 
13. Impact on Tribal population 
14. Equity between heavy vehicles and passenger cars 
15. Collection mechanism for electric vehicles and hybrid vehicles 
16. Impact on a Regional and Mega-Regional basis 
17. Institutional Structures 
18. Transition Plan For eventual transitioning to a new payment mechanism 
19. Payment and collection mechanism: The field test will include a spectrum of payment 

mechanisms to give users a choice. 

Analysis: 
 
The combined impact of the increased fuel efficiency standards and the increased number of 
hybrid and electric vehicles will result in approximately 18% less revenue to the highway trust 
fund per year by 2016. This will translate to about $40 million less revenue for the State of 



Nevada roads and highways. The impact will continue to grow higher as the number of 
alternative fuel vehicles grow and increased fuel efficiency standards increase. By 2025, the 
average fuel efficiency standards will be raised to 55 mpg. 
 
Recommendation for Board Action: 
 
Informational item only. 
 
List of Attachments: 
 
None 
 
Prepared by: 
 
Alauddin Khan, Chief Performance Analysis Engineer 
 



 
MEMORANDUM 

                             August 5, 2013 
TO:   Department of Transportation Board of Directors  
FROM:  Rudy Malfabon, Director   
SUBJECT:      August 12, 2013 Transportation Board of Directors Meeting 
Item #5:  Approval of Agreements Over $300,000 -  For Possible Action 
 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Summary:   
 
The purpose of this item is to provide the Board a list of agreements over $300,000 for 
discussion and approval following the process approved at the July 11, 2011 Transportation 
Board meeting.  This list consists of any design build contracts and all agreements (and 
amendments) for non-construction matters, such as consultants, service providers, etc. that 
obligate total funds of over $300,000, during the period from June 18, 2013 to July 22, 2013. 
 
Background: 
 
The Department contracts for services relating to the development, construction, operation and 
maintenance of the State’s multi-modal transportation system. The attached agreements 
constitute all new agreements and amendments which take the total agreement above 
$300,000 during the period from June 18, 2013 to July 22, 2013. 
 
Analysis: 
 
These agreements have been prepared following the Code of Federal Regulations, Nevada 
Revised Statutes, Nevada Administrative Code, State Administrative Manual, and/or 
Department policies and procedures. They represent the necessary support services needed to 
deliver the State of Nevada’s multi-modal transportation system.  
 
List of Attachments:    
 
A) State of Nevada Department of Transportation Agreements over $300,000, June 18, 

2013 to July 22, 2013. 
 

Recommendation for Board Action:    
 
Approval of all agreements listed on Attachment A. 
 
Prepared by:  Administrative Services Division 
 
 

 
1263 South Stewart Street 
Carson City, Nevada 89712 

Phone: (775) 888-7440 
Fax:      (775) 888-7201 

 

Agreements for Approval 
                            1 of 19



Attachment  

A 

Agreements for Approval 
                            2 of 19



Attachment A

Line 
No 

Agreement 
No

Amend 
No Contractor Purpose Fed

 Original 
Agreement 

Amount 

 Amendment 
Amount 

 Payable 
Amount 

Receivable 
Amount Start Date End Date Amend 

Date Agree Type Notes

1 51012 01 LAURA FITZSIMMONS, ESQ LEGAL SERVICES 
PERTAINING TO EMINENT 
DOMAIN LAW

N 300,000.00       850,000.00   1,150,000.00              - 12/6/2012 7/31/2015 8/12/2013 Service 
Provider

AMD 1 08-12-13: INCREASE AUTHORITY BY 
$850,000.00 FROM $300,000.00 TO 
$1,150,000.00 FOR CONTINUED SERVICES OF 
AN OUTSIDE COUNSEL IN PROSECUTING 
VARIOUS EMINENT DOMAIN ACTIONS, AND 
DEFENDING VARIOUS INVERSE 
CONDEMNATION ACTIONS.                                                                                                                                                                                
12-06-12: LEGAL SERVICES TO ASSIST THE 
DEPARTMENT WITH EMINENT DOMAIN LAW. 
CLARK COUNTY.  NV B/L#: NV20121016853

2 03013 00 PENNA POWERS BRIAN HAYNES ZERO FATALITIES 
MARKETING PROGRAM

Y 3,400,000.00              - 3,400,000.00              - 8/12/2013 6/30/2017           - Service 
Provider

08-12-13: ZERO FATALITIES MARKETING 
PROGRAM TO SUPPORT THE NEVADA 
STRATEGIC HIGHWAY SAFETY PLAN IN 
REDUCING HIGHWAY FATALITIES AND 
SERIOUS INJURIES ON NEVADA ROADWAYS. 
STATEWIDE. NV B/L# NV20111035305

3 02713 00 UNITED ROAD TOWING, INC. RENO/SPARKS FREEWAY 
SERVICE PATROL

Y 1,460,160.00              - 1,460,160.00              - 8/12/2013 8/31/2017           - Service 
Provider

08-12-13: RENO/SPARKS FREEWAY SERVICE 
PATROL PROGRAM FOR THE CONTINUED 
SAFETY OF THE MOTORING PUBLIC. WASHOE 
COUNTY. NV B/L#: 20061458836

State of Nevada Department of Transportation
Agreements for Approval

June 18, 2013 to July 22, 2013

Agreements for Approval 
                            3 of 19



Agreements for Approval 
                            4 of 19



Agreements for Approval 
                            5 of 19



Agreements for Approval 
                            6 of 19



Agreements for Approval 
                            7 of 19



Agreements for Approval 
                            8 of 19



Agreements for Approval 
                            9 of 19



Agreements for Approval 
                            10 of 19



Agreements for Approval 
                            11 of 19



Agreements for Approval 
                            12 of 19



Agreements for Approval 
                            13 of 19



Agreements for Approval 
                            14 of 19



Agreements for Approval 
                            15 of 19



Agreements for Approval 
                            16 of 19



Agreements for Approval 
                            17 of 19



Agreements for Approval 
                            18 of 19



Agreements for Approval 
                            19 of 19



 
MEMORANDUM 

           August 5, 2013 
TO:   Department of Transportation Board of Directors  
FROM:  Rudy Malfabon, Director   
SUBJECT:      August 12, 2013 Transportation Board of Directors Meeting 
Item #6:  Contracts, Agreements, and Settlements – Informational Item Only 
 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Summary:   
 
The purpose of this item is to inform the Board of the following: 

• Construction contracts under $5,000,000 awarded June 18, 2013 to July 22, 2013 
• Agreements under $300,000 executed June 18, 2013 to July 22, 2013 
• Settlements entered into by the Department which were presented for approval to the 

Board of Examiners June 18, 2013 to July 22, 2013 
 

Any emergency agreements authorized by statute will be presented here as an informational 
item. 
 
Background: 
 
Pursuant to NRS 408.131(5), the Transportation Board has authority to “[e]xecute or approve all 
instruments and documents in the name of the State or Department necessary to carry out the 
provisions of the chapter”. Additionally, the Director may execute all contracts necessary to 
carry out the provisions of Chapter 408 of NRS with the approval of the board, except those 
construction contracts that must be executed by the chairman of the board.  Other contracts or 
agreements not related to the construction, reconstruction, improvement and maintenance of 
highways must be presented to and approved by the Board of Examiners.  This item is intended 
to inform the Board of various matters relating to the Department of Transportation but which do 
not require any formal action by the Board.  
 
The Department contracts for services relating to the construction, operation and maintenance 
of the State’s multi-modal transportation system. Contracts listed in this item are all low-bid per 
statute and executed by the Governor in his capacity as Board Chairman. The projects are part 
of the STIP document approved by the Board.  In addition, the Department negotiates 
settlements with contractors, property owners, and other parties to resolve disputes. These 
proposed settlements are presented to the Board of Examiners, with the support and 
advisement of the Attorney General’s Office, for approval.  Other matters included in this item 
would be any emergency agreements entered into by the Department during the reporting 
period. 
 

 
1263 South Stewart Street 
Carson City, Nevada 89712 

Phone: (775) 888-7440 
Fax:      (775) 888-7201 

 

Contracts, Agreements, and Settlements 
                                              Page 1 of 9 



The attached construction contracts, agreements and settlements constitute all that were 
awarded for construction from June 18, 2013 to July 22, 2013 and agreements executed by the 
Department from June 18, 2013 to July 22, 2013.  There were no settlements during the 
reporting period. 
 
Analysis: 
 
These contracts have been executed following the Code of Federal Regulations, Nevada 
Revised Statutes, Nevada Administrative Code, State Administrative Manual, and/or 
Department policies and procedures.  
 
List of Attachments:    

 
A) State of Nevada Department of Transportation Contracts Awarded - Under $5,000,000, 

June 18, 2013 to July 22, 2013 
 

B) State of Nevada Department of Transportation Executed Agreements - Informational,  
June 18, 2013 to July 22, 2013 

 
 
Recommendation for Board Action:   Informational item only 
 
Prepared by: Administrative Services Division 
 

Contracts, Agreements, and Settlements 
                                              Page 2 of 9 



Attachment  

A 

Contracts, Agreements, and Settlements 
                                              Page 3 of 9 



 
 STATE OF NEVADA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 

CONTRACTS AWARDED - UNDER $5,000,000 

June 18, 2013 to July 22, 2013 

 
1. June 13, 2013 at 1:30 p.m. the following bid was opened and read related to Department of 

Transportation Contract No. 3538-READV, Project No. BR-0007(036). The project is to replace 
a substandard off-system bridge B-1662, Deeth Bridge on CR701B, at Mary’s River, Elko 
County. 
  
Gerber Construction, Inc. .......................................................................................... $273,563.10 
Q & D Construction, Inc.  .......................................................................................... $291,290.00 
A & K Earth Movers, Inc.  .......................................................................................... $306,500.00 
Remington Construction Company LLC  ................................................................... $309,999.00 
MKD Construction, Inc. ............................................................................................. $319,000.00 
 
The Director awarded the contract on July 1, 2013, to Gerber Construction, Inc. in the amount of 
$273,563.10. Upon receipt of an approval bond from the contractor, the State will enter into 
contract with the firm.  

 
Engineer's Estimate: $278,197.65  

 
2. June 20, 2013 at 1:30 p.m. the following bid was opened and read related to Department of 

Transportation Contract No. 3535-READV, Project No. SP-000M(191). The project is to chip 
seal existing roadways on US 6, SR 361, SR 375, and SR 160 in Lincoln and Nye Counties.  
 
Intermountain Slurry Seal, Inc.  .............................................................................. $3,966,996.00 
Sierra Nevada Construction, Inc. ........................................................................... $4,177,007.00 
Road and Highway Builders, LLC .......................................................................... $5,050,050.00 
 
The Director awarded the contract on July 9, 2013, to Intermountain Slurry Seal, Inc. in the 
amount of $3,966,996.00. Upon receipt of an approval bond from the contractor, the State will 
enter into contract with the firm.  

 
Engineer's Estimate: $3,406,016.15  

 
 
 

Contracts, Agreements, and Settlements 
                                              Page 4 of 9 



Attachment  

B 

Contracts, Agreements, and Settlements 
                                              Page 5 of 9 



Attachment B

Line 
No

Agreement 
No

Amend 
No Contractor Purpose Fed  Original Agreement 

Amount 
 Amendment 

Amount 
 Payable 
Amount 

 Receivable 
Amount Start Date End Date Amend 

Date
Agree 
Type Notes

1 22813 00 CENTURYLINK RELOCATE PHONE POLE KYLE 
CNYN

N 21,085.54               -               21,085.54       -            6/17/2013 6/16/2015           - Facility 06-17-13: RELOCATION OF TELEPHONE POLE 
FACILITIES, US 95, KYLE CANYON, CLARK COUNTY. 
NV B/L#: NV19711000425

2 22913 00 KINGSBURY GEN IMPRV 
DISTRICT

ADJ WATER LINE KINGSBURY 
GRD

N 743,166.25             -               743,166.25     -            6/18/2013 12/15/2013           - Facility 06-18-13: ADJUST AND/OR RELOCATE A WATER LINE 
ON KINGSBURY GRADE, DOUGLAS COUNTY. NV B/L#: 
EXEMPT

3 23113 00 NV ENERGY US 95 PKG ANN TO DURANGO N -                          -               -                  -            6/3/2013 6/2/2035           - Facility 06-19-13: DESIGN APPROVAL US-95 PACKAGE 2A, ANN 
TO DURANGO FOR ADDITION OF FIVE (5) NEW 
PEDESTALS, CLARK COUNTY. NV B/L#: 
NV19831015840

4 24013 00 NV ENERGY LINE EXTENSION WILSON 
AVENUE

N 6,048.00                 -               6,048.00         5,000.00    7/8/2013 7/7/2018           - Facility 07-08-13: LINE EXTENSION/NEW METER BEING 
MOVED TO WILSON AVENUE NEAR SIGNAL, PROJECT 
ID 73632, ELKO COUNTY. NV B/L#: NV19831015840

5 24113 00 NV ENERGY RELOCATION DESIGN APPROVAL N -                          -               -                  -            7/8/2013 7/7/2018           - Facility 07-08-13: RELOCATION DESIGN APPROVAL, PROJECT 
ID 73527, CLARK COUNTY. NV B/L#: NV19831015840

6 24213 00 NV ENERGY RELOCATION DESIGN APPROVAL N -                          -               -                  -            7/8/2013 7/7/2018           - Facility 07-08-13: RELOCATION DESIGN APPROVAL, CLARK 
COUNTY.NV B/L#: NV19831015840

7 24313 00 NV ENERGY LINE EXTENSION ON IDAHO 
STREET

N 6,653.00                 -               6,653.00         5,000.00    7/8/2013 7/7/2018           - Facility 07-08-13: LINE EXTENSION/NEW METER BEING 
MOVED TO NORTHEAST SIDE OF THE INTERSECTION 
ON IDAHO STREET, ELKO COUNTY. NV B/L#: 
NV19831015840

8 25913 00 UPRR REPLACE STRUCTURE G-324 Y 19,700.00               -               19,700.00       -            7/12/2013 7/31/2018           - Facility 07-12-13: REPLACE SUBSTANDARD STRUCTURE G-
324 OVER UPRR, PROJECT BR-0011-(009), EUREKA 
COUNTY. NV B/L#: NV19691003146

9 25313 00 890 GENTRY WAY, LLC LEASE PARCEL I-580-WA-022.728 N -                          -               -                  19,100.00  8/1/2013 7/31/2033           - Lease 08-01-13: MULTI USE LEASE PARCEL I-580-WA-022.728, 
PROJECT ID 70595, WASHOE COUNTY. NV B/L#: 
NV20081534692

10 26313 00 JESSIE WARRICK INDEP MS HOUSE 251 N -                          -               -                  3,100.00    7/16/2013 7/3/2017           - Lease 07-16-13: LEASE OF INDEPENDENT MS HOUSE #251 IN 
ELKO COUNTY. NV B/L#: EXEMPT

11 26213 00 JOSEPH TOM NORTHFORK #273 N -                          -               -                  3,200.00    7/16/2013 7/3/2017           - Lease 07-16-13: LEASE OF NORTHFORK MS HOUSE 273 IN 
ELKO COUNTY. NV B/L#: EXEMPT

12 25513 00 RICHARD GONZALES RUBY VALLEY MS 311 N -                          -               -                  2,900.00    7/12/2013 6/22/2017           - Lease 07-12-13: EMPLOYEE HOUSE LEASE C331 RUBY 
VALLEY HOUSE #311, ELKO COUNTY. NV B/L#: 
EXEMPT

13 23313 00 212 ESTELLA AVE LLC SUR-08-29 U-095-CL-078.146XS6 Y -                          -               -                  2,934.30    6/20/2013 6/13/2014           - Property 
Sale

06-20-13: LAND SALE SUR-08-29 PARCEL U-095-CL-
078.146XS6, CLARK COUNTY. NV B/L#: NV20121357812

14 24613 00 ANN ROSE BLAND TEMP ESMT S-650-WA-020.879TE Y 5,200.00                 -               5,200.00         -            7/8/2013 4/30/2016           - ROW 
Access

07-08-13: TO GRANT A TEMPORARY EASEMENT FOR 
CONSTRUCTION RELATED TO THE SOUTHEAST 
MCCARRAN BLVD PROJECT, PHASE II, PARCELS-650-
WA-020.879TE, WASHOE COUNTY. NV B/L#: EXEMPT

15 24813 00 CALIFORNIA AVENUE RENTALS 
LLC

TEMP ESMT SE MCCARRAN Y 3,600.00                 -               3,600.00         -            7/11/2013 4/30/2016           - ROW 
Access

07-11-13: TO GRANT A TEMPORARY EASEMENT FOR 
CONSTRUCTION RELATED TO THE SOUTHEAST 
MCCARRAN BLVD PROJECT, PHASE II, S-650-WA-
021.151TE, WASHOE COUNTY. NV B/L#: 
NV20091203724

16 23613 00 CLIFFNE/MICHAEL BATEMAN TEMP ESMT S-650-WA-128TE Y 500.00                    -               500.00            -            6/26/2013 4/30/2016           - ROW 
Access

06-26-13: TEMPORARY EASEMENT FOR THE 
CONSTRUCTION OF THE SOUTHEAST MCCARRAN 
BLVD PROJECT, PARCEL S-650-WA-128TE, WASHOE 
COUNTY. NV B/L#: EXEMPT

17 24713 00 DUSTIN/HILARY RUFF TEMP ESMT SW MCCARRAN Y 2,400.00                 -               2,400.00         -            7/11/2013 4/30/2016           - ROW 
Access

07-11-13: TO GRANT A TEMPORARY EASMENT FOR 
CONSTRUCTION RELATED TO THE SOUTHEAST 
MCCARRAN BLVD PROJECT, PHASE II, WASHOE 
COUNTY. NV B/L#: EXEMPT

State of Nevada Department of Transportation
Executed Agreements - Informational

June 18, 2013 to July 22, 2013

Contracts, Agreements, and Settlements 
                                              Page 6 of 9 



Line 
No

Agreement 
No

Amend 
No Contractor Purpose Fed  Original Agreement 

Amount 
 Amendment 

Amount 
 Payable 
Amount 

 Receivable 
Amount Start Date End Date Amend 

Date
Agree 
Type Notes

18 24513 00 EILEEN E. JACOBS TEMP ESMT S-650-WA-021.484TE Y 4,600.00                 -               4,600.00         -            7/8/2013 4/30/2016           - ROW 
Access

07-08-13: TO GRANT A TEMPORARY EASEMENT FOR 
CONSTRUCTION RELATED TO THE SOUTHEAST 
MCCARRAN BLVD PROJECT, PHASE II, S-650-WA-
021.484TE, WASHOE COUNTY. NV B/L#: EXEMPT

19 25613 00 FIVE TEN REAL ESTATE OPPS 
LLC

TEMP ESMT S-650-WA-021.085TE Y 6,700.00                 -               6,700.00         -            7/12/2013 4/30/2016           - ROW 
Access

07-12-13: TO GRANT A TEMPORARY EASEMENT FOR 
CONSTRUCTION RELATED TO THE SOUTHEAST 
MCCARRAN BLVD PROJECT, S-650-WA-021.085TE, 
WASHOE COUNTY. NV B/L#: NV20111760545

20 25213 00 HARRY A. PEARCE TEMP ESMT S-650-WA-021.11TE Y 1,300.00                 -               1,300.00         -            7/12/2013 4/30/2016           - ROW 
Access

07-12-13: TO GRANT A TEMPORARY EASEMENT FOR 
CONSTRUCTION RELATED TOTHE SOUTHEAST 
MCCARRAN BLVD PROJECT, S-650-WA-021.011TE, 
WASHOE COUNTY.NV B/L#: EXEMPT

21 23213 00 HERMAN J. SCHMIDT PARCEL S-605-WA021.131TE 
73511

Y 3,300.00                 -               3,300.00         -            6/20/2013 4/30/2016           - ROW 
Access

06-24-13: TEMPORARY EASEMENT FOR THE 
CONSTRUCTION OF THE SOUTHEAST MCCARRAN 
BLVD PROJECT PARCEL #S-650-WA-021.131TE, 
WASHOE COUNTY. NV B/L#: EXEMPT

22 24913 00 JOIS DONAGHEY BROCK TEMP ESMT S-650-WA-021.168TE Y 2,800.00                 -               2,800.00         -            7/11/2013 4/30/2016           - ROW 
Access

07-11-13: TO GRANT A TEMPORARY EASEMENT FOR 
CONSTRUCTION RELATED TO THE SOUTHEAST 
MCCARRAN BLVD PROJECT, PHASE II, S-650-WA-
021.168TE, WASHOE COUNTY. NV B/L#: EXEMPT

23 23913 00 LEONA & ADRIAN HERTZ S-650-WA-021.106TE 73511 Y 500.00                    -               500.00            -            6/28/2013 4/30/2016           - ROW 
Access

06-28-13: TEMPORARY EASEMENT FOR THE 
CONSTRUCTION OF THE SOUTHEAST MCCARRAN 
BLVD PROJECT PARCEL #S-650-WA-201.106TE, 
WASHOE COUNTY. NV B/L#: EXEMPT

24 24413 00 TERRI YI FAN LE TEMP ESMT S-650-WA-020.420TE Y 3,500.00                 -               3,500.00         -            7/8/2013 4/30/2016           - ROW 
Access

07-08-13: TO GRANT A TEMPORARY EASEMENT FOR 
CONSTRUCTION RELATED TO THE SOUTHEAST 
MCCARRAN BLVD PROJECT, PHASE II, S-650-WA-
020.420TE, WASHOE COUNTY. NV B/L#: EXEMPT

25 19013 00 BLACK EAGLE CONSULTING INC EXPERT WITNESS FOR 3389 N 75,000.00               -               75,000.00       -            7/17/2013 12/31/2014           - Service 
Provider

07-17-13: CLAIM SUPPORT AND EXPERT WITNESS 
SERVICES, WASHOE COUNTY. NV B/L#: 
NV19971293847

26 30111 02 CHAPMAN LAW FIRM AD AMERICA VS STATE OF NV N 281,675.00             85,000.00     491,675.00     -            6/14/2011 12/31/2014 6/18/2013 Service 
Provider

AMD 2 06-18-13: INCREASE AUTHORITY $85,000.00 
FROM $406,675 TO $491,675.00 AND EXTEND 
TERMINATION DATE FROM 12-31-13 TO 12-31-14.
AMD 1 03-29-12: EXTEND TERMINATION DATE FROM 
06-14-13 TO 12-31-13 TO ALLOW FOR LITIGATION 
SUPPORT. TO ADD TO THE SCOPE OF THE 
AGREEMENT TO INCLUDE LEGAL SERVICES AND 
LITIGATION SUPPORT AND REPRESENTATION OF THE 
DEPARTMENT FOR ALL CASES DETAILED IN THE 
AMENDMENT IN MATTERS REGARDING AD 
AMERICA,INC. REPRESENTATION BY MICHAEL G 
CHAPMAN, ATTORNEY AT LAW, PC IN THE MATTER 
OF AD AMERICA, INC. VS STATE OF NEVADA, EX REL. 
DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION, CASE NO. 
A640157 (8TH JD), STATEWIDE. NV B/L#: 
NV20011462722

Contracts, Agreements, and Settlements 
                                              Page 7 of 9 



Line 
No

Agreement 
No

Amend 
No Contractor Purpose Fed  Original Agreement 

Amount 
 Amendment 

Amount 
 Payable 
Amount 

 Receivable 
Amount Start Date End Date Amend 

Date
Agree 
Type Notes

27 16409 04 CLEAN HARBORS 
ENVIRONMENTAL

CULVERT CLEANING LAKE TAHOE N 403,947.00             200,000.00   1,007,894.00  -            6/24/2009 9/30/2013 6/28/2013 Service 
Provider

AMD 4 06-28-13: INCREASED AUTHORITY $200,000.00 
FROM $807,894.00 TO $1,007,894.00 FOR CULVERT 
CLEANING IN LAKE TAHOE; EXTENDED THE 
TERMINATION DATE FROM 06-30-13 TO 09-30-13, 
DISTRICT CONTRACT NUMBER D2-014-09
AMD 3 06-26-12: LEGAL SETTLEMENT REQUIRING THE 
CLEANING OF BOX VAULTS AND CULVERTS UNDER 
US 395 AND OLD 395 AT THE SOUTHERN END OF 
WASHOE VALLEY.
AMD 2 11-14-11: DUE TO TRPA REGULATIONS FOR 
REMOVAL OF SAND, WATER, AND DEBRIS FROM 
CULVERTS AND OTHER HIGHWAY APPURTENANCES 
WITH NDOT RIGHT-OF-WAYS THE CONTRACTOR HAS 
AGREED TO PERFORM THESE SERVICES FOR AN 
ADDITIONAL 2-YEAR PERIOD AT THE SAME UNIT BID 
COSTS THAT WERE ORIGINALLY BID. INCREASE 
AUTHORITY $403,947.00 FROM $403,947.00 TO 
$807,894.00.
AMD 1 06-28-2011: EXTEND TERMINATION DATE FROM 
06-30-11 TO 06-30-13
06-24-2009: CULVERT CLEANING AT VARIOUS 
LOCATIONS IN THE LAKE TAHOE BASIN IN CARSON 
CITY, WASHOE, AND DOUGLAS COUNTIES. NV B/L#: 
NV20021375471

28 39611 02 EXEVISION, LC E-BIDDING IMPLEMENTATION 
EXT.

N 272,800.00             94,000.00     454,800.00     -            7/1/2011 6/30/2014 6/18/2013 Service 
Provider

AMD 2 06-18-13: EXTEND TERMINATION DATE FROM 
12-31-13 TO 06-30-14 AND INCREASE AUTHORITY 
$94,000.00 FROM $360,800.00 TO $454,800.00 FOR SIX 
MONTHS OF E-BIDDING VAULT FEES AND 
ADDITIONAL ENHANCEMENT FEES.
AMD 1 03-06-12: EXTEND TERMINATION DATE FROM 
06-30-13 TO 12-31-13, INCREASE AUTHORITY 
$62,000.00 FROM $298,800.00 TO $360,800.00 FOR 
AMENDED VAULT FEE LANGUAGE AND ADD 
MAINTENANCE AND ENHANCEMENT FEES.
07-01-11: TO CONTINUE ELECTRONIC BIDDING 
IMPLEMENTATION AND SOURCE ESCROW 
AGREEMENT. CARSON CITY. NV B/L#: NV20111589256

29 22213 00 JOAN TIEARNEY, SAFETY 
CONSUL

PROTECTIVE EQUIP HAZARD 
ASSESS

N 2,296.00                 -               2,296.00         -            6/26/2013 12/31/2013           - Service 
Provider

06-26-13: HAZARD ASSESSMENT OF PERSONAL 
PROTECTIVE EQUIPMENT AS FOUND AT FOUR (4) 
DEPARTMENT FACILITIES: NORTH LAS VEGAS 
MAINTENANCE SHOP, RENO MAINTENANCE SHOP, 
CARSON CITY MAINTENANCE SHOP, AND ELKO 
MAINTENANCE SHOP, Q0-014-13, CLARK, WASHOE, 
CARSON CITY, AND ELKO COUNTIES. NV B/L#: 
NV20131290860 

30 26413 00 LAS VEGAS PAVING SR146 MULCH LINING N 228,000.00             -               228,000.00     -            7/16/2013 3/31/2014           - Service 
Provider

07-16-13: TO PROTECT SLOPE AT SR146 WITH 
GRAVEL MULCH LINING IN CLARK COUNTY. NV B/L# 
NV19581000650

31 26513 00 LAS VEGAS PAVING PLACE RIPRAP SR170 N 133,000.00             -               133,000.00     -            7/16/2013 3/31/2014           - Service 
Provider

07-16-13: PLACE RIPRAP ON SR170 MP2.64 IN CLARK 
COUNTY. NV B/L#: NV20051055015

32 20712 01 SIN CITY PORTABLES, LLC WATER/SEWER FOR CREW 916 
OFFICE

N 8,960.00                 1,000.00       9,600.00         -            5/31/2012 5/31/2013 6/21/2013 Service 
Provider

AMD 1 06-24-13: INCREASE AUTHORITY $1,000.00 
FROM $8,600.00 TO $9,600.00.05-31-12: TO PROVIDE 
WATER AND SEWER SERVICES FOR C916 CREW 
TRAILER LOCATED ON CENTENNIAL BLVD, Q1-026-12, 
CLARK COUNTY. NV B/L#: NV20101609856

Contracts, Agreements, and Settlements 
                                              Page 8 of 9 



Line 
No

Agreement 
No

Amend 
No Contractor Purpose Fed  Original Agreement 

Amount 
 Amendment 

Amount 
 Payable 
Amount 

 Receivable 
Amount Start Date End Date Amend 

Date
Agree 
Type Notes

33 23813 00 T.Y. LIN INTERNATIONAL. INC PLANNING/DEVELOPMENT 
ANALYSIS

Y 45,000.00               -               45,000.00       -            5/2/2013 5/1/2015           - Service 
Provider

07-03-13: CIVIL ENGINEERING, REAL ESTATE 
PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT ANALYSIS AND EXPERT 
WITNESS TESTIMONY; PROJECT ID DE-STP-015-
1(146), CLARK COUNTY. NV B/L#: NV19851016777

34 24810 02 THYSSENKRUPP ELEVATOR 
CORP.

ELEVATOR MAINT. 3 LOCATIONS N 24,120.00               -               55,385.30       -            9/3/2010 1/1/2014 6/28/2013 Service 
Provider

AMD 2 06-28-13: EXTEND TERMINATION DATE FROM 
07-01-13 TO 01-01-14 TO ALLOW TIME FOR A 
REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL TO BE ISSUED FOR THE 
CONTINUATION OF ELEVATOR SERVICING.
AMD 1 02-14-12: TO EXTEND TERMINATION DATE 
FROM 07-01-12 TO 07-01-13 FOR ONE MORE YEAR OF 
SERVICE. INCREASE AUTHORITY $31,265.30 FROM 
$24,120.00 TO $55,385.30 TO COVER THE COST OF 
THE ADDITIONAL YEAR OF SERVICE AND FOR 
INSPECTION AND REPAIRS FOR OSHA 
REQUIREMENTS
09-03-10: ELEVATOR MAINTENANCE FOR 
HEADQUARTERS, SOUTH ANNEX AND DISTRICT II 
OFFICE, CARSON CITY AND WASHOE COUNTIES. NV 
B/L#: NV19841018200

35 21213 00 TITAN ELECTRICAL 
CONTRACTING

TRAFFIC COUNTING LOOP 
INSTALL

N 49,910.00               -               49,910.00       -            6/28/2013 12/31/2014           - Service 
Provider

07-01-13: TRAFFIC COUNTING LOOP INSTALLATIONS, 
Q0-012-13N, WASHOE COUNTY. NV B/L#: 
NV20071408571

36 25713 00 TRI STATE SURVEYING LTD EXP WIT STATE VS RR PASS INV Y 40,000.00               -               40,000.00       -            5/1/2013 5/1/2015           - Service 
Provider

05-01-13: LAND SURVEY, EXPERT WITNESS AND 
RELATED SERVICES FOR THE STATE VS RAILROAD 
PASS INVESTMENT GROUP, LLC CONDEMNATION 
ACTION, CLARK COUNTY. NV B/L#: NV19861018780

37 25813 00 TRI STATE SURVEYING LTD EXP WIT STATE VS K&L DIRT CO Y 40,000.00               -               40,000.00       -            5/1/2013 5/1/2015           - Service 
Provider

05-01-13: LAND SURVEY, EXPERT WITNESS AND 
RELATED SERVICES FOR THE STATE VS K&L DIRT 
COMPANY, LLC CONDEMNATION ACTION, CLARK 
COUNTY. NV B/L#: NV19861018780

38 03113 01 WEBSOFT DEVELOPERS INC DEVELOP PLAN PORTAL FORMS N 24,950.00               9,800.00       34,750.00       -            1/22/2013 9/30/2013 6/26/2013 Service 
Provider

AMD 1 06-26-13: EXTEND TERMINATION DATE FROM 
06-30-13 TO 09-30-13, AND INCREASE AUTHORITY 
$9,800.00 FROM $24,950.00 TO $34,750.00.01-22-13: 
DEVELOPMENT OF THE PLANNING PORTAL FORMS, 
CARSON CITY.NV B/L#: NV20121454363

39 21013 00 ZEE DESIGNS INC NEVADADBE.COM WEBSITE N 3,992.35                 -               3,992.35         -            6/17/2013 8/30/2013           - Service 
Provider

06-19-13: CONTINUOUS HOSTING, MAINTENANCE, 
AND DEVELOPMENT OF THE NEVADADBE.COM 
WEBSITE, STATEWIDE. NV B/L#: NV20071293824

Contracts, Agreements, and Settlements 
                                              Page 9 of 9 





















































 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 

 Date: July 19, 2013 
TO: Department of Transportation Board of Directors 

FROM: Rudy Malfabon, Director 
SUBJECT: August 12, 2013 Transportation Board of Directors Meeting 
Item # 10: Update  on the Status of  I-11 and Intermountian West Corridor Study 
 
____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Summary:   
 
The goal of this study is to evaluate the designated future I-11 between Phoenix, AZ and Las 
Vegas, NV, as well as potential connections north and south of that corridor. The I-11 & 
Intermountain West Corridor Study is a two year coordinated effort between the Nevada and 
Arizona Departments of Transportation, in cooperation with the RTC of Southern Nevada, 
Maricopa Association of Governments,  Federal Highway Administration, and Federal Railroad 
Administration.  The team released a Corridor Justification Report in July of 2013. 
  
This report, which evaluated existing and projected transportation demand economic scenarios 
shows that the corridor is in fact justified, and further study is warranted.   The team is now 
evaluating alternative alignments, and feasibility of the various portions of the corridor  
 
Background: 
 
Many efforts, dating back at least to the early 1990’s, have shown a desire and need for  a 
robust and efficient North-South corridor for North American trade.  In 1995, the CANAMEX 
Corridor was designated by Congress as a High Priority Corridor.  The corridor is defined as I-
19 from Nogales to Tucson, I-10 from Tucson to Phoenix, US 93 in the vicinity of Phoenix to Las 
Vegas, and I-15 from Las Vegas to Canada.  The only portion of the CANAMEX Corridor that is 
not an interstate is US 93 between Phoenix and Las Vegas. However, this portion was 
designated as future I-11 in the passage of  MAP-21.  Several other high priority corridors are 
designated in the intermountain west that include connections between Nevada and the Pacific 
Northwest and/or Canada. 
 
The Arizona and Nevada Departments of Transportation felt it was critical to study the proposed 
I-11 in conjunction with potential north-south connections beween Mexico and Canada and have 
embarked on a two-year study to look at need, opportunities and constraints, including a 
Planning and Environmental Linkages effort to prepare portions of the Corridor for future 
environmental analysis. 
 
  

 
1263 South Stewart Street 
Carson City, Nevada 89712 

Phone: (775) 888-7440 
Fax:      (775) 888-7201 



 

Analysis: 
 
The total consultant contract for this study is $2,500,000, funded through a combination of 
federal, state, and Arizona funding sources: 
 

Funding Source Federal 
State 
Match Other TOTAL 

Transportation Community & 
System Preservation Grant (TCSP) $1,000,000 $52,632  $1,052,632 

State Planning and Research $357,895 $89,474  $447,368 

Arizona DOT   $1,000,000 $1,000,000 

TOTAL $1,357,895  $142,106  $1,000,000  $2,500,000  
  
This study will help to eliminate alternatives and identify potential risks with alternatives for 
future project development and environmental analysis for the various sections of the corridor.  
Recommendations and planning level cost ranges will be provided at the end of ths study in late 
summer 2014.  
 
List of Attachments: (all can be found at http://i11study.com/wp/?page_id=237) 
 

a. I-11 & Intermountain West Corridor Vision Summary 
b. Corridor Justification Report 
c. Frequently Asked Questions  

 
Recommendation for Board Action: 
 
Information item only. 
 
Prepared by: 
 
Sondra Rosenberg, Federal Programs Manager 
 
 

http://i11study.com/wp/?page_id=237�


The I-11 & Intermountain West Corridor Study is a high priority for NDOT and ADOT, who 
have pooled their resources and are jointly managing this study. The metropolitan planning 
organizations in the greater Las Vegas and Phoenix areas (Regional Transportation 
Commission of Southern Nevada and Maricopa Association of Governments), the Federal 
Highway Administration, and the Federal Railroad Administration are actively involved in 
the study, and together with the sponsoring agencies of NDOT and ADOT form the Core 
Agency Partners. 

All interested public agencies, non-profit organizations, and private interest groups are 
invited to participate in a Stakeholder Partners group that will be asked to provide data and 
other input, and to share their opinions and ideas on decision points throughout the process. 

In addition, Focus Groups will be formed with subject matter experts from the Core Agency 
Partners and Stakeholder Partners. These groups will be asked to provide data and input into 
specific topics, and to make recommendations for the Study Team to consider. 

The Public will have opportunities to learn about the study and share their opinions via 
public meetings and a project website.

Study Partners and Stakeholder Involvement Opportunities

Preliminary Corridor Vision
By comparison with the Eastern United States, the 
West has seen little addition of Interstate routes 
since the Interstate Highway System was 
established in 1956. Population and employment 
growth in the West has generally outpaced growth 
in Eastern states, and the demand for travel along 
the Western Interstate corridors has grown. 
Specifically, the Intermountain West is confronted 
with a rapidly growing population, expanding 
global trade, and aging transportation 
infrastructure that is reaching capacity. Therefore, 
the solutions must be innovative, cost-effective, 
and most importantly, confront our 21st century 
transportation needs. 

Serving the nation’s north-south transportation 
needs from Mexico to Canada, the proposed 
Intermountain West Corridor will provide a vital 
connection between Phoenix and Las Vegas, two 
large metropolitan areas not currently connected 
by an Interstate highway. It is also envisioned to 
promote possible freight linkages between the new 
and expanding ports in Mexico and Canada, 
existing U.S. West Coast ports, and future inland 
ports and commerce centers crucial to distributing 
goods across North America. These linkages could 
stimulate the development of new crossroads, 
spurring community and economic development 
opportunities spanning the entire corridor. 
Effective inclusion of infrastructure elements that 
form the building blocks for growth and expansion 
– power, telecommunication, freight rail, and 
potentially passenger rail – could serve as the 
foundation of a stronger and more diversified 
economy for the Intermountain West.

Early in this study process, stakeholder input will 
be actively sought after to determine a universal 
mission for the project, as well as a series of 
values, goals, and objectives. Moving forward, 
decisions will support these goals and objectives, 
and be made in a manner that is inclusive of 
community values and input.

CORRIDOR
VISION
S U M M A R Y

CORRIDOR
VISION
S U M M A R Y

CORRIDOR
VISION
CORRIDOR
VISION

&&
INTERMOUNTAIN WEST 

CORRIDOR STUDY

I-11I-11I-11I-11

&&
INTERMOUNTAIN WEST 

CORRIDOR STUDY

I-11I-11I-11I-11

Public

Project Sponsors
(NDOT & ADOT)

Core Agency Partners
(NDOT, ADOT, FHWA, FRA, 

MAG, RTC)

Stakeholder Partners
(Northern Nevada, Southern Nevada, 
Northern Arizona, Phoenix, Southern 

Arizona)

Alternative Delivery 
and Finance

Economic 
Development Corridor Operations

Environment and 
Sustainability Utility/Energy Land Use and Community 

Development

Freight Users

Decision 
Maker Recommender Contributor

Focus Groups

Consultant Team

C O N T A C T

Sondra Rosenberg, PTP
Nevada Department of Transportation
1263 South Stewart Street
Carson City, NV 89712
srosenberg@dot.state.nv.us
(775) 888-7241 www.i11s tudy .com 

Michael Kies, PE
Arizona Department of Transportation
206 S. 17th Avenue
Phoenix, AZ 85007
mkies@azdot.gov
(602) 712-8140

October 16, 2012

Attachment a



Nevada and Beyond
Future Connectivity

Corridor

Priority
Corridor
Segment

Southern Arizona
Future Connectivity

Corridor

Phoenix
Metropolitan
Area Section

Washington

Oregon

Idaho

Seattle

Portland

Boise

MEXICO

Arizona

Nevada

Las Vegas

Reno

Phoenix

Tucson

Nevada and Beyond
Future Connectivity

Corridor

Las Vegas
Metropolitan
Area Section

Priority
Corridor
Segment

Southern Arizona
Future Connectivity

Corridor

Phoenix
Metropolitan
Area Section

Northern
Arizona
Section

Months 2012 2013 2014

Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul

Phase I                Phase II Phase III

Work 
Tasks 1.1 

Corridor 
Vision 
Summary

2.6 Preliminary Business 
Case Foundation

2.5 Identify National and 
International Patterns, 
Trends, and Forecasts

2.1 Data 
Collection

2.2 Preliminary 
Opportunities and 
Constraints

2.4 Existing and Future 
Transport Characteristics

2.3 Past Planning 
Studies and 
Strategies

2.7 Approach 
to Corridor 
Planning

3.10 Final 
Business Case 
Foundation

3.11 Corridor 
Concept Report

2.8 Corridor 
Justi�cation 
Report

3.1 Feasibility Assessment of 
Northern Nevada Connectivity 
Segment

3.2 Feasibility Assessment of 
Southern Arizona Connectivity 
Segment

3.3  
Priority 
Section 
Purpose 
and 
Need

3.4  Alternatives Analysis Study of Priority 
Section 1 – Phoenix Metropolitan Area

3.5  Alternatives Analysis Study of Priority 
Section 2 – Souther Nevada/Northern 
Arizona

3.6 Alternatives Analysis Study of Priority 
Section 3 – Las Vegas Metropolitan Area

3.7 
Implementation 
Program for 
Priority Section

3.8 Final 
Purpose 
and Need 
for Priority 
Section

3.9 Final 
PEL Process

The Vision Began Years Ago…
The concept of an access controlled, high capacity transportation facility connecting 
Phoenix and Las Vegas (with connections further north and south) has been around for 
decades, initiated with the CANAMEX corridor discussions in 1991. An approach for 
comprehensive corridor implementation was furthered by the Maricopa Association of 
Governments as a bypass route around the western and southern edges of metropolitan 
Phoenix, and further conceptualized through statewide planning efforts by ADOT to 
extend outside the state of Arizona. Nevada has been an equal partner with Arizona 
since the early 1990s, planning for a regional corridor with improved access between 
Las Vegas and Phoenix and a potential northern extension to Reno – creating a better 
connected Intermountain West with greater economic opportunities. Both states have 
already implemented various planning, design, and construction projects for potential 
corridor components, with the most notable being the completion of the Hoover Dam 
Bypass and Mike O’Callaghan – Pat Tillman Memorial Bridge.

Developing a new north-south trade corridor through Nevada and Arizona could 
supplement the existing system and relieve freight congestion on I-5, one of only two 
(including I-15) continuous north-south Mexico-to-Canada interstate routes west of 
Texas. The CANAMEX corridor, established under the North American Free Trade 
Agreement, has been designated as such a parallel route, spanning the Western U.S. 
between Mexico and Canada through the states of Arizona, Nevada, Utah, Idaho, and 
Montana. However, this corridor is composed of a myriad of existing Interstate 
corridors and state highways, and is not a continuous route due to a gap in the 
designation between I-10 and US 93. Implementation of the Corridor can fill this gap – 
allowing significant commerce, tourism and international trade opportunities across the 
Western U.S.

Study Area
For study purposes the Corridor is divided into five segments—three high priority 
segments between (and including) the Las Vegas and Phoenix metropolitan areas, and 
two high-level visioning segments for possible future extensions from Las Vegas to 
Canada, and from Phoenix to Mexico.

Study Approach
This Corridor Vision Summary is part of the first phase of the study and establishes the 
basis for the project.

The second phase will include the Corridor Justification Report, in which the preliminary 
purpose and need for the Corridor will be developed, existing and future conditions 
reviewed, and the economic context for the Corridor established. One unique element of 
this project is the development of a Corridor Business Case to help determine the benefits 
and costs of the proposed corridor, and to identify possible funding scenarios and 
planning options for bringing it to fruition.

The third phase, Corridor Concept Development, will lead to the project’s 
recommendations. Alternatives will be developed and evaluated for the separate corridor 
segments, the corridor’s final purpose and need will be developed, the business case 
finalized, and implementation requirements outlined.

&&
INTERMOUNTAIN WEST 

CORRIDOR STUDY

I-11I-11I-11I-11

Purpose of the Corridor Vision Summary

The Corridor Vision Summary documents the previous planning efforts for the 

proposed I-11 corridor and its anticipated purpose, function, role, and value in 

the multimodal transportation network of the Western U.S. It also introduces 

the study process, public communication program, and a work plan developed 

to undertake the I-11 & Intermountain West Corridor Study.

The Arizona and Nevada Departments of 
Transportation are working together on 

the two-year Interstate 11 (I-11) and 
Intermountain West Corridor Study 
(Corridor) that includes detailed 
corridor planning of a possible high 
priority interstate link between 

Phoenix and Las Vegas (the I-11 portion), and 
high-level visioning for potentially extending 
the corridor north to Canada and south to 
Mexico. Congress recognized the importance 
of the portion of the corridor between Phoenix 
and Las Vegas and designated it as future I-11 
in the recent transportation authorization bill, 
Moving Ahead for Progress in the 21st 
Century Act (MAP-21).

A Visionary Transportation Corridor
I-11 is intended to be a new high-capacity, multimodal 
transportation facility connecting the metropolitan areas of 
Las Vegas and Phoenix. If extended north of Las Vegas and 
south of Phoenix, this corridor has the potential to become a 
major multimodal north-south transcontinental corridor 
through the Intermountain West. The Corridor would connect 
major cities, existing and future trade hubs, existing and 
future domestic and international deep-water ports, 
intersecting Interstate highways, and railroads. The corridor is 
proposed to include an upgraded highway facility, but could 
be paired with rail and other major infrastructure 
components—such as energy and telecommunications—to 
serve the nation’s needs from Mexico to Canada. There are a 
number of potential benefits, including:

• Connecting communities, major trade hubs, existing and 
future domestic and international deepwater ports, and 
intersecting transcontinental roadways and railroad 
corridors.

• Enhancing the economic vitality of communities 
connected and served by the corridor.

• Improving safety and travel time reliability for the 
movement of people and goods throughout the 
Intermountain West.

• Providing relief for congested north-south corridors in the 
Western United States, such as I-5 and I-15.

• Enhancing commercial opportunities by linking trade 
between Canada, Mexico and the Intermountain West.

• Increasing the global competitiveness of the region.

Work Program

Study Map

Attachment a



 
Attachment b



Attachment b



 

 

I - 1 1  AND  INTERMOUNTA IN  WEST  
CORR IDOR  STUDY 

Corridor Justification Report 

Prepared for 

Nevada Department of Transportation 
and 

Arizona Department of Transportation  

July 2, 2013 

 and  
 

In association with: 
HDR, Inc., ESI Corporation, and Partners for Strategic Action, Inc. 

Attachment b



 

 
iv  

DISCLAIMER 

The contents of this planning document are based on information available to the 
Arizona Department of Transportation and the Nevada Department of Transportation 
(herein referred to as the Sponsoring Agencies) as of the date of this report. 
Accordingly, this report may be subject to change.  

The Sponsoring Agencies’ acceptance of this report as evidence of fulfillment of the 
objectives of this planning study does not constitute endorsement/approval of any 
recommended improvements nor does it constitute approval of their location and 
design or a commitment to fund any such improvements. Additional project-level 
environmental impact assessments and/or studies of alternatives will be necessary.  

The Sponsoring Agencies do not warrant the use of this report, or any information 
contained in this report, for use or consideration by any third party. Nor do the 
Sponsoring Agencies accept any liability arising out of reliance by a third party on this 
report, or any information contained in this report. Any use or reliance by third parties 
is at their own risk. 

Attachment b



 

 
 v 

  Executive Summary 
 

The I-11 and Intermountain West 
Corridor 
The Arizona Department of Transportation and Nevada Department of 
Transportation are working together on the 2-year Interstate 11 (I-11) and 
Intermountain West Corridor Study that includes detailed corridor planning of 
a possible high-priority Interstate link between Phoenix, Arizona, and 
Las Vegas, Nevada (I-11), as well as high-level visioning for potentially 
extending the Corridor north to Canada and south to Mexico (the 
Intermountain West Corridor). The Corridor is proposed to include an 
upgraded highway facility, but it could be paired with rail and other major 
infrastructure components—such as energy and telecommunications—to 
serve the nation’s needs from Mexico to Canada. 

For the purposes of this study, the Intermountain West is the geographic 
region of the western United States (U.S.) located between the Rocky 
Mountains on the east and the Cascade Range and Sierra Nevada on the west. 
This region is facing a rapidly growing population, expanding global trade, and 
an aging transportation infrastructure that is reaching capacity. 

In addition to the designation of the CANAMEX High Priority Corridor in 1995, 
recently enacted federal transportation legislation called Moving Ahead for 
Progress in the 21st Century (MAP-21) designates I-11 as a future Interstate 
between Phoenix and Las Vegas. In approving the I-11 designation, Congress 
recognized the need for, and importance of, an Interstate link between these 
two metropolitan areas.  

Overview of the Corridor Study 
The purpose of this report is to determine whether sufficient justification 
exists for a new high-speed transportation corridor, and if so, to establish and 
characterize the likely range of future transportation demand in the region 
that would give rise to the need for a new I-11 and Intermountain 
West Corridor. 

This study is the first part of a planned two-phase process to illustrate and 
document the state of transportation capacity, supply, and future growth in 
the Intermountain West Corridor, and to assess the potential suitability of the 
proposed I-11 and Intermountain West Corridor linking Phoenix and Las Vegas 
in addressing future needs. The next study phase will provide support for and 
define the modal and alignment characteristics of an appropriate I-11 and 
Intermountain West Corridor and the economic benefits expected to result. 

This region is facing a 
rapidly growing 
population, expanding 
global trade, and an 
aging transportation 
infrastructure that is 
reaching capacity and 
not expected to sustain 
future growth. 

Key justifications for the 
I-11 and Intermountain West 
Corridor: 

 Enable economic 
development 
 Add needed north-south 

capacity 
 Integrate the economies 

of the Southwest Triangle 
megaregion and improve 
connections to other 
regions 
 Capitalize on Mexico’s 

growing role in North 
American manufacturing 
and trade 
 Support economic 

development Initiatives of 
Arizona and Nevada 
 Prevent congestion from 

crippling economic 
competitiveness 
 Comply with enabling 

federal legislation 

Attachment b



E X E C U T I V E  S U M M A R Y  

 
vi 

The Study Area 
The study area includes the entire states of Arizona and Nevada, 
although more detailed planning will occur in concentrated study 
segments. The principal project goal is to identify and establish 
feasible corridor(s) and transportation connections for the portion of 
the study corridor between Phoenix and Las Vegas, with options for 
extensions to the north and south. Because of its length and varying 
characteristics, this Corridor segment is divided into three sections. 
Two additional segments beyond the Phoenix and Las Vegas 
metropolitan areas will allow higher-level visioning for potential 
extensions (Figure ES-1).  

Initial Findings 
This report will show that further study of the I-11 and Intermountain 
West Corridor is indeed justified and that the Corridor is needed for 
the following key reasons: 

 Transportation is a key enabler of economic development.  

 There is currently a lack of sufficient north-south capacity for 
existing goods movement or any increase in economic activity in 
Arizona and Nevada. 

 The effective integration of the economies of the Southwest 
Triangle megaregion (Southern California, Sun Corridor, and 
Las Vegas) will require continuing investment in transportation 
capacity over the planning horizon of the study. This megaregion, 
and particularly the cities of Phoenix and Las Vegas, are poorly 
served by surface transportation when compared to other U.S. 
cities of comparable size and proximity, and the areas lacks 
sufficient connectivity to the rest of the Intermountain West.  

 Current developments in the structure of the North American economy 
and the role of Mexico in North American manufacturing and trade have 
the potential to add substantial economic growth and transportation 
demand to north-south transportation corridors in the region, further 
exacerbating the congestion described above. 

 Economic development initiatives underway by Arizona and Nevada, 
which are focused on selected cluster targets in aerospace, life sciences, 
and other high-value manufactured goods, rely on high-quality 
transportation corridors for mobility of raw materials, finished products, 
and workers. The success of state economic development initiatives will 
depend on continuing transportation investment to maintain 
competitiveness. 

 Over the planning horizon of the study, ongoing and established growth 
trends will result in a significant increase in the portion of the states’ 
highways reaching unacceptable levels of congestion, posing a significant 
threat to economic competitiveness. 

Figure ES-1. Study Area Segments 

Attachment b



E X E C U T I V E  S U M M A R Y  

 
 vii 

 The significance of this Corridor has already been recognized by Congress 
through its designation of I-11 as a future Interstate between Phoenix and 
Las Vegas, and previous congressional action in 1995 designating 
CANAMEX as a High Priority Corridor. Other High Priority Corridors in the 
Intermountain West relevant to this study are US 395 from Reno to 
Canada, US 95/I-580 from Reno to Las Vegas, and US 95 from the 
Idaho/Oregon state border to Canada. 

Taken together, the current state of surface transportation in the region 
supports the need for sustained investment in incremental capacity, with a 
particular emphasis on north-south corridors, over the time frame of this 
study. The second part of the current assignment will address the 
quantification of transportation demand shortfalls in the Corridor, suggest the 
appropriate range of modes to address this shortfall, and confirm the role that 
the I-11 and Intermountain West Corridor may be able to play in addressing in 
this shortfall. 

Growing Opportunities in the Region  
Current global and regional trends are creating demands for new 
transportation links. It is now more cost-effective to manufacture and import 
goods from Mexico than it is from Asia Pacific, increasing the need for 
high-capacity, north-south transportation infrastructure. The transportation 
network in the Intermountain West was developed decades ago to serve the 
economic, population, and mobility needs at that time—east-west movement 
of people and goods between Southern California and the rest of the country. 
The need is now shifting to north-south demand. 

The emerging Southwest Triangle, with a population approaching 30 million, 
(Figure ES-2) consists of three main centers of growth: Southern California, the 
Sun Corridor, and the Greater Mojave Region centered around Las Vegas. 

Figure ES-2. The Southwest Triangle: Expanding Megapolitans 

 

Current global and 
regional trends are 
creating demands for 
new north-south 
transportation links. 

The Southwest Triangle is 
on a trajectory to be the 
strongest American 
region that maintains 
linkages to the world’s 
fastest emerging 
economies in both Asia 
and Latin America. 

This region has the 
weakest ground-based 
transportation 
connectivity of any U.S. 
megapolitan cluster, 
especially between 
Phoenix and Las Vegas. 

Attachment b



E X E C U T I V E  S U M M A R Y  

 
viii 

The Southwest Triangle is on a trajectory to be the strongest American region 
that maintains linkages to the world’s fastest emerging economies in both Asia 
and Latin America. For the last half century, Southern California has built 
America’s most significant connections to Asia, displacing San Francisco as the 
nation’s leading region for this trade. Southern California is now hyperlinked 
to Asia, and Las Vegas and the Sun Corridor are actively engaged in 
establishing new trade with Latin America.  

The key issue now is to determine what infrastructure improvements would 
facilitate greater economic integration of this megaregion. This region has the 
weakest ground-based transportation connectivity of any U.S. megapolitan 
cluster. The Southwest Triangle, especially Phoenix and Las Vegas, has an 
underdeveloped Interstate network that does not meet current demand—
which is expected to double between these cities by 2040 (Nelson and 
Lang 2011). 

How the I-11 and Intermountain West Corridor Has 
Evolved Over the Past Two Decades 

Corridor concepts for a transportation facility through 
the Intermountain West have been suggested and 
studied at various levels of detail over the past several 
decades. The first major study began with the 1991 
Intermodal Surface Transportation Efficiency Act 
legislation where the Federal Highway Administration 
(FHWA) designated a series of High Priority Corridors 
for federal funding, to the more recently enacted 
federal transportation legislation, MAP-21, which 
designates I-11 as a future Interstate between the 
Phoenix and Las Vegas metropolitan areas 
(Figure ES-3). 

Preliminary Business Case 
Foundation 
The I-11 and Intermountain West Corridor has the 
potential to play a transformative role for both the 
Intermountain West and the nation in facilitating and 
shaping trade patterns and related economic growth 
in the Southwest. 

The Business Case Foundation is intended to address a 
key fundamental question: Is the I-11 and 
Intermountain West Corridor worthy of future 
investment? A two-step process is used to answer this 

question. The first step, the Preliminary Business Case Foundation, considers 
four possible future economic scenarios that might exist alone or in 

Figure ES-3. I-11 Corridor as Identified in MAP-21 
Legislation 

Attachment b



E X E C U T I V E  S U M M A R Y  

 
 ix 

combination when the Corridor is completed, and it provides a qualitative 
evaluation and preliminary analysis of the potential economic impact the 
Corridor might have. 

The next step, the Final Business Case, will be completed at the end of this 
study and will provide additional analyses refinements and a further 
understanding of the potential economic impacts that an I-11 Corridor could 
have in Arizona and Nevada. 

Four Possible Future Economic Scenarios 
1. Baseline Scenario. This scenario serves as the background against which 

the results of the other scenarios are compared. Generally, this scenario 
reflects a continuation of recent background growth in the region and of 
current trends, without major structural changes. It is presented as the 
highly probable economic future of the region, in the absence of 
significant changes from the recent past. 

2. Growth in Asia Pacific Trade Scenario. This scenario is based on continued 
growth of the trade flows with Asia that have characterized West Coast 
trade during recent decades. This scenario is predicated on the continued 
growth in U.S. imports of a wide array of low-cost consumer goods from 
China and other low-cost Asian sources. This scenario assumes that 
current trends in manufacturing in the Asia Pacific region continue and 
that the U.S. continues to receive a growing volume of goods from Asia.  

3. Trade with Mexico Expands (Nearshoring) Scenario. This scenario 
assumes that Asia Pacific manufacturing for the U.S. market flattens and 
significant production growth occurs in Mexico (nearshoring). Nearshoring 
refers to the current trend of moving manufactured goods production, 
much of which was previously in Asia, to Mexico. Since the enactment of 
the North American Free Trade Agreement, bilateral trade has grown 
exponentially and reached a record high of nearly $400 billion in 2010. 
Mexico’s gross domestic product growth of 5.4 percent in 2010 resulted in 
a $35 billion increase in Mexican purchases from the U.S. (New Policy 
Institute 2012). This trend reflects the advantages of Mexico’s proximity to 
the U.S. market and its growing strength as the 14th largest economy in 
the world. In addition, China’s labor cost advantage in relation to Mexico’s 
is estimated to have shrunk to 14 percent (Thunderbird School of Global 
Management n.d.).  

4. State Economic Development Plans are Fully Realized Scenario. This 
scenario assumes that Arizona and Nevada are able to realize their major 
economic development goals. A cornerstone of their plans is the 
implementation of an industry cluster-based approach to foster economic 
sustainability by stimulating growth in key sectors—such as aerospace, life 
sciences, and other high-value manufactured goods—and increasing trade 
with Mexico and Canada. The end result is a group of industry clusters that 

The increased 
economic activity 
associated with the 
Growth in Asia Pacific 
Trade Scenario results in 
a greater number of 
vehicles throughout the 
region, exacerbating 
the already congested 
urban Interstates and 
some regional routes. 

The Nearshoring 
Scenario would add 
demand for north-to-
south transportation 
facilities, including this 
Corridor as a result of 
significant production 
growth occurring in 
Mexico. The modeled 
economic output in 
Arizona and Nevada, 
and resulting 
congestion, are greatest 
with this scenario.  

 
Many of the industry 
clusters in Arizona and 
Nevada rely on a robust 
transportation 
infrastructure for the 
movement of goods 
and access to 
customers.  

Attachment b



E X E C U T I V E  S U M M A R Y  

 
x 

has the ability to generate economic growth both in the short and 
long term. 

Each of the scenarios examined has the potential to make a major 
contribution to the economic well-being of the region’s residents, bringing up 
to an additional half a million people and 240,000 employees to the region 
over the next 25 years. The specifics of the modeled increases in economic 
output, population, and employment are shown in Table ES-1. 

Table ES-1. Key Modeled Results Corresponding to Each Scenario 

Scenario 

Economic 
Output 

($ billions) 
Population  

(high range) 
Employment  
(high range) 

Unacceptably 
Congested 

Highways (%) 

Current Conditions (2011) 634 9,253,806 4,711,352 9 

Projected Baseline Conditions 
(2040) 

911 15,078,114  6,934,707  28  

Growth in Asia Pacific Trade 924−937 15,398,688 (2.1%) 7,082,049 (2.1%) 34 

Trade with Mexico Expands 
(Nearshoring) 

928−953 15,599,549 (3.5%) 7,174,171 (3.5%) Up to 43 

State Economic Development 
Plans are Fully Realized 

919−927 15,264,701 (1.2%) 7,020,407 (1.2%) 34 

A brief consideration of the range of current and anticipated trends in U.S. 
trade, together with the natural geographic advantages of the Intermountain 
West region, suggests that the region will, under the entire range of 
alternative future scenarios considered, experience significant sustained 
growth in the regional economy, accompanied by corresponding growth in 
travel demand.  

The level of highway congestion associated with some of these possible 
economic futures (Figure ES-4 shows the projected congestion under the 
Nearshoring Scenario) suggests that additional investment in transportation 
infrastructure is likely required to realize the full extent of these benefits. In 
fact, the levels of system congestion for the scenarios examined suggest that 
without additional system capacity such as the I-11 Corridor, even the most 
conservative growth scenarios may not be realized due to the constraining 
factor of transportation congestion. By strategically enhancing regional 
transportation infrastructure, the region has the opportunity to enjoy full 
access to the significant incremental and economic growth related to 
important trends in regional and national trade.  

The region will, under 
the entire range of 
alternative future 
scenarios considered, 
experience significant 
sustained growth in the 
regional economy, 
accompanied by 
corresponding growth in 
travel demand.  

Attachment b



E X E C U T I V E  S U M M A R Y  

 
 xi 

Figure ES-4. Projected Congestion under the Nearshoring Scenario  

 
Sources: Arizona Department of Transportation 2012k, California Department of Finance 2012, Florida Department of 
Transportation 2012, Maricopa Association of Governments 2012b, Nevada Department of Transportation 2012f 

 

Attachment b



E X E C U T I V E  S U M M A R Y  

 
xii 

The increasing importance of Mexico as a trading partner, the emergence of 
nearshoring as an important and strongly growing structural feature of 
U.S. commerce, and the continuation of the historic growth of the region all 
suggest that during the next few decades the Intermountain West region’s 
demands on its transportation infrastructure will grow strongly.  

The high levels of congestion in Southern California (Figure ES-4) suggest that 
a high-quality, north-south corridor in the Intermountain West such as I-11 has 
the potential to become the corridor of choice for trade-related traffic to and 
from Mexico, particularly should the nearshoring phenomenon continue to 
grow. When the current preference for supply chain reliability and resilience 
to support just-in-time delivery in integrated manufacturing and distribution 
systems is factored in, the potential attractiveness of the I-11 Corridor is 
further strengthened. Analysis in the next project phase will further examine 
the implications of these insights. 

 

By strategically 
enhancing regional 
transportation 
infrastructure, the region 
has the opportunity to 
enjoy full access to the 
significant incremental 
and economic growth 
related to important 
trends in regional and 
national trade.  

Attachment b



 

 
 xiii 

  Contents 
 

Executive Summary ... . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . v 

1. Introduction and Overview ... . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  1  

2. Population and Economic Development  Trends .. . . . . .  15  

3. Exist ing and Future Transport  Characterist ics .. . . . . . . . .  25  

4. Preliminary Business Case Foundation .. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  51  

5. Stakeholder and Community Input .. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  77  

6. Next Steps .. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  83  

7. Acronyms and Abbreviations .. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  85  

8. References .. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  87  
 

 
Appendices  

A Past Planning Studies and Strategies 
B Economic Development and Demographic Trends 
C Exist ing and Future Transport Characterist ics 
 

Attachment b



Attachment b



 

 
  1 

 1. Introduction and Overview 

The I-11 and Intermountain West 
Corridor 
The Arizona Department of Transportation (ADOT) and Nevada Department of 
Transportation (NDOT) are working together on the 2-year Interstate 11 (I-11) 
and Intermountain West Corridor Study that includes detailed corridor 
planning of a possible high priority Interstate link between Phoenix, Arizona, 
and Las Vegas, Nevada (I-11), as well as high-level visioning for potentially 
extending the Corridor north to Canada and south to Mexico (the 
Intermountain West Corridor). The Corridor is proposed to include an 
upgraded highway facility, but it could be paired with rail and other major 
infrastructure components—such as energy and telecommunications—to 
serve the nation’s needs from Mexico to Canada. 

For the purposes of this study, the Intermountain West is the geographic 
region of the western United States (U.S.) located between the Rocky 
Mountains on the east and the Cascade Range and Sierra Nevada on the 
west (Figure 1-1). This region is facing a rapidly growing population, expanding 
global trade, and an aging transportation infrastructure that is 
reaching capacity. 

In addition to the designation of the CANAMEX High Priority Corridor in 1995, 
recently enacted federal transportation legislation called Moving Ahead for 
Progress in the 21st Century (MAP-21) designates I-11 as a future Interstate 
between Phoenix and Las Vegas. In approving the I-11 designation, Congress 
recognized the need for, and importance of, an Interstate link between these 
two metropolitan areas.  

Overview of the Corridor Study 
The purpose of this report is to determine whether sufficient justification 
exists for a new high-speed transportation corridor, and if so, to establish and 
characterize the likely range of future transportation demand in the region 
that would give rise to the need for a new I-11 and Intermountain 
West Corridor. 

This study is the first part of a planned two-phase process to illustrate and 
document the state of transportation capacity, supply, and future growth in 
the I-11 and Intermountain West Corridor, and to assess the potential 
suitability of the proposed Corridor linking Phoenix and Las Vegas in 
addressing future needs. The next phase will provide support for and define 
the modal and alignment characteristics of an appropriate I-11 and 
Intermountain West Corridor and the economic benefits expected to result 
from it.  

Key justifications for the 
I-11 and Intermountain West 
Corridor: 

 Enable economic 
development 
 Add needed north-south 

capacity 
 Integrate the economies of 

the Southwest Triangle 
megaregion and improve 
connections to other 
regions 
 Capitalize on Mexico’s 

growing role in North 
American manufacturing 
and trade 
 Support economic 

development initiatives of 
Arizona and Nevada 
 Prevent congestion from 

crippling economic 
competitiveness 
 Comply with enabling 

federal legislation 

This region is facing a 
rapidly growing 
population, expanding 
global trade, and an 
aging transportation 
infrastructure that is 
reaching capacity and 
not expected to sustain 
future growth. 

Attachment b



1.  IN T R O D U C T I O N  A N D  OV E R V I E W 

 
2 

The Study Area 
The study area includes the entire states of Arizona and 
Nevada, although more detailed planning will occur in 
concentrated study segments. The principal project goal is to 
identify and establish feasible corridor(s) and transportation 
connections for the portion of the study corridor between 
Phoenix and Las Vegas, with options for extensions to the 
north and south. Because of its length and varying 
characteristics, this Corridor segment is divided into three 
sections. Two additional segments beyond the Phoenix and 
Las Vegas metropolitan areas will allow higher-level visioning 
for potential extensions (Figure 1-1). A general study vicinity 
map is presented in Figure 1-2 that illustrates the MAP-21 
I-11 designation, Interstate highway corridors, Class I railroad 
facilities, county boundaries, and major corridor cities.  

The I-11 Corridor divisions are as follows: 

 Southern Arizona Future Connectivity Segment: Mexico to 
Casa Grande  

 Priority Corridor Section 1: Phoenix Metropolitan Area 
(Casa Grande to Wickenburg)  

 Priority Corridor Section 2: Northern Arizona/Southern 
Nevada (Wickenburg to the Las Vegas Metropolitan Area)  

 Priority Corridor Section 3: Las Vegas Metropolitan Area  

 Northern Nevada Future Connectivity Segment: Beyond 
the Las Vegas Metropolitan Area 

 The study includes two levels of analysis over a 24-month 
schedule: 

 Detailed planning for the high-priority I-11 segment 
between (and including) Phoenix and Las Vegas 

 A high-level visioning approach to possible future 
connectivity segments from Las Vegas to Canada and from 
Phoenix to Mexico 

Initial Findings 
This report will show that further study of the I-11 and Intermountain West 
Corridor is indeed justified and that the Corridor is needed for the following 
key reasons: 

 Transportation is a key enabler of economic development.  

 There is currently a lack of sufficient north-south capacity for existing 
goods movement or any increase in economic activity in Arizona 
and Nevada. 

Figure 1-1. Study Area Segments 

Attachment b



1.  IN T R O D U C T I O N  A N D  OV E R V I E W 

 
 3 

Figure 1-2. General Study Vicinity Map 

  

Attachment b



1.  IN T R O D U C T I O N  A N D  OV E R V I E W 

 
4 

 The effective integration of the economies of the Southwest Triangle 
megaregion (Southern California, Sun Corridor, and Las Vegas) will require 
continuing investment in transportation capacity over the planning 
horizon of the study. This megaregion, and particularly the cities of 
Phoenix and Las Vegas, are poorly served by surface transportation when 
compared to other U.S. cities of comparable size and proximity, and the 
area lacks sufficient connectivity to the rest of the Intermountain West. 

 Current developments in the structure of the North American economy 
and the role of Mexico in North American manufacturing and trade have 
the potential to add substantial economic growth and transportation 
demand to north-south transportation corridors in the region, further 
exacerbating the congestion described above. 

 Economic development initiatives underway by the states of Arizona and 
Nevada, which are focused on selected cluster targets in aerospace, life 
sciences, and other high-value manufactured goods, rely on high-quality 
transportation corridors for mobility of raw materials, finished products, 
and workers. The success of state economic development initiatives will 
depend on continuing transportation investment to maintain 
competitiveness. 

 Over the planning horizon of the study, ongoing and established growth 
trends will result in a significant increase in the portion of the states’ 
highways reaching unacceptable levels of congestion, posing a significant 
threat to economic competitiveness. 

 The significance of the I-11 and Intermountain West Corridor has already 
been recognized by Congress through its designation of I-11 as a future 
Interstate between Phoenix and Las Vegas, and previous congressional 
action in 1995 designating CANAMEX as a High Priority Corridor. Other 
High Priority Corridors in the Intermountain West relevant to this study 
are US 395 from Reno to Canada, US 95/I-580 from Reno to Las Vegas, and 
US 95 from the Idaho/Oregon state border to Canada. 

Taken together, the current state of surface transportation in the region 
supports the need for sustained investment in incremental capacity, with a 
particular emphasis on north-south corridors, over the time frame of this 
study. The second part of the current assignment will address the 
quantification of transportation demand shortfalls in the Corridor, suggest the 
appropriate range of modes to address this shortfall, and confirm the role that 
the I-11 and Intermountain West Corridor may be able to play in addressing in 
this shortfall. 

Growing Opportunities in the Region  
Current global and regional trends are creating demands for new 
transportation links. It is now more cost-effective to manufacture and import 
goods from Mexico than it is from Asia Pacific, increasing the need for 
high-capacity, north-south transportation infrastructure. The transportation 
network in the Intermountain West was developed decades ago to serve the 

Current global and 
regional trends are 
creating demands for 
new north-south 
transportation links. 

Megapolitans are key 
areas of integration with 
world trade and are 
characterized by 
interlocking economic 
systems, shared natural 
resources and 
ecosystems, and 
common transportation 
systems. 

Attachment b



1.  IN T R O D U C T I O N  A N D  OV E R V I E W 

 
 5 

economic, population, and mobility needs at that time—east-west movement 
of people and goods between Southern California and the rest of the country. 
The need is now shifting to north-south demand. 

Investment in regional transportation infrastructure has not kept pace with 
population growth and changing economic trends. The population of the 
Intermountain West states (Arizona, Idaho, Montana, Nevada, Oregon, Utah, 
and Washington) is currently 25 million. Between 2000 and 2010, the rate of 
growth for the Intermountain West states was 19.6 percent—double that of 
the U.S. as a whole, which grew at a rate of 9.8 percent. Population and 
economic growth in Arizona and Nevada are expected to continue to outpace 
the U.S. average.  

Without strategic improvements in transportation infrastructure, the region 
will lose the opportunity to capitalize on enhanced economic growth related 
to important trends in regional and national trade. For instance, 
manufacturing growth in Arizona and Nevada exceeded the U.S. average, 
indicating a strengthening economic sector that is strongly linked with 
transportation demand. State economic development departments are 
focused on diversifying the Arizona and Nevada economies to target industry 
clusters that rely heavily on interconnected and efficient transportation 
systems to both transport goods and facilitate business attraction/retention. 

Economic Opportunities Created by Connected 
Megaregions 
The Brookings Institution, Regional Plan Association, and others have 
developed and furthered the concept of “megapolitans” as the key U.S. areas 
of integration with world trade (Regional Plan Association 2005) (Figure 1-3).  

A megapolitan, of which 11 have been designated in the U.S., can be defined 
as a conglomeration of two or more intertwined metropolitan areas with a 
combined population of 5 million or more. A megapolitan is characterized by 
interlocking economic systems, shared natural resources and ecosystems, and 
common transportation systems. The U.S. megapolitan areas contain most of 
the nation’s major ports and international airports, and their assets give them 
a large presence in world trade (Nelson and Lang 2011). 

Efficient mobility is a major competitive advantage in the global playing field, 
where time savings create value. Our competitors in Asia and Europe are 
creating Global Integration Zones by linking specialized economic functions 
across vast geographic areas and national boundaries with high-speed rail and 
dedicated goods movement systems. The increased mobility of workers, 
business travelers, and goods between the cities of these megapolitans 
enables greater collaboration, flexibility, and innovation.  

 

Efficient mobility is a 
major competitive 
advantage in the global 
playing field. 

Linked metropolitan 
areas create 
megapolitans. Linked 
megapolitans create 
megaregions which 
foster economic 
cooperation 
and security. 

Attachment b



1.  IN T R O D U C T I O N  A N D  OV E R V I E W 

 
6 

Figure 1-3. Megapolitan Areas in the Continental United States and Southern Canada 

Source: Regional Plan Association 2005 

 
 

Improving and maintaining megapolitan infrastructure is an important national 
priority, especially for the Southwest, which seeks more trade and exports as a 
way to diversify its economy from consumption and real estate toward 
technology, innovation, and high-value manufacturing. The megapolitan 
capacity for trade is a key element in this economic transition. Failure to 
establish adequate infrastructure to move people and goods around the 
country and the region would significantly constrain future economic growth. 

The old notion of urban rivalry among proximate cities and metropolitan areas 
is giving way to a new concept that such regions share significant business 
linkages and are now part of a larger economic system. Linking the economies 
of several large megapolitan areas into larger megaregions (also referred to as 
megapolitan clusters) seems like a huge undertaking; however, one need not 
look far for successful examples: the Texas Triangle megaregion and the larger 
North America’s SuperCorridor Coalition (NASCO) corridor.  

Fifty years ago, Dallas and Fort Worth were considered competitors. They now 
form the key anchors in the Dallas-Fort Worth Metroplex. On a larger scale, a 
similar convergence has occurred among the metropolitan areas of Dallas-Fort 
Worth-Houston-San Antonio-Austin in the so-called Texas Triangle. This 
megaregion specializes in sectors such as energy, technology, and 

In many respects, the 
Southwest Triangle is 
larger than the Texas 
Triangle—in both area 
and population—yet it 
lacks an Interstate 
highway system and rail 
connecting all three 
legs. 

The Southwest Triangle 
Megaregion and the 
Intermountain West 
have an opportunity to 
mirror the successes of 
the Texas Triangle and 
the NASCO Corridor. 

Attachment b



1.  IN T R O D U C T I O N  A N D  OV E R V I E W 

 
 7 

Figure 1-4. Evolution of Dallas-Fort Worth  
Metroplex – Texas Triangle – NASCO Corridor 

 

Source: NASCO 2012 

trade/logistics, where shared producer services among the 
major metropolitan areas generate a critical mass and 
competitive advantage that lifts the combined regions to the 
top of the global hierarchy in these sectors. 

The Texas Triangle megaregion has merged with other cities 
in the Great Plains to form NASCO (Figure 1-4). The mission 
of NASCO is to increase development along a north-south 
trade corridor through promotion of a sustainable, secure, 
and efficient trade and transportation system. The corridor 
runs from Pacific ports in Mexico, through Texas and the 
U.S. Great Plains, through Winnipeg, Manitoba, and points 
farther north in Canada. It includes various highways and rail 
lines; inland ports such as Alliance, Texas, and SmartPort in 
Kansas City; and deep-water ports such as Lazaro Cardenas 
and Manzanillo in Mexico. This multimodal transportation 
network connects 71 million people and supports the 
movement of approximately $1 trillion in annual commerce 
between the three nations.  

Southwest Triangle Megaregion 
The emerging Southwest Triangle, with a population 
approaching 30 million (Figure 1-5), consists of three main 
centers of growth: 

 Southern California, which includes more than 20 million  
 residents from San Diego to Santa Barbara 

 The Sun Corridor, which is the combined Phoenix and  
 Tucson metropolitan areas and home to nearly 6 million  
 people 

 The Greater Mojave Region centered around Las Vegas 

This megaregion is linked by transportation, economy, and 
environment. Major international airports anchor each of 
the three subregions. Ground-based transportation includes 
several major Interstates but no passenger rail capacity. 
A proposed high-speed rail link that would connect Southern 
California to Las Vegas is under study. Various other 
infrastructure improvements (such as aviation, highway, and 
freight rail) are underway throughout the megaregion. 

Attachment b



1.  IN T R O D U C T I O N  A N D  OV E R V I E W 

 
8 

The major regions in this Southwest Triangle share numerous economic 
interdependencies in sectors such as logistics, healthcare, entertainment, 
tourism, and technology. Surrounded by deserts, Las Vegas and the 
Sun Corridor are actively engaged in research and development, equipment 

manufacturing, and green energy production (wind and solar, as well as 
geothermal energy production).  

The Southwest Triangle is on a trajectory to be the strongest American region 
that maintains linkages to the world’s fastest emerging economies in both Asia 
and Latin America. For the last half century, Southern California has built 
America’s most significant connections to Asia, displacing San Francisco as the 
nation’s leading region for this trade. Southern California is now hyperlinked 
to Asia, and Las Vegas and the Sun Corridor are actively engaged in 
establishing new trade with Latin America. 

The key issue now is to determine what infrastructure improvements would 
facilitate greater economic integration of this megaregion. This area already 
has one of the most densely linked air systems of any region in the country, 
with 2 of the 10 ten busiest air corridors, including Los Angeles-Las Vegas and 
Los Angeles-Phoenix (Brookings Institution 2009a).  

This region also has the weakest ground-based transportation connectivity of 
any U.S. megaregion. The Southwest Triangle, especially Phoenix and 
Las Vegas, has an underdeveloped Interstate network that does not meet 
current demand—which is expected to double between these cities by 2040.  

This is the only megaregion where there is a gap in the Interstate system 
between megapolitan anchors. The Texas Triangle megaregion maintains full 
Interstate connections between its major metropolitan areas, with I-10, I-35, 
and I-45 framing out the triangle. By contrast, the Southwest Triangle is 
missing a key Interstate (the proposed I-11) between Las Vegas and Phoenix. 

The Southwest Triangle is 
on a trajectory to be the 
strongest American 
region that maintains 
linkages to the world’s 
fastest emerging 
economies in both Asia 
and Latin America. 

This region has the 
weakest ground-based 
transportation 
connectivity of any U.S. 
megapolitan cluster, 
especially between 
Phoenix and Las Vegas. 

Figure 1-5. The Southwest Triangle: Expanding Megapolitans 

 

Attachment b



1.  IN T R O D U C T I O N  A N D  OV E R V I E W 

 
 9 

In addition, the lane miles between the key megapolitans is also limited 
compared to peer megaregions. Consider that the Piedmont region in the East 
extends from Raleigh, North Carolina, to Atlanta, Georgia, with large stretches 
of I-85 that exceed four lanes lining these metropolitan areas. By contrast, 
most of I-10 linking the Sun Corridor to Southern California and I-15 linking 
Las Vegas to Southern California are mostly four-lane standard 
Interstate-gauge roads. With no direct rail service between the two 
metropolitan areas, and only minimal intercity bus service, the region has not 
kept pace with evolving needs.  

Figure 1-6 shows key freight corridors, major transportation and rail 
connections, key bottlenecks in metropolitan areas, and the nation’s global 
gateways. This map is useful for comparing the infrastructure and connections 
between the major megaregions for both the Texas Triangle and Southwest 
Triangle (outlined in green).  

Figure 1-6. North American Freight Network 

Source: America2050.org 

The Texas Triangle is well connected with freight rail corridors (owned by BNSF 
Railway and the Union Pacific Railroad [UPRR]) between each of the four 
major cities and three Interstate highways delineating the triangle (I-35, I-45, 
and I-10). The three legs of this triangle carry medium to high freight volumes 

Attachment b



1.  IN T R O D U C T I O N  A N D  OV E R V I E W 

 
10 

on both the Interstate highway and rail networks. As shown on the map, these 
connections attract more international trade through flows from Houston 
and Laredo.  
The Southwest Triangle, with a population larger than that of the Texas 
Triangle (Table 1-1), has significant international connections. The 
international trade through Los Angeles and Long Beach is the largest in the 
country, and the majority of goods are handled on the congested California 
freeways, including I-5 for goods traveling north-south. Most of these goods 
are moving north or east for distribution throughout the U.S.—traveling 
throughout the Southwest Triangle and on to other points. Shifting trade 
trends from Asia to Latin America increase the demand for north-south 
travel corridors.  

Table 1-1. Southwest Triangle Population 

  Texas Triangle  
(Austin, Dallas, Houston, 

San Antonio MSAs*) 

 
Southwest Triangle  

(13 Counties) 

Population (2010) 16,205,427 28,715,328 

Population (2040) 32,397,713 37,138,853 
Sources: Arizona Department of Administration, Office of Employment and Population 
Statistics 2012a, Texas State Data Center 2012 

*An MSA (Metropolitan Statistical Area) is used by the U.S. Census Bureau as a statistical 
measure, defined as a geographical region with a relatively high population density and 
close economic ties throughout the area. Such regions are generally an agglomeration of 
nearby cities and towns (sometimes the political units within a metropolitan area). 

The lack of connections and transportation infrastructure in the Southwest 
Triangle makes freight flows from and to Mexico more attractive through 
Texas border crossings than through Arizona border crossings such as Nogales. 
Figure 1-6 highlights the lack of both rail and Interstate highway connections 
between the major cities in the Southwest Triangle. 

Providing an alternate north-south connection in the western U.S. is crucial to 
ensure timely, efficient, and competitive trade. The Corridor provides an 
opportunity to fill this transportation gap in terms of efficient high-speed, 
domestic north-south travel. It also provides potential expeditious linkages 
between existing and future foreign ports and critical east-west, high-speed 
transportation corridors in the U.S., the junctions of which can provide 
significant regional economic development opportunities. The Corridor has the 
potential to become one of the first north-south, high-capacity routes through 
the Intermountain West that could greatly improve commerce, tourism, and 
international trade opportunities across the West. 

The proposal for the I-11 Corridor to link Phoenix and Las Vegas via a direct, 
high-capacity, limited-access highway and/or rail facility would fix a major, 
longstanding deficit in the region’s passenger and freight transportation 
network, allowing Phoenix and Las Vegas to emerge as major logistics centers 
in the Southwest, much like Atlanta and Dallas-Fort Worth in the 

The I-11 and 
Intermountain West 
Corridor will allow 
Phoenix and Las Vegas 
to emerge as major 
logistics centers in the 
Southwest and facilitate 
trade and tourist travel 
between Arizona and 
Nevada, which would 
enable this region to 
better compete in the 
global economy. 

I-11 and the 
Intermountain West 
Corridor completes the 
Southwest Triangle—
providing an ideal trade 
corridor with Mexico 
(bypassing the 
congested corridors of 
Southern California) and 
linking it to the largest 
international trade ports 
in the country: Los 
Angeles and 
Long Beach. 

Attachment b



1.  IN T R O D U C T I O N  A N D  OV E R V I E W 

 
 11 

South-Southeast. Additionally, this route could facilitate trade and tourist 
travel between Arizona and Nevada and would enable this region to better 
compete in the global economy.  

How the I-11 and 
Intermountain West Corridor 
Has Evolved Over the Past 
Two Decades 
Corridor concepts for a transportation facility through 
the Intermountain West have been suggested and 
studied at various levels of detail over the past several 
decades. The first major study began with the 1991 
Intermodal Surface Transportation Efficiency Act 
legislation where the Federal Highway Administration 
(FHWA) designated a series of High Priority Corridors 
for federal funding, to the more recently enacted 
federal transportation legislation, MAP-21, which 
designates I-11 as a future Interstate between the 
Phoenix and Las Vegas metropolitan areas (Figure 1-7). 

Initiation of an approach for comprehensive corridor 
implementation was more recently advanced by the 
Maricopa Association of Governments (MAG), the 
Phoenix area metropolitan planning organization. 
Beginning in 2006, MAG undertook two regional 
transportation framework studies for two of three 
major growth areas anticipated through 2050 and 
beyond—I-10/Hassayampa Valley Transportation 

Framework Study (MAG 2007) and I-8 and I-10/Hidden Valley Transportation 
Framework Study (MAG 2009a)—that proposed a westerly bypass around the 
Phoenix metropolitan area, tentatively named the Hassayampa Freeway, with 
the intention to connect farther north and south. 

The concept for this proposed transportation facility was reinforced within a 
statewide context, expanded, and solidified in bqAZ Statewide Transportation 
Planning Framework Program (ADOT 2010a), a 40-year vision for multimodal 
transportation in Arizona, coordinated with all neighboring state departments 
of transportation. Generally using the existing US 93 corridor northwest from 
Wickenburg, bqAZ extended the Hassayampa Freeway corridor beyond the 
MAG framework study boundaries to the Arizona-Nevada state line, as well as 
southward to Mexico, noting this corridor as a “proposed Interstate.”  

As part of these framework studies, MAG and ADOT worked closely with 
several major public and private stakeholders (including a number of 
large-scale master planned community developers) throughout the 

Figure 1-7. I-11 Corridor as Identified in MAP-21 
Legislation 

Numerous projects, 
studies, and initiatives 
over the past two 
decades have led to 
the development of 
the Corridor. 

Attachment b



1.  IN T R O D U C T I O N  A N D  OV E R V I E W 

 
12 

Figure 1-8. Mike O’Callaghan-
Pat Tillman Memorial Bridge-
A Crucial Link in Corridor 
Connectivity 

Hassayampa and Hidden Valleys. Realizing the benefit that the Hassayampa 
Freeway (and ultimately I-11) could provide to their developing communities, 
the private sector banded together with public sector entities, non-profit 
organizations, and other individuals to create the CAN-DO Coalition 
(Connecting Arizona and Nevada–Delivering Opportunities), a non-profit 
corporation. This coalition was developed to promote the bold vision of 
connecting the two major southwestern metropolitan regions of Phoenix and 
Las Vegas with an Interstate highway, in turn providing accessibility to 
commerce centers and seaports along the nation’s Pacific coast and 
completing an international trade route from Canada to Mexico. Coalition 
leaders played a strong role in lobbying for the designation of this corridor as 
“Interstate 11” in MAP-21. 

Nevada has been an equal partner with Arizona since the early 1990s, planning 
for a regional corridor with improved access from Las Vegas south to Phoenix 
and a potential northern extension to Reno, seeking to create a better 
connected Intermountain West with greater economic opportunities. Four key 
projects forwarded this concept. The Boulder City Bypass fast-tracked design 
and construction of a corridor anticipated to serve as one segment of the 
greater I-11 Corridor, and has environmental clearance in place. The Hoover 
Dam Bypass and Mike O’Callaghan-Pat Tillman Memorial Bridge (Figure 1-8) 
completed a critical link in the I-11 Corridor. The I-15 Corridor System Master 
Plan and Connecting Nevada have prioritized this Corridor as high importance 
and have begun to draft conceptual alignment alternatives.  

Appendix A, Past Planning Studies and Strategies, includes summaries of 
regional, statewide, and local projects and planning studies with implications 
or recommendations relevant to the I-11 and Intermountain West Corridor.  

Report Purpose 
The purpose of this report is to determine whether sufficient justification 
exists for a new high-speed transportation corridor, and if so, to establish and 
characterize the likely range of future transportation demand in the region 
that would give rise to the need for a new I-11 and Intermountain West 
Corridor. 

The work program is presented in three phases. During the initial phases, a 
review and inventory of existing and future conditions was conducted to 
provide a foundation for further study, and the economic context for the 
Corridor was established.  

A unique element of this study is the development of a Corridor Business Case 
to help determine the potential value of the project. In addition, benefits and 
costs of the proposed Corridor to different parties and stakeholders (for 
example, private investors, freight carriers and shippers, state and local 
governments, and residents) will be estimated using various assumptions 
about funding scenarios and planning options (such as alignment and project 

A unique element of this 
study is the 
development of a 
Corridor Business Case 
to help determine the 
potential value of the 
project. 

Attachment b



1.  IN T R O D U C T I O N  A N D  OV E R V I E W 

 
 13 

type). The Corridor Business Case will identify and describe projects and public 
policy initiatives impacting decisions, validate existing estimates of capital 
costs and other life cycle costs, and identify benefit and cost metrics based on 
a set of core objectives. 

During the next study phase, Corridor Concept Development, the data analysis 
presented in this Corridor Justification Report will be used to develop and 
evaluate alternatives for the separate Corridor segments and sections. This 
high-level evaluation will narrow the connectivity area options. A detailed 
feasibility assessment of the priority Corridor sections will then be conducted. 
The Corridor’s final purpose and need will be developed, the Business Case 
finalized, and generalized implementation steps outlined. 

A “corridor” implies the use of different modes of transportation. Depending 
on the purpose and need of each Corridor segment, different transportation 
modes or infrastructure facilities (for example, transfer of information 
technology) may be recommended for implementation, either in the same 
right-of-way envelope or on different alignments. 

For the future connectivity segments north of Las Vegas and south of Phoenix, 
a series of possible corridors will be identified, evaluated, and prioritized, with 
potentially different trigger points that could allow the choice of one corridor 
or mode over another, dependent on external factors that might be unknown 
or undetermined at the conclusion of this study. 

This report also outlines the characteristics affecting the Corridor—such as 
population, employment, economic diversity, and freight movement—that will 
be needed in the next phase to evaluate the location and type of enhanced 
transportation facility. In addition to using accepted projections about the 
future, alternative scenarios are presented. These scenarios describe probable 
trends that could affect the region in the future and that may influence the 
need for the I-11 Corridor.  

Report Organization 
The following sections of the Corridor Justification Report provide 
summary-level data of attributes impacting the purpose and need for 
justifying the Corridor and describe issues and opportunities related to 
its planning: 

 Chapter 2: Population and Economic Development Trends 

 Chapter 3: Existing and Future Transport Characteristics 

 Chapter 4: Preliminary Business Case Foundation 

 Chapter 5: Stakeholder and Community Input 

 Chapter 6: Next Steps 

  

Attachment b



1.  IN T R O D U C T I O N  A N D  OV E R V I E W 

 
14 

A wealth of information was gathered during the inventory and data collection 
phase of this project. Detailed technical information, data, and maps are 
included as comprehensive appendices to this report. The following 
appendices include the supporting data and analysis that contributed to the 
findings presented in this report: 

 Appendix A: Past Planning Studies and Strategies 

 Appendix B: Economic Development and Demographic Trends 

 Appendix C: Existing and Future Transport Characteristics 

 

Attachment b



 

 
  15 

 2. Population and Economic Development 
  Trends 

Population Trends 
The population growth of the Intermountain West states—particularly Arizona 
and Nevada—is outpacing growth of the U.S. and the capacity of the regional 
transportation network. In addition, regional economic development trends 
are creating demands for new transportation links.  

This section provides an overview of current and forecasted demographic and 
economic conditions in Arizona and Nevada and examines population growth 
and projections in the Intermountain West. More detailed information about 
the topics discussed in this section is in Appendix B, Economic Development 
and Demographic Trends. 

The Interstate Highway System, authorized by the Federal Aid Highway Act of 
1956, opened up new routes to the West, which fostered the migration of 
people and commerce. The original intent of the Interstate Highway System 
was to improve the mobility of military troops to and from airports, seaports, 
rail terminals, and other military installations. Coincident to this goal was an 
enormous surge in population in both Arizona and Nevada (Figure 2-1). In the 
10 years between 1950 and 1960, the population grew by 74 percent in 
Arizona and 78 percent in Nevada, compared to the U.S. as a whole which 
grew by 19 percent during the same period. The Intermountain West states 
have also surpassed U.S. rates by growing more than two and one-half times 
as fast. 
  

Summary of Key Findings 
 Population and economic growth in Arizona and Nevada will continue to outpace not only the U.S. average 

but also the capacity of the regional transportation network.  
 Manufacturing growth in both states exceeded the U.S. average, indicating a strengthening economic sector 

that is strongly linked with transportation demand.  
 State economic development departments are focused on diversifying the Arizona and Nevada economies to 

target industry clusters that rely heavily on interconnected and efficient transportation. 

The Interstate highway 
system opened up new 
routes to the west, 
creating an enormous 
surge in population in 
both Arizona and 
Nevada.  

 

 

The Intermountain West 
states have also 
surpassed growth rates 
of the U.S. by growing 
more than two and 
one-half times as fast. 

Attachment b



2.  PO P U L A T I O N  A N D  E C O N O M I C  DE V E L O P M E N T  TR E N D S  

 
16 

Figure 2-1. Historical Population Growth (1940-2010) for Arizona, Nevada, 
Intermountain West, and United States 

 
Source: U.S. Census Bureau 2002  

Between 2000 and 2010, the rate of growth for the Intermountain West states 
was 19.6 percent—double that of the U.S. as a whole, which grew at a rate of 
9.8 percent. According to the U.S. Census, between 2010 and 2030, the 
Intermountain West is projected to grow by 28.5 percent, to 32.1 million 
people, which exceeds the forecasted U.S. growth rate of 17.7 percent over 
the same period. Over the next two decades (2010-2030), the projected 
growth in the Intermountain West is expected to slow, but will still exceed 
that of the U.S. (Figures 2-2 and 2-3). Of the Intermountain West states, the 
highest projected growth rate during this same period (2010 to 2030) is 
expected in Arizona.  

Considering the explosive growth over the last seven decades and the 
projected future growth, development of the I-11 and Intermountain West 
Corridor could greatly improve commerce, tourism, and international trade 
opportunities across the West. 

0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

40.0%

50.0%

60.0%

70.0%

80.0%

90.0%

1940 1950 1960 1970 1980 1990 2000 2010

Pe
rc

en
t G

ro
w

th

Arizona Nevada Intermountain West U.S.

Attachment b



2.  PO P U L A T I O N  A N D  E C O N O M I C  DE V E L O P M E N T  TR E N D S  

 
 17 

Figure 2-2. Population Growth Rate of the Intermountain West Exceeds That of 
the United States 

 
Sources: Arizona Department of Administration 2012b, Nevada State Demographer’s 
Office 2012, U.S. Census Bureau 2011 

 

Figure 2-3. Population Growth and Projections (2000–2030) for Arizona, Nevada, 
and the Intermountain West 

 
Sources: Arizona Department of Administration 2012b, Nevada State Demographer’s 
Office 2012, U.S. Census Bureau 2011 

0.0% 

5.0% 

10.0% 

15.0% 

20.0% 

25.0% 

2000–2010 2010–2020 2020–2030 

Pe
rc

en
t G

ro
w

th
 

Intermountain West Region United States 

0 

5,000,000 

10,000,000 

15,000,000 

20,000,000 

25,000,000 

30,000,000 

35,000,000 

2000 2010 2020 2030 

Po
pu

la
tio

n 
 

Arizona Nevada Intermountain West Region 

The population growth 
rate of the 
Intermountain West 
exceeds that of the U.S., 
even though the rate is 
declining slightly. 

The population of 
Arizona, Nevada, and 
the Intermountain West 
is expected to grow 
significantly. 

Attachment b



2.  PO P U L A T I O N  A N D  E C O N O M I C  DE V E L O P M E N T  TR E N D S  

 
18 

Economic Development Trends  
The analysis of current economic development trends suggests likely 
continued growth in transportation demand. Economic growth is strongly and 
positively correlated with overall transportation demand, both for freight and 
personal vehicles. This review of development trends in Arizona and Nevada 
indicates that the economies of both states are expected to continue to 
outpace the U.S. average, but that the rate of growth will not be as robust as 
during the 1990s and early 2000s; however, several transportation-intensive 
sectors are demonstrating above-average growth. Both states have 
development plans focused on transportation-intensive sectors.  

Gross Domestic Product by State  
Gross domestic product (GDP) is a principal indicator of the health of an 
economy or industry. GDP measures the value of final goods and services 
produced during a given period. According to the U.S. Bureau of Economic 
Analysis, the GDP for Arizona is $258.4 million and for Nevada is 
$130.3 million. Figure 2-4 shows the GDP by metropolitan statistical area 
within the two states. The Phoenix and Las Vegas metropolitan statistical areas 
are the largest contributors to the economy, followed by Tucson and Reno. 

Figure 2-4. Arizona and Nevada Gross Domestic Product (2011) 

Source: U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis 2012  

The economies of 
Arizona and Nevada 
are expected to 
continue to outpace 
the U.S. average. 

The Phoenix and 
Las Vegas Metropolitan 
Statistical Areas are the 
largest contributors to 
the economy within the 
states of Arizona and 
Nevada, and yet no 
Interstate connection 
exists between them. 

Attachment b



2.  PO P U L A T I O N  A N D  E C O N O M I C  DE V E L O P M E N T  TR E N D S  

 
 19 

The majority of the sectors within Arizona and Nevada experienced growth in 
GDP from 2010 to 2011, including manufacturing, wholesale trade, and 
transportation and warehousing. Both states had negative GDP growth in the 
areas of agriculture and forestry; utilities; and real estate, rental, and leasing. 
Mining showed the highest GDP percentage growth for both states; Nevada’s 
GDP grew by 26.8 percent, and Arizona’s GDP grew by 13.3 percent. 
Construction GDP in Arizona saw a very modest 0.9 percent increase, while 
Nevada experienced a 16.8 percent decrease. This side effect of the housing 
bust hurt both the Phoenix and Las Vegas metropolitan areas, but Phoenix is 
recovering more quickly. These markets are just beginning to rebound after 
5 years of depressed home prices; as a result, homebuilding, rental, and real 
estate activity is increasing. More detailed information is in Appendix B. 

Employment by Industry 
The total concentration of jobs by industry reflects the economic diversity 
within a market. Figure 2-5 shows the 2011 employment in both Arizona and 
Nevada by industry. Fifty-one percent of employees in Nevada and 43 percent 
of employees in Arizona work in industries that depend on a reliable regional 
transportation network for transporting goods and tourists. While 
manufacturing jobs represent only 5.0 percent of all jobs in Arizona and 
2.8 percent of all jobs in Nevada, the growth of manufacturing in both states 
exceeded the U.S. GDP of 1.5 percent, with Arizona at 8.9 percent and Nevada 
at 3.7 percent, indicating growing manufacturing sectors in both states. 

When examining employment projections by industry, Arizona is expected to 
see gains in transportation and logistics, manufacturing, healthcare, and 
professional services. Likewise, Nevada is projecting job growth in mining, 
transportation and logistics, and manufacturing—most of which rely on an 
efficient regional transportation network. 

 

Fifty-one percent of 
employees in Nevada 
and 43 percent of 
employees in Arizona 
work in industries that 
depend on a reliable 
regional transportation 
network for transporting 
goods and tourists. 

Attachment b



2.  PO P U L A T I O N  A N D  E C O N O M I C  DE V E L O P M E N T  TR E N D S  

 
20 

Figure 2-5. Arizona and Nevada Employment, 2011 

Sources: Arizona Department of Administration 2012b, Nevada Department of 
Employment 2012 

Industry Clusters/Targets 
Over the last 2 years, Arizona and Nevada have renewed their focus on 
economic development, and both states recognize the importance of creating 
high-wage jobs, leveraging existing statewide assets, and improving the 
foundations that support economic development, such as the construction of 
I-11 and an Intermountain West Corridor. This Corridor would link the 
metropolitan areas of Phoenix and Las Vegas and ultimately provide 
connectivity to the international markets of Mexico and Canada.  

0.4%

1.3%

0.3%

4.6%

2.8%

2.5%

10.3%

3.7%

1.2%

5.8%

6.4%

5.5%

1.4%

6.7%

1.0%

7.5%

3.2%

19.9%

4.5%

11.1%

1.3%

0.6%

0.4%

4.9%

5.0%

3.4%

11.0%

2.8%

1.5%

6.3%

6.1%

6.5%

0.9%

8.0%

2.2%

10.8%

2.1%

7.5%

5.1%

13.6%

0.0% 5.0% 10.0% 15.0% 20.0% 25.0%

Agriculture, Forestry, Fishing and Hunting

Mining

Utilities

Construction

Manufacturing

Wholesale Trade

Retail Trade

Transportation and Warehousing

Information

Finance and Insurance

Real Estate, Rental and Leasing

Professional, Scientific and Technical Services

Management of Companies and Enterprises

Administration and Waste Management Services

Educational Services

Health and Social Assistance

Arts, Entertainment and Recreation

Accommodation and Food Services

Other Services, except Public Administration

Government and Government Enterprises

Arizona Nevada

A focus on economic 
development recognizes 
the importance of 
creating high-wage jobs, 
leveraging statewide 
assets, and improving the 
foundations that support 
economic development. 

Attachment b



2.  PO P U L A T I O N  A N D  E C O N O M I C  DE V E L O P M E N T  TR E N D S  

 
 21 

In support of this renewed emphasis, both states have undergone significant 
changes in their statewide economic development service delivery systems. 
Arizona created the Arizona Commerce Authority as the designated statewide 
economic development entity responsible for business recruitment and 
international trade. The Nevada Legislature introduced an economic 
development bill that was signed into law by the Governor, creating a 
Cabinet-level economic development position.  

To compete nationally and globally, each state has developed an economic 
development plan focused on building its economy and targeting specific 
industry clusters. Table 2-1 summarizes the industry targets and clusters that 
are the subject of each state’s economic development goals. Arizona and 
Nevada have similar industry targets relative to their business recruitment and 
retention programs. In some cases, these targets represent an existing 
concentration or industry cluster within the state. In other cases, the industry 
target is the subject of a concerted effort to grow the economic activity, such 
as renewable energy.  

Table 2-1. Arizona and Nevada Industry Targets and Clusters 

Industry Targets Arizona Nevada 

Requires 
Regional 

Transportation 
Network 

Advanced Manufacturing  • 
 

• 
Aerospace, Aviation, Defense • • • 
Optics • 

 
• 

Biotechnology • 
 

• 
Healthcare  • •  
Information and Computer 
Technology  • •  

Life Sciences • 
 

• 
Mining, Materials, and Manufacturing 

 
• • 

Renewable Energy • • • 
Science and Technology • 

 
• 

Tourism, Gaming, and Entertainment 
 

• • 
Transportation and Logistics • • • 
Sources: Arizona Commerce Authority 2013, Brookings Institution 2011, Greater Phoenix 
Economic Council 2013, Tucson Regional Economic Opportunities 2006 

To enhance the region’s competitiveness, a robust transportation system is 
needed to facilitate the growth of business and its attraction to the area and 
to offer a means to connect to other markets. Industry targets such as 
aerospace, aviation, and defense; advanced manufacturing; mining, materials, 
and manufacturing; transportation and logistics; and tourism, gaming, and 
entertainment are critically dependent upon their supply chain and the 
regional movement of people and finished goods. Both states recognize that 
to be successful in their economic development endeavors, many 
simultaneous strategies−including developing the transportation systems that 
these industry clusters require−must be implemented. The next phase of this 

Both Arizona and 
Nevada recognize that 
to be successful in their 
economic development 
endeavors, many 
simultaneous 
strategies—including 
developing the 
transportation systems 
that these industry 
clusters require—must 
be implemented. 

Attachment b



2.  PO P U L A T I O N  A N D  E C O N O M I C  DE V E L O P M E N T  TR E N D S  

 
22 

study will provide greater insight into the specific components of this 
investment (such as modality, alignments, scale, priorities, and timing). 
However, at a minimum, this investment will need to include system-wide 
investments with emphasis on urbanized areas, focused investments in 
infrastructure to support the efficient movement of truck freight and 
enhanced north-south system capacity to address anticipated growth 
in demand. 

Major Economic Activity Centers 
Connecting the major economic activity centers with a reliable regional 
transportation network will strengthen each individually and make the region 
as a whole more competitive. When examining the geographic concentration 
of population and employment in the two states, it is apparent that the two 
major metropolitan areas of Phoenix and Las Vegas contain the majority of all 
economic activity. However, in addition to these two economic hubs are 
submarkets that contribute to the economy in a number of ways; these 
submarkets have a concentration of military installations, locations near land 
ports of entry (LPOEs), proximity to transportation and railroad facilities, and 
robust tourism and recreational resources. 

The two largest counties in Arizona and Nevada−Maricopa and Clark 
(Table 2-2)−have the two largest metropolitan areas, Phoenix and Las Vegas, 
in both states. Santa Cruz County in Arizona, with a population of 47,420, 
shares the border with Mexico. However, Arizona’s sister state of Sonora, 
Mexico, has a population of nearly 2.7 million, making this region a significant 
binational economic activity center. 

Table 2-2. County Population and Employment for Arizona and Nevada, 
2010 and 2011 

County Population (2010) Employment (2011) 

Arizona 

Maricopa 3,817,117 1,730,915 
Pima 980,263 406,591 
Pinal 375,770 120,439 
Yavapai 211,033 79,773 
Mohave 200,186 69,033 
Yuma 195,751 65,587 
Coconino 134,421 64,200 
Cochise 131,346 44,460 
Navajo 107,449 32,108 
Apache 71,518 19,975 
Gila 53,597 18,480 
Santa Cruz 47,420 16,492 
Graham 37,220 12,280 
La Paz 20,489 6,275 

Connecting the major 
economic activity 
centers with a reliable 
regional transportation 
network will strengthen 
each individually and 
make the region as 
a whole more 
competitive. 

Attachment b



2.  PO P U L A T I O N  A N D  E C O N O M I C  DE V E L O P M E N T  TR E N D S  

 
 23 

Table 2-2. County Population and Employment for Arizona and Nevada, 
2010 and 2011 

County Population (2010) Employment (2011) 

Greenlee 8,437 3,490 

Nevada 

Clark 1,951,269 869,376 
Washoe 421,407 200,977 
Carson City 55,274 25,013 
Elko 48,818 24,479 
Douglas 46,997 20,425 
Lyon 51,980 19,193 
Nye 43,946 13,638 
Churchill 24,877 10,288 
Humboldt 16,528 7,479 
White Pine 10,030 4,122 
Lander 5,775 2,438 
Pershing 6,753 2,082 
Mineral 4,772 1,968 
Storey 4,010 1,961 
Lincoln 5,345 1,834 
Eureka 1,987 859 
Esmeralda 783 383 
Source: U.S. Census Bureau 2010a 

A preliminary overview of population and economic development trends of 
the region suggests that continuing investment in the transportation system 
will be required over the time frame of this study to address growth in 
population and economic activity. This investment will be defined more fully in 
the next study phase, but it is anticipated to include: 

 System-wide investment, with emphasis on the urbanized areas, to 
address observed system congestion, which can only increase over time 
given the historical trends and economic development aspirations of 
both states 

 Focused investments in infrastructure to support the efficient movement 
of truck freight within and between major urban centers, in light of the 
states’ economic development emphasis on high-value manufactured 
goods which are likely to move by truck 

 Enhanced north-south system capacity to address anticipated growth in 
demand for north-south goods movement associated with increasing 
trade with Mexico 

 

Attachment b



Attachment b



 

 
  25 

 3. Existing and Future Transport 
 Characteristics 

Transportation networks provide vital connections that join urban areas; 
however, the Intermountain West has an underdeveloped network. Improving 
and expanding existing infrastructure is an important priority for the 
Intermountain West as it seeks to expand global trade and support a growing 
population. Failure to establish adequate infrastructure to move people and 
goods throughout the Southwest Triangle as part of national and global supply 
chains could significantly constrain future economic growth. 

The section is organized into two major topics, Moving People and Moving 
Goods, and provides an overview of the existing and future transport 
characteristics of the corridor in both Arizona and Nevada; detailed 
information is in Appendix C, Existing and Future Transport Characteristics. 

Moving People 
The population of the Intermountain West is currently 25 million, and the area 
includes some of the nation’s most densely populated and fastest growing 
counties. The rate of growth for the Intermountain West was double that of 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Summary of Key Findings 
Moving People 
 Population growth has outpaced transportation infrastructure. Failure to establish adequate 

infrastructure to move people and goods could significantly constrain future economic growth for 
Arizona and Nevada. Additional capacity will also be needed on some non-Interstate highways 
serving north-south travel to accommodate future growth.  

 Congestion on US 93 is expected to increase in the future, with hot spots in and around Phoenix, 
Wickenburg, Kingman, Boulder City, and Las Vegas. 

 Some of the more than 2.5 million air passengers who travel between Arizona and Nevada might 
elect to drive or take a train if those options were available, safe, and affordable. 

 Demand for passenger rail is expected to grow as highway and aviation systems reach their 
capacities. The corridor between Phoenix and Las Vegas is within the 100- to 600-mile range in 
which high-speed rail is competitive with other transportation modes such as highway and air travel. 

Moving Goods 
 The reliability of freight movement will play a major role in deciding how goods are moved from 

international manufacturers to markets throughout North America. 
 Trucks transport about 75 percent of freight by value in Arizona and Nevada. Both states import 

more goods from California than from any other state. 
               

               
      

           
 Failure to establish 

adequate 
infrastructure to move 
people and goods 
throughout the 
Southwest Triangle as 
part of national and 
global supply chains 
could significantly 
constrain future 
economic growth in 
Arizona and Nevada. 

Attachment b



3.  E X I S T I N G  A N D  FU T U R E  T R A N S P O R T  CH A R A C T E R I S T I C S  

 
26 

the U.S. as a whole over the last 10 years. Arizona and Nevada were the 
nation’s fastest growing states in 2009. It is anticipated that over the next 
20 years, Arizona will grow by 38 percent and Nevada by 24 percent, to a 
combined population of more than 12 million (Appendix C). By 2050, 
populations in the Phoenix and Las Vegas regions are expected to almost 
double. This section describes opportunities and challenges of moving people 
between these major population centers via car, airplane, and rail/transit. 

Highways 
Arizona and Nevada are served by seven Interstate highways with primary 
travel being east-west movements (Figure 3-1). I-8, I-10, I-40, and I-80 all serve 
east-west travel. I-10, I-40, and I-80 are transcontinental routes stretching 
from California to the Atlantic coast. As shown in Figure 3-1, a lack of 
Interstates serves north-south travel in these two states. I-15 serves travel 
across 124 miles through southern Nevada. I-17 connects I-10 and I-40 in 
Arizona between Phoenix and Flagstaff, and I-19 connects Nogales, Arizona, on 
the Mexican border to I-10 in Tucson.  

Several routes in these two states are considered National Highway System 
(NHS) routes designated by FHWA as roadways important to the nation’s 
economy, defense, and mobility. For the non-Interstate highways, these 
corridors tend to be highways that provide access to a major port, airport, 
public transportation facility, or other intermodal transportation facility 
(FHWA 2012). FHWA High Priority Corridors—including the CANAMEX 
Corridor—are also located in Arizona and Nevada. As identified by the North 
American Free Trade Agreement (NAFTA), these include: 

 I-19 from Nogales to Tucson (Arizona) 

 I-10 from Tucson to Phoenix (Arizona) 

 US 93 from Wickenburg to Las Vegas (Arizona/Nevada) 

 I-15 from Las Vegas to the Canadian border (Nevada and beyond) 

With the lack of north-south Interstate highways and no direct connection 
between Phoenix and Las Vegas, several non-Interstate highways are used to 
move both goods and people between Arizona and Nevada. US 93 is the 
primary route for travel between Arizona and Nevada connecting the Phoenix 
and Tucson metropolitan areas with the Las Vegas metropolitan area. The 
segment of US 93 between Wickenburg and Las Vegas has recently been 
named an “NHS High Priority Corridor designated as a future Interstate,” 
otherwise known as I-11, through the MAP-21 legislation (FHWA 2012).  

 

The rate of growth for 
the Intermountain West 
was double that of the 
U.S. as a whole over 
the last 10 years.  

 

 

By 2050, populations in 
Phoenix and Las Vegas 
are expected to nearly 
double. 
 

MAP-21 legislation 
recently named US 93 
between Wickenburg 
and Las Vegas an “NHS 
High Priority Corridor 
designated as a future 
Interstate,” otherwise 
known as I-11. 
 

Attachment b



3.  E X I S T I N G  A N D  FU T U R E  T R A N S P O R T  CH A R A C T E R I S T I C S  

 
 27 

Figure 3-1. Arizona and Nevada Interstates 

 

Other major north-south highways linking Arizona and Nevada are US 95, State 
Route (SR) 62, and US 395. While US 95 is mostly an alternate route for travel 
between Arizona and Nevada, it is a significant route for north-south travel in 
Nevada and is the primary route between Las Vegas and Reno. SR 62 is a 
popular route for truck traffic connecting to US 95 in California from SR 95 in 
Arizona. US 395 begins in California at I-15 and runs along the east side of the 
Sierra Nevada through California, Nevada, Oregon, and Washington, ending at 
the US/Canadian Border.  

It is the long-term vision of ADOT and NDOT to transform US 93 into a 
higher-capacity roadway. NDOT and ADOT worked together to construct the 
Hoover Dam Bypass and conduct US 93 corridor improvements on both sides 
of the bridge. The Mike O’Callaghan-Pat Tillman Memorial Bridge opened to 
traffic in late 2010. ADOT has dedicated nearly half a billion dollars to 

With the lack of north-
south Interstate 
highways and no direct 
connection between 
Phoenix and Las Vegas, 
several non-Interstate 
highways are used to 
move both goods and 
people between 
Arizona and Nevada. 
 

Attachment b



3.  E X I S T I N G  A N D  FU T U R E  T R A N S P O R T  CH A R A C T E R I S T I C S  

 
28 

widening and improving US 93 from Wickenburg to Hoover Dam over the last 
several years and is in the process of converting the existing corridor into a 
four-lane divided highway through the entire 200-mile stretch. Only five 
highway improvement projects remain, leaving approximately 45 miles of 
highway to be widened to at least four lanes. NDOT fast-tracked the design 
and construction of a project to widen US 93 to two lanes in each direction, 
including some operational and safety improvements between the bridge and 
Boulder City. South of Boulder City, US 95 was widened to four lanes from the 
US 93 interchange south to the California state line. 

The West in general and the Southwest megaregion in particular is 
underserved by north-south Interstate capacity. I-5 and I-15 originate in 
Southern California (in the San Diego metropolitan area) but then separate for 
more than 500 miles throughout much of the West. I-11 would fill in a critical 
gap in that it would provide a direct Interstate link between the two largest 
regions in the interior Southwest—Phoenix and Las Vegas—and provide a 
backup capacity to the I-5 Pacific route within the interior West. By contrast, 
I-85 and I-81 in the East serve as a critical redundancy to the I-95 coastal 
Interstate. This capacity has enabled a logistics, supply chain, manufacturing 
capacity to emerge along these routes that includes a wide array of products 
including auto parts, furniture, and technology. These roads are also critical to 
logistics and trade flows in the East and allow a more efficient use of I-95 for 
passenger travel. Adding a similar capacity to the West via I-11 would create 
similar supply chain and trade links between the interior West and Mexico. It 
also would help relieve the heavy burden of both logistics and passenger 
travel along I-5 in California. Finally, the I-5 route is vulnerable to both 
earthquakes and flooding (especially in Sacramento). A back-up interior I-11 
could be used as insurance against a major disruption in commerce if I-5 were 
lost for an extended period due to a natural disaster. 

Congestion 
Congestion has impacts on both commuters and truckers, affecting 
businesses, suppliers, manufacturers, and the overall economy. If congestion 
affects truck productivity and delivery times, costs are passed on to consumers 
in the form of higher prices, affecting areas far from the region where the 
congestion occurs. Congestion can result in unreliable trip times and missed 
deliveries, both of which cause major business implications. If the 
infrastructure supporting freight traffic is reliable, manufacturing and retail 
firms can carry less inventory because they can rely on goods being delivered 
on time. Severe congestion also has the potential to impact shipping patterns 
whereby freight flows are diverted to less congested routes. 

Five locations in Arizona and Nevada appear in FHWA’s annual report on 
congestion at freight-significant highway locations. The majority of locations 
currently monitored are urban Interstate interchanges, and they are ranked 

Five locations in 
Arizona and Nevada 
appear in FHWA’s 
annual report on 
congestion at freight-
significant highway 
locations. 
 

Attachment b



3.  E X I S T I N G  A N D  FU T U R E  T R A N S P O R T  CH A R A C T E R I S T I C S  

 
 29 

 
according to the impact of congestion on freight (American Transportation 
Research Institute 2011): 

 I-15 at I-515 in Las Vegas  

 I-10 at I-19 in Tucson  

 I-10 at SR 51/SR 202 in Phoenix 

 I-17 at I-40 in Flagstaff  

 I-80 at US 395 in Reno  

Currently, there is congestion through the urban areas (Tucson, Phoenix, 
Las Vegas, and Reno), and the segment of US 93 near Wickenburg is 
approaching capacity. Figure 3-2 shows the existing and future (2040) 
congestion on the major highways in Arizona and Nevada.  

Future 2040 forecasts show that in the Las Vegas area, new capacity may be 
needed to accommodate growth because US 93 and US 95 will continue to be 
congested. In Phoenix, all major highways will be congested, and portions of 
US 93 and US 95/SR 95 in Arizona will need additional capacity. The majority of 
US 395 in California is projected to be approaching capacity with continued 
congestion through Reno in northern Nevada. As traffic congestion continues 
to increase on California highways, long-distance passenger vehicle and 
commercial truck trips greater than 50 miles may shift to parallel routes east 
of the Sierra Nevada such as US 395, US 95, or an I-11 and Intermountain West 
Corridor. Nearly all of the major freeways in Southern California are projected 
to be congested in 2040. 

  

Increasing congestion 
on California’s roads 
could shift greater 
amounts of trade into 
the Intermountain 
West. 
 

Attachment b



3.  E X I S T I N G  A N D  FU T U R E  T R A N S P O R T  CH A R A C T E R I S T I C S  

 
30 

Figure 3-2. Arizona and Nevada Existing and Future Congestion  

 

  

Attachment b



3.  E X I S T I N G  A N D  FU T U R E  T R A N S P O R T  CH A R A C T E R I S T I C S  

 
 31 

Safety 
In addition to the damage done to lives and property, traffic incidents 
contribute to significant delays for passenger and freight travel and costs to 
the public. Not only are the lives of those involved in crashes affected, so too 
are the lives of relatives and emergency responders. The comprehensive costs 
of crashes are estimated to be $4,008,885 for a fatality and $216,059 for a 
debilitating injury (FHWA 2005). Information about fatality rates and crash 
types can be used to analyze roadway conditions and driver performance.  

Each state’s Five Percent Report, a report submitted annually to FHWA 
describing the top 5 percent of locations with the most severe safety needs, 
was reviewed to determine whether any segments on the major north-south 
highways in Arizona and Nevada were identified as top crash locations. In 
Nevada, these locations include segments of US 95 in Clark County 
surrounding the Las Vegas metropolitan area and a few segments along US 93 
in Clark, White Pine, and Elko Counties. In Arizona, the locations with severe 
safety needs include segments of I-40 near Kingman and I-10 in Phoenix.  

A primary reason for building the Interstate Highway System was to improve 
the safety of the drivers, passengers, and pedestrians. Over the past 50 years, 
the system has made highway travel safer and more efficient. Safety is 
measured by the fatalities per 100 million vehicle miles traveled, a measure 
used so that data can be compared as traffic volumes change. The Interstate 
Highway System is the nation’s safest road system, with a fatality rate of 0.8, 
compared with 1.46 for all roads in 2004.  

When the Interstate Construction Program began in 1956, the national fatality 
rate was 6.05. Safety improvements have resulted from many factors such as 
the shifting of traffic onto safer Interstate highways and technological 
advances such as wider shoulders; slide-resistant pavements; better guardrail, 
signs, and markings; clearer sight distances; and breakaway sign posts and 
utility poles.  

The Highway Safety Improvement Program is a core federal-aid program, and 
each state is required by the FHWA to have a Strategic Highway Safety Plan 
that is regularly updated and evaluated. MAP-21 provides an Interim Guidance 
document that clarifies the Strategic Highway Safety Plan requirements, 
including performance measures to be addressed. Safety-related measures 
include injuries and fatalities occurring in motor vehicle crashes. Most states 
are also implementing the recently published Highway Safety Manual, which 
will standardize how roadway safety related projects are evaluated. 

Aviation  
Because it is currently the most efficient option for trips of 500 miles or more, 
aviation is vital to the nation’s transportation system. However, half of the 
flights in the U.S. are routes of fewer than 500 miles. According to the 
Brookings Institution, 3 of the 10 busiest air travel corridors are fewer than 

The Interstate Highway 
System is the nation’s 
safest road system, 
with a fatality rate of 
0.8, compared with 
1.46 for all roads in 
2004. 

 
 

Attachment b



3.  E X I S T I N G  A N D  FU T U R E  T R A N S P O R T  CH A R A C T E R I S T I C S  

 
32 

Source: Bureau of Transportation Statistics 2012b 

Figure 3-3. 2011 Air Passenger Enplanements between Major 
Airports in Arizona and Nevada 

500 miles apart: between Los Angeles and San Francisco (347 miles), Los 
Angeles and Las Vegas (229 miles), and Los Angeles and Phoenix (358 miles). 
The lack of investment in alternative modes of transportation makes air travel 
the mode of choice for several short-haul air travel corridors (flights less than 
500 miles). Continued growth in these short-haul routes presents logistical and 
economic challenges at airports as well as significant environmental impacts 
(Brookings Institution 2009b). 

Arizona and Nevada have 2 of the top 10 busiest airports in North America 
(Las Vegas McCarran International Airport at 8th and Phoenix Sky Harbor 
International Airport at 9th) and the top 25 busiest airports in the world 
(Federal Aviation Administration 2012b, Airports Council International 2012a). 
Travel through these two airports accounts for more than 5 percent of the 
passengers traveling through U.S. airports. In 2011, Arizona had 
2,373,000 flights into and out of its airports and Nevada had 860,000 flights 
(Federal Aviation Administration n.d.). In 2011, Las Vegas McCarran and 
Phoenix Sky Harbor had 19.9 million and 19.8 million enplanements, 
respectively. Between 2010 and 2011, these two airports saw 4.61 percent 

and 4.46 percent increases in enplanements for 
Las Vegas McCarran and Phoenix Sky Harbor 
(Federal Aviation Administration 2012b).  

More than 2.5 million air passengers traveled 
between Arizona and Nevada in 2011. The Phoenix 
to Las Vegas air corridor (256 miles) is ranked in the 
nation’s top 100 most traveled air corridors 
(Brookings Institution 2009b). Las Vegas McCarran 
and Phoenix Sky Harbor are also among the top 
10 destinations from the four major metropolitan 
areas in Arizona and Nevada: Tucson, Phoenix, 
Las Vegas, and Reno. Figure 3-3 shows the total 
number of passengers that traveled between these 
airports in 2011.  

The 2012 Federal Aviation Administration 
Aerospace Forecast shows commercial air 
passenger and air cargo activity increasing over the 
next 20 years. Air passenger system enplanements 
are projected to increase an average of more than 
2 percent domestically and 4 percent 
internationally per year. In Arizona and Nevada, 
this national aviation growth, coupled with the 
projected population and employment increases, 
will translate into new demand for commercial air 
travel and air cargo (Federal Aviation 
Administration 2012d).  

Many of the more than 
2.5 million air 
passengers that 
traveled between 
Arizona and Nevada in 
2011 might have used 
alternative modes of 
transportation if 
reliable and safe 
options existed.  

 
 

Attachment b



3.  E X I S T I N G  A N D  FU T U R E  T R A N S P O R T  CH A R A C T E R I S T I C S  

 
 33 

Airports in Arizona and Nevada are already planning for additional capacity, 
both in airside and landside facilities. 

Planned airport improvements will help accommodate the rapid growth in the 
number of enplanements and flights. However, even with these 
improvements, both Phoenix Sky Harbor and Las Vegas McCarran will need 
additional capacity in 2025 (Figure 3-4). Without the planned improvements, 
Las Vegas McCarran and Tucson International will need additional capacity in 
2015. Secondary airports, such as Phoenix-Mesa Gateway in the Sun Corridor 
and the proposed Southern Nevada Supplemental Airport (also known as 
Ivanpah Airport) in greater Las Vegas, may provide some relief. 

Figure 3-4. Airports Needing Capacity in 2015 and 2025, Even If Planned 
Improvements Occur 

 
Source: Government Accountability Office 2009 

Passenger Rail and Transit 
New passenger rail routes are currently under study to improve north-south 
passenger rail connectivity between Arizona, Nevada, and California. Similar to 
highways, intercity and Interstate passenger rail is restricted to east-west 
travel in Arizona and Nevada. These rail routes started with the development 
of transcontinental railroads that linked the railway network in the East with 
the rapidly growing West. Intercity and Interstate public transportation 
between Arizona and Nevada is currently served exclusively by buses. 

With 21,000 route miles, Amtrak provides intercity passenger rail service in 
the U.S. Three Amtrak routes serve Arizona and Nevada:  

 California Zephyr (Chicago-Denver-Glenwood Springs-Emeryville), 
including Reno, Sparks, Winnemucca, and Elko  

Alternative modes of travel 
between Phoenix and 
Las Vegas, such as I-11, will 
help relieve the demand 
for airport capacity, 
expected to peak by 2025 
at both Phoenix Sky Harbor 
and Las Vegas McCarran 
airports, triggering the 
need for additional 
capacity—even with 
planned airport 
improvements.  

Similar to highways, 
intercity and interstate 
passenger rail is 
restricted to east-west 
travel in Arizona and 
Nevada; therefore, 
public transportation 
between Arizona and 
Nevada is served 
exclusively by buses. 

 

Attachment b



3.  E X I S T I N G  A N D  FU T U R E  T R A N S P O R T  CH A R A C T E R I S T I C S  

 
34 

 Southwest Chief (Chicago-Albuquerque-Los Angeles), including Kingman, 
Williams Junction, Flagstaff, and Winslow 

 Texas Eagle/Sunset Limited (Chicago-St. Louis-Dallas-San Antonio-
Los Angeles)/(New Orleans-San Antonio-Los Angeles), including Benson, 
Tucson, Maricopa, and Yuma  

Passenger rail service in Arizona is limited to Amtrak and tourist railway 
services. Amtrak has two routes that travel on freight mainlines through 
Arizona. Amtrak uses the BNSF Transcon mainline in northern Arizona and the 
UPRR Sunset Limited Route in southern Arizona. Amtrak has one route, the 
California Zephyr, which travels on freight mainlines across northern Nevada. 
This Amtrak route operates with one trip daily in both directions between 
Chicago, Illinois, and Emeryville, California, on 427 miles of UPRR-owned track 
in Nevada. Since passenger service on the South Central Route (UPRR) was 
discontinued in 1997, southern Nevada has had no passenger rail service. 
Nevada lacks north-south through rail; thus, Las Vegas is not connected to 
Reno to the north or to Phoenix to the southeast via passenger rail. 

Demand for passenger rail is expected to grow as highway and aviation 
systems reach their capacities. Because passenger and freight rail share tracks, 
the current passenger rail system is faced with the challenge of limited track 
capacity. Passenger rail performance is impacted by congestion on shared-use 
corridors, reducing the efficiency and reliability of passenger rail. One solution 
to this challenge is the potential for new high-speed rail corridors on dedicated 
track. Metropolitan areas with busy air markets and congested highways are 
prime candidates for high-speed rail. The corridor between Phoenix and 
Las Vegas is within the 100- to 600-mile range in which high-speed rail is 
competitive with other transportation modes such as highway and air travel. 

The State Rail Plans for both Arizona and Nevada assess the statewide rail 
needs and identify opportunity rail corridors for investment. Both states 
identify a high-speed rail corridor linking Phoenix and Las Vegas.  

In 2008, Congress created the High-Speed Intercity Passenger Rail Program 
(Figure 3-5) to make strategic investments in advancing regional networks of 
passenger rail corridors and to improve connectivity. While capital funding for 
the Southwest region has primarily been concentrated in California, the 
Federal Railroad Administration has also supported the development of a 
“pipeline” of future projects through investments in state and corridor 
planning and environmental studies. 

As part of this effort, the Federal Railroad Administration is also leading a 
multi-state rail planning study focused primarily on connectivity between 
Arizona, California, Nevada, and Utah. This study, one of the first of its kind in 
the U.S., will result in a better understanding of the market need for passenger 
rail within the region’s multimodal transportation network.  

Demand for passenger 
rail is expected to grow 
as highway and 
aviation systems reach 
their capacities. The 
corridor between 
Phoenix and Las Vegas 
is within the 100- to 
600-mile range in 
which high-speed rail is 
competitive with other 
transportation modes 
such as highway and 
air travel. 

The State Rail Plans for 
both Arizona and 
Nevada identify a 
high-speed rail corridor 
linking Phoenix and 
Las Vegas. 

Attachment b



3.  E X I S T I N G  A N D  FU T U R E  T R A N S P O R T  CH A R A C T E R I S T I C S  

 
 35 

Figure 3-5. High-Speed Intercity Passenger Rail Program 

 

Moving Goods 
Businesses in Arizona and Nevada could use an I-11 and Intermountain West 
Corridor to attract investment and boost activity to create value that will 
ripple through the two states’ economies, creating jobs and boosting 
economic growth. Transportation infrastructure facilitates the transport of 
both goods and people. Freight flows passing through the region (those that 
neither originate in nor have a destination in Arizona or Nevada) can benefit 
from reduced congestion and enhanced safety but will likely have minimal 
lasting economic effects on the region.  

To see how the I-11 and Intermountain West Corridor might influence how 
goods move throughout the region, it is useful to understand current and 
projected trends in freight flows. Figure 3-6 shows the freight share by mode 
in Arizona and Nevada and the projected annual growth rate of the various 
modes through 2040. Trucks transport about 75 percent of freight by value, 
with about 15 percent using multiple modes and the rest moving by rail and 
air. Multiple modes and air transport are projected to grow the most rapidly 
over the next 25 years. 

Businesses in Arizona 
and Nevada could use 
an I-11 and 
Intermountain West 
Corridor to attract 
investments and 
increase activity. This 
activity will ripple 
through the economies 
of the two states, 
creating jobs and 
boosting economic 
growth. 

Federal Railroad 
Administration 
planning studies are 
underway for potential 
high-speed rail routes 
between Arizona, 
Nevada, and 
California (Los Angeles) 
as part of a program to 
identify strategic 
investments needed to 
create an efficient 
network of passenger 
rail corridors and to 
improve connectivity. 
However, there is not a 
specific corridor study 
looking at connecting 
California to Arizona or 
Arizona to Nevada. 

Attachment b



3.  E X I S T I N G  A N D  FU T U R E  T R A N S P O R T  CH A R A C T E R I S T I C S  

 
36 

Figure 3-6. Mode Share by Value and Average Annual Projected Growth 

 
Source: FHWA 2013 

Note: 2010 data inflated to 2012 by Consumer Price Index inflation factor provided by Bureau of Labor Statistics Consumer Price 
Index inflation calculator. 

Figure 3-7 shows the freight share by mode in terms of volume. Both rail and 
truck transport a significantly larger share of goods as measured by volume, 
while the share of goods transported by pipeline, multiple modes and mail, 
and air modes decline. Less expensive, heavier, or more durable goods tend to 
travel by rail, while perishable, fragile, lighter, or more expensive goods are 
more likely to travel by air. Each of the six modes of transit are expected to 
grow in terms of the number of tons transported, with the volume of goods 
transported by air projected to grow the most rapidly in both Arizona and 
Nevada through 2040.  

Attachment b



3.  E X I S T I N G  A N D  FU T U R E  T R A N S P O R T  CH A R A C T E R I S T I C S  

 
 37 

Figure 3-7. Mode Share by Volume and Average Annual Projected Growth 

Source: FHWA 2013 

Note: 2010 data inflated to 2012 by Consumer Price Index inflation factor provided by Bureau of Labor Statistics Consumer Price 
Index inflation calculator.  

The multiple modes and mail category includes truck-rail, truck-water, and 
rail-water intermodal shipments that change modes at least once between 
origin and destination.  

The following sections focus on the three main modes for transporting goods: 
highways, aviation, and freight rail. Also discussed are land and water ports of 
entry—the two major avenues by which international goods enter the region. 

Highways 
Strong flows exist between Arizona and southern Nevada; however, the 
dominant freight flows on Interstate highways in Arizona and Nevada follow 
the existing east-to-west infrastructure between California and the population 
centers in the Midwest and Atlantic Coast regions. These flows are reflected in 
both personal vehicles and commercial trucks.  

Keeping pace with 
intra-regional growth 
means continuing to 
invest for sustained 
competitiveness. 

 Arizona       Nevada 

 

 

Attachment b



3.  E X I S T I N G  A N D  FU T U R E  T R A N S P O R T  CH A R A C T E R I S T I C S  

 
38 

Freight traveling by truck is of primary interest because it represents about 
three-quarters of total freight by value. Table 3-1 shows 2010 commodity 
flows by value moving by truck between six western states and the rest of the 
U.S. Table 3-1 shows that most truck traffic occurs within state boundaries. 
California is the biggest individual trading partner state for both Arizona and 
Nevada. Reflecting the dominant east-to-west movement of commodities, 
north-to-south truck freight volumes between Arizona and Nevada and Idaho 
and Oregon are lower compared with Arizona’s and Nevada’s interaction 
with California. 

Table 3-1. Freight Movement by Truck between Selected States, 2010 

Mode Origin/Destination Arizona California Idaho Nevada Oregon Washington 
Rest of 

U.S. 

Value 

($millions in 
2010 dollars) 

Arizona 136,800 13,500 100 3,400 700 1,300 27,900 

California 25,200 1,101,500 2,200 18,200 10,600 17,400 286,400 

Idaho 200 1,500 26,700 200 1,500 2,500 9,200 

Nevada 1,500 9,300 400 41,900 1,100 2,400 8,700 

Oregon 1,000 14,500 2,400 600 78,000 21,400 17,800 

Washington 1,100 14,500 4,200 1,400 15,800 142,900 39,300 

Rest of U.S. 40,600 206,600 12,500 18,500 19,500 39,200 9,416,600 
Source: FHWA 2013 

Exports to Mexico are projected to be the fastest-growing freight sector over 
the next 25 years in both states and are expected to grow 5.2 percent annually 
in Nevada and 5 percent annually in Arizona. 

Directional analysis of freight flows (Figures 3-8 and 3-9) illustrates how goods 
move to and from Arizona and Nevada. In this analysis, the rest of the states 
were grouped by geographical location relative to the study area. For example, 
a state located to the east of the study area was grouped as East. Any freight 
flow to/from that state would be counted as freight flow to/from the East. The 
freight flow between California and the study area was estimated separately 
from other western states because flows to/from California constitute a 
significant share of total freight flow to/from the region. Therefore, the West 
category includes only Washington and Oregon. 

  

The significant freight 
flows between Arizona 
and Nevada are 
expected to grow. 

 

Exports to Mexico are 
projected to be the 
fastest-growing freight 
sector over the next 
25 years in both states. 

Attachment b



3.  E X I S T I N G  A N D  FU T U R E  T R A N S P O R T  CH A R A C T E R I S T I C S  

 
 39 

Figure 3-8. 2010 Arizona Inbound and Outbound Freight Volume by Direction, 
2012 Dollars 

 
Source: FHWA 2013 

Note: 2010 data inflated to 2012 by Consumer Price Index inflation factor provided by 
Bureau of Labor Statistics Consumer Price Index inflation calculator. 

  

Attachment b



3.  E X I S T I N G  A N D  FU T U R E  T R A N S P O R T  CH A R A C T E R I S T I C S  

 
40 

Figure 3-9. 2010 Nevada Inbound and Outbound Freight Volume by Direction, 
2012 Dollars 

 
Source: FHWA 2013 

Note: 2010 data inflated to 2012 by Consumer Price Index inflation factor provided by 
Bureau of Labor Statistics Consumer Price Index inflation calculator. 

 

Canada and Mexico are among Arizona’s and Nevada’s top five foreign trading 
partners. Barriers to trade, which may be tariff-based or nontariff-based (that 
is, geographical distance or language), impede international trade flows. 
However, NAFTA and proximity—particularly between Mexico and Arizona—
encourage these flows of goods.  

Mexico is Arizona’s largest foreign trading partner in both import and export 
terms. About 35 percent of Arizona’s total imports come from Mexico, while 
an almost equal proportion (36 percent) is exported to Mexico. With the 
exception of 2008 and 2009, Arizona’s trade volume has steadily increased, 
and trade with Mexico today is nearly in equilibrium, with $5.7 million in 
exports and $6.1 million in imports.  

 

Canada and Mexico 
are among Arizona’s 
and Nevada’s top five 
foreign trading partners. 
A future I-11 and 
Intermountain West 
Corridor would provide a 
new north-south trade 
corridor through Nevada 
and Arizona providing 
essential freight linkages 
between the new and 
expanding ports in 
Mexico and Canada. 

 

 
 
 
 

To sustain economic 
competitiveness, it is 
essential to maintain 
strong economic 
growth in the region. 

 

Attachment b



3.  E X I S T I N G  A N D  FU T U R E  T R A N S P O R T  CH A R A C T E R I S T I C S  

 
 41 

Aviation 
The Intermountain West states transported a total of 5.7 million tons of air 
cargo in 2011, for a total value of nearly $394 billion (FHWA 2013). Most air 
cargo has a high value and is transferred to trucks for quick delivery to its final 
destination, with a direct impact to the highway network. Both Arizona and 
Nevada have airports with cargo facilities that are considered inland ports of 
entry. Complete customs services at both airports allow foreign goods to clear 
customs. These air cargo facilities have positioned both cities as major West 
Coast air-truck distribution centers.  

Nearly 700,000 tons of air cargo landed at Arizona airports, while 360,000 tons 
of air cargo landed at Nevada airports in 2011 (Federal Aviation Administration 
2012f); this is equivalent to about 36,800 truckloads and 18,900 truckloads, 
respectively.1

Figure 3-10. Air Cargo by Sector, Millions of 2010 Dollars 

 As Figure 3-10 shows, sectors with fragile or expensive freight 
are most likely to use air transportation, both in Arizona and Nevada. Of note, 
air transport use is concentrated in just a few sectors of the economy. 

 
Source: FHWA 2013 

 

Projections of air freight demand in the Intermountain West region forecast 
nearly a threefold increase in air cargo tonnage by 2040 (Table 3-2).  

  

                                                           
1 The standard load capacity for a truck trailer is 25 tons, and for a railcar 110 tons. Taking 
75 percent as average load factor, the truck equivalent tonnage is 19 tons, and the railcar 
equivalent tonnage is 83 tons. Source: Texas Transportation Institute 2009. 

Both Arizona and 
Nevada have airports 
with cargo facilities 
that are considered 
inland ports of entry. 

The equivalent of 
about 36,800 
truckloads of air cargo 
landed at Arizona 
airports, and about 
18,900 truckloads 
landed at Nevada 
airports in 2011. 

Attachment b



3.  E X I S T I N G  A N D  FU T U R E  T R A N S P O R T  CH A R A C T E R I S T I C S  

 
42 

Table 3-2. 2040 Total Tonnage of Air Cargo (Including Truck-Air Mode) by Origin and Destination (1000s Tons) 

Origin/ 
Destination Arizona California Idaho Nevada Oregon Washington 

Rest of 
U.S. Total 

Arizona — 33.002 14.468 10.298 0.308 1.735 182.525 242.335 
California 61.261 304.436 0.168 108.601 45.429 82.341 1,726.186 2,328.423 
Idaho 0.462 0.330 0.008 0.006 0.267 0.096 6.075 7.244 
Nevada 0.025 0.366 0.002 43.625 0.006 0.882 50.296 95.202 
Oregon 1.902 2.488 0.100 0.028 — 0.008 27.079 31.604 
Washington 44.836 29.031 0.255 2.050 0.137 0.053 127.796 204.157 
Rest of U.S. 161.828 2,493.790 15.091 35.239 152.654 256.595 10,724.310 1,3839.507 
Total 270.313 2,863.442 30.092 199.846 198.799 341.710 12,844.267 16,748.471 
Source: FHWA 2013 

Freight Rail 
In both Arizona and Nevada, cheaper, heavier goods transported in bulk are 
more likely to be transported by rail. As Figure 3-6 shows, rail-only transport is 
rare; about 1 percent of goods by value move through Arizona and Nevada 
solely by rail. Rail transport does carry a significantly larger share of total 
freight by volume, about 22 percent. 

Multiple modes and mail includes rail-to-truck intermodal transport. 
Intermodal transport is popular at water ports such as the Port of 
Los Angeles/Port of Long Beach (POLA/POLB), where goods are moved inland 
by rail from port docks to reload facilities, bypassing urban traffic. These 
reload facilities sort goods and load them onto trucks for regional delivery. 
Multiple modes and mail have a mode share of about 15 percent of goods by 
value in both Arizona and Nevada. By 2040, intermodal transport is projected 
to have a 21.4 percent share in Arizona and a 24.4 percent share in Nevada. 
This increase in intermodal transport may increase the demand for reload 
facilities located in Arizona and Nevada. These statistics include only freight 
that has an origin or destination in Arizona or Nevada and do not account for 
freight that passes through the region. Through freight does not generally 
have a lasting economic effect. 

The demand in the U.S. to move freight by rail is expected to exceed track 
capacity by 2035. Figure 3-11 shows the 2007 primary rail corridor volumes 
and track capacity, and Figure 3-12 shows the future (2035) primary rail 
corridor volumes and track capacity without improvements. Figure 3-12 shows 
that most of the rail corridors would be over capacity and congested without 
any planned improvements. 

Transporting goods via 
rail between Phoenix 
and Las Vegas is 
currently not an 
available option. 
 
 Continuous north-south 
rail corridors are non-
existent throughout the 
Intermountain West 
and are found only on 
the West Coast and in 
the Midwest and East. 

 
 

Attachment b



3.  E X I S T I N G  A N D  FU T U R E  T R A N S P O R T  CH A R A C T E R I S T I C S  

 
 43 

Figure 3-11. Existing (2007) Corridor Volumes Compared to Current Capacity 

 
Source: Cambridge Systematics, Inc. 2007 

Figure 3-12. Future (2035) Corridor Volumes Compared to Current Capacity 
(Without Improvements) 

 
Source: Cambridge Systematics, Inc. 2007 

Arizona 
Arizona has 1,683 miles of freight rail on more than 10 corridors (mainlines, 
branches, and short lines). About $2.9 billion worth of goods was moved to or 
from Arizona by rail in 2010. Of note, 58 percent of Arizona’s rail freight by 
value was motorized vehicles, nearly all of which originated in Mexico and 
stopped in Arizona before proceeding to auto manufacturing plants in the U.S. 
In 2010, 68 percent of Arizona’s rail freight by volume was coal. Coal freight 
destined for Arizona generally originates in Texas, Colorado, and Utah.  

Without improvements, 
the U.S. rail system will 
not have enough 
capacity to haul the 
projected freight. 

 
 

58 percent of Arizona’s 
rail freight by value 
was motorized 
vehicles, nearly all of 
which originated in 
Mexico and stopped in 
Arizona before 
proceeding to auto 
manufacturing plants 
in the U.S. 

 

Attachment b



3.  E X I S T I N G  A N D  FU T U R E  T R A N S P O R T  CH A R A C T E R I S T I C S  

 
44 

While many of the routes run east-to-west, mirroring the existing highway 
system (UPRR and BNSF transcontinental mainlines), UPRR operates a 
north-south branch route from Tucson to Nogales, the Nogales Branch, which 
connects to Ferrocarril Mexicano (Ferromex) in Mexico, heavily used for 
accessing numerous auto assembly plants and industries in Hermosillo, 
Mexico. BNSF runs a north-south branch line that connects the Transcon 
mainline route, running approximately parallel to I-40 in northern Arizona, to 
Phoenix, connecting to the Mobest Yard, Glendale Intermodal Facility, and 
other transloading facilities. Additional branch lines and short line railroad 
corridors serve other freight-related destinations, especially mining operations 
in the northern and eastern portions of the state. Both Class I major 
transcontinental rail lines are undergoing corridor improvements; 
double-tracking the UPRR Sunset Route through southern Arizona and 
triple-tracking portions of the BNSF Transcon in northern Arizona. 

The Port of Tucson, an inland port rail facility, is also a foreign trade zone 
bonded warehouse district that serves NAFTA and CANAMEX Corridor 
markets. UPRR is in the process of developing a classification yard at Red Rock 
(located between Phoenix and Tucson) that may be expanded to include 
intermodal facilities. ADOT and the Arizona Department of Commerce are 
studying the feasibility of inland port development in Yuma that would 
function as an interface between the UPRR Sunset Route and the potential 
railroad connecting the proposed Port at Punta Colonet, Mexico. 

Nevada  
Nevada transported about $1.5 billion worth of goods by rail in 2010, with coal 
accounting for half of the freight by volume. Most rail freight is inbound with a 
destination in Nevada; however, Nevada does send a significant amount of 
metallic ores to Detroit. Nevada has two primary rail corridors, both of which 
run generally east-to-west across the state, one in the north and one in the 
south. UPRR owns and operates all 1,085 mainline route miles in the state. The 
Northern Corridor connects Reno to Salt Lake City and Denver to the east and 
Sacramento and San Francisco to the west. The Southern Corridor connects 
Los Angeles to Las Vegas to Salt Lake City, generally paralleling the I-15 route. 

Nevada has two freight intermodal facilities where trailer on flat car or 
container on flat car can be transferred between railcars and/or trucks. The 
facilities include the UPRR Sparks Intermodal Facility in northern Nevada and 
the UPRR Las Vegas Intermodal Facility.  

Rail Freight between Arizona and Nevada  
Similar to the highway system in the region, the freight railroad network in 
Arizona and Nevada is dominated by east-west infrastructure (Figure 3-13). To 
transport goods via train between Phoenix and Las Vegas, goods must travel a 
circuitous route that uses short lines in Arizona and California. At this point, 
rail routing is possible between the two metropolitan areas but it is not 
attractive for most shippers. 

The Port of Tucson, an 
inland port rail facility 
that is also a foreign 
trade zone bonded 
warehouse district, 
serves NAFTA and 
CANAMEX Corridor 
markets. 

Nevada has two 
freight intermodal 
facilities where trailer 
on flat car or container 
on flat car can be 
transferred between 
railcars and/or trucks. 

Attachment b



3.  E X I S T I N G  A N D  FU T U R E  T R A N S P O R T  CH A R A C T E R I S T I C S  

 
 45 

 Figure 3-13. Arizona and Nevada Rail Networks 

 

Ports 
Land Ports of Entry 
Southern Border Ports of Entry 
LPOEs are a key aspect of freight movement through the Intermountain West 
Corridor, with about 75 percent of U.S.-Mexico bilateral trade by value 
crossing through land ports in 2011. The U.S. LPOEs are generally net 
importers of goods, and about 60 percent of goods by volume are destined for 
Texas, the Intermountain West, California, and the Pacific Northwest. 
Figure 3-14 shows the five largest LPOEs that handle U.S. and Mexico trade, 
by value. 

LPOEs are a key aspect 
of freight movement 
through the 
Intermountain West 
Corridor, with about 
75 percent of U.S.-
Mexico bilateral trade 
by value crossing 
through land ports in 
2011. 

Attachment b



3.  E X I S T I N G  A N D  FU T U R E  T R A N S P O R T  CH A R A C T E R I S T I C S  

 
46 

Figure 3-14. Top Five Southern United States Land Ports of Entry, 2011 

 
Source: Bureau of Transportation Statistics 2012c 

The top three LPOEs constituted 65 percent of trade between the U.S. and 
Mexico that flows through land ports. Less than 10 percent of land freight 
between the U.S. and Mexico flowed through Arizona, and approximately 
90 percent of goods that flowed through Arizona crossed at Nogales. As 
Figure 3-14 shows, the volume of freight transported through land ports in 
Texas and California currently dwarfs freight that is transported through 
Arizona land ports. However, depending on the destination, goods that enter 
through land ports in Texas, New Mexico, and California may be more 
efficiently transported via I-11. Approximately 12 percent of U.S. imports from 
Mexico by volume could potentially use I-11 as a more efficient route.2

Continued investments in LPOEs are key to mitigating congestion and 
encouraging the use of an I-11 and Intermountain West Corridor by making 
crossing times shorter and more predictable. The Arizona-Sonora Border 
Master Plan (ADOT 2013b) analyzed planned LPOEs and related multimodal 
transportation improvements along the Arizona-Sonora border in each state, 
working with stakeholders in both states to prioritize and coordinate 
implementation of projects to ensure consistency in infrastructure 
development and improve the efficiency and effectiveness of Arizona-Sonora 
transportation facilities. Modernization and expansion programs are planned 
at several LPOEs, as well as the addition of new rail lines, freight processing 
facilities, and improved roadway connections.  

 

The San Diego Association of Governments in 2006 estimated that border 
congestion cost California $6 billion; as a result, a dedicated freight crossing at 
Otay Mesa is being developed to capture that economic activity. There is good 
reason to believe that congestion at Arizona’s LPOEs also has a significant 
effect on the state’s economy. California, Texas, New Mexico, and Arizona 

                                                           
2 Approximately 2.8 million tons of the 24.4 million tons imported in 2011 through an LPOE had 
origin-destination pairs that suggest a potential usage of I-11. Bureau of Transportation 
Statistics 2012c. 

The function and 
capacity of Arizona’s 
LPOEs are likely to affect 
the viability of I-11. 

Less than 10 percent of 
land freight between 
the U.S. and Mexico 
flowed through Arizona, 
and approximately 
90 percent of goods 
that flowed through 
Arizona crossed at 
Nogales.  

 

U.S. imports from Mexico 
could potentially use 
the I-11 and 
Intermountain West 
Corridor as a more 
efficient route. 

Attachment b



3.  E X I S T I N G  A N D  FU T U R E  T R A N S P O R T  CH A R A C T E R I S T I C S  

 
 47 

each have scheduled LPOE improvements; however, approximately 95 percent 
of vehicular border crossings are personal vehicles, rather than freight 
vehicles, and demand for personal trips is more responsive to improvements 
in LPOEs.  

Arizona Ports of Entry 
The function and capacity of Arizona’s LPOEs are likely to affect the viability of 
the I-11 Corridor. On its international border with Mexico, Arizona has six 
LPOEs that provide controlled entry into or departure from the U.S. for both 
people and goods. More than 40 percent of the fresh produce imported 
through all U.S.-to-Mexico LPOEs was processed through Arizona’s LPOEs in 
2008 (ADOT 2012b). Some Arizona LPOEs have multiple crossings. Most border 
crossings from Mexico into Arizona occur through three LPOEs: Nogales, 
San Luis, and Douglas. As Arizona’s only rail crossing into Mexico, all rail freight 
shipments move through the Nogales DeConcini LPOE. 

Approximately half of the bilateral trade flows by value and volume through 
Arizona LPOEs were multimodal, about one-third were by truck only, and 
about one-sixth were by rail only. Multimodal flows refer to freight shipments 
that changed transport mode between origin and destination; they include 
truck-rail, water-rail, and water-truck flows (FHWA 2012). 

By 2040, imports from Mexico through Arizona border crossings are expected 
to more than double to more than 13.4 million tons. Exports are expected to 
more than quadruple to 18.6 million tons, for a total value of $66.2 billion. The 
primary destinations and origins for imports and exports entering through 
Arizona LPOEs in 2040 are projected to be Arizona, California, Michigan, and 
Texas. Eighty-eight percent of the value of both imports and exports is 
projected to cross the border by truck, with 12 percent by rail (FHWA 2012). 

Water Ports of Entry 
The U.S. is the top importer of containerized cargo, much of which enters the 
country on the West Coast and is shipped to destinations across the country. 
This section discusses the water ports that are significant to the I-11 Corridor 
study area (see Figure 3-15). 

Ports of Los Angeles and Long Beach 
Because POLA/POLB in Southern California are the primary gateways of 
manufactured goods from the Asian markets, and are typically the most 
cost-effective way to deliver goods to North American markets, their function 
and capacity have a significant impact on the direction and volume of freight 
flows in the study area. These ports are the busiest in the U.S.; combined, they 
are the 7th busiest in the world for containerized cargo (World Shipping 
Council 2011). Most goods entering POLA/POLB today are destined for the 
Midwest and Texas (FHWA 2012).  

The U.S. is the world’s 
top importer of 
containerized cargo, 
much of which enters 
on the West Coast, 
where it is then shipped 
to destinations across 
the country through 
Arizona and Nevada. 

By 2040, imports from 
Mexico through Arizona 
border crossings are 
expected to more than 
double to more than 
13.4 million tons. Exports 
are expected to more 
than quadruple to 
18.6 million tons. 

Attachment b



3.  E X I S T I N G  A N D  FU T U R E  T R A N S P O R T  CH A R A C T E R I S T I C S  

 
48 

Increasing congestion on California’s road and rail 
systems could have the effect of shifting greater amounts 
of trade into the Intermountain West. About 41 percent 
of imported goods leave Los Angeles by truck, while 
another 14 percent use multiple modes (generally, short-
haul rail movements to locations where railcars are 
offloaded into trucks). These percentages are projected 
to increase to 56 percent and 21 percent, respectively, by 
2040 (FHWA 2012).  

While both POLA/POLB experienced a decline in volumes 
as a result of the economic downturn in 2008 and 2009, 
both are expected to reach capacity in the coming years. 
In fact, POLB reduced capacity as a cost-saving measure in 
2009 following the global economic slowdown and 
domestic recession, which will cause them to reach 
capacity sooner than expected unless improvements are 
implemented. Based on the business plan at POLA/POLB, 
container volumes through these ports are projected to 
nearly triple from 14 million 20-foot equivalent units 
(TEUs) in 2011 to approximately 43 million TEUs by 2035 
(Southern California Association of Governments 2012). 
TEU is a standard unit of measurement for containerized 
cargo that describes the volumetric capacity of a 20-foot-
long cargo container. The current combined existing 
capacity is approximately 28.5 million TEUs, and 
POLA/POLB are expected to exceed this by 2027 
(Southern California National Freight Gateway 
Collaboration 2011). These projections are supported by 
the fact that many Pacific Rim countries have relatively 
booming growth and have oriented their economies 
toward exports. Other factors that will influence when 
these ports reach capacity include the pace of global 
economic growth, the relative strength of U.S. 
manufacturing, and the impact of the Panama Canal 

improvements on shifting waterborne freight to Atlantic ports. To avoid major 
congestion issues, both ports will need to expand their capacity; otherwise, 
freight traffic will have to re-route to alternative destinations. 

Other U.S. West Coast Ports 
The ports of Seattle, Tacoma, and Oakland could potentially use an I-11 and 
Intermountain West Corridor. These three ports handled a combined total of 
approximately 6 million TEUs in 2010, representing 61 percent of their total 
capacity. Economists at IHS Global Insight predict that Oakland will handle 
3.4 million TEUs in 2020 and 5.1 million TEUs in 2030. Currently, the Port of 
Oakland can accommodate only 3.3 million TEUs. Unless it expands its 

Freight flows diverted 
through the Panama 
Canal to Gulf of Mexico 
ports are not expected 
to have a significant 
economic impact on 
Arizona and Nevada. 

Figure 3-15. Major West Coast Water Ports of Entry 
 

Attachment b



3.  E X I S T I N G  A N D  FU T U R E  T R A N S P O R T  CH A R A C T E R I S T I C S  

 
 49 

acreage, the Port of Oakland could experience a capacity shortfall well 
before 2020.  

Gulf of Mexico Ports  
Freight flows diverted through the Panama Canal to Gulf of Mexico ports are 
not expected to have a significant economic impact on Arizona and Nevada. 
The majority of those goods, which currently pass through Arizona and Nevada 
via rail, will continue to bypass these states, only via the Canal. As the Panama 
Canal is adding a new, deeper-access channel that will allow for expansion of 
its capacity, freight flows from Asia that would have previously landed at the 
increasingly congested POLA/POLB may be diverted through the Canal and to 
ports in Louisiana, Alabama, and Texas. As a result of the improvements, 
scheduled for 2015 completion, cargo volume through the Panama Canal is 
expected to double from 2005 levels by 2025. Container volumes in the Gulf 
Coast will rise to 3.6 million TEUs in 2020 from 2.3 million TEUs in 2006. 

Western Canada Ports 
The Canadian ports of Vancouver and Prince Rupert are a viable alternative to 
the congested POLA/POLB complex. In 2011, Vancouver transported 
2.5 million TEUs and Prince Rupert handled 410,000 TEUs. Those volumes 
made them the 5th and 26th largest ports in North America, respectively.  

The metro port of Vancouver is essentially located at the north end of the I-5 
Corridor and has committed to improvements to meet the growing demand 
for capacity expected over the next 25 years. Prince Rupert has a 
geographically advantageous location; due to its high latitude, it is 3 days 
closer to China than POLA/POLB. It is located in an area with little congestion, 
and goods that land in Prince Rupert can be transported to Chicago via road or 
rail within 4 days. 

Mexican Ports 
The growth and use of the Port of Guaymas and the growth in demand at 
other Mexican ports is strongly related to potential capacity increases at 
POLA/POLB. With existing available capacity at POLA/POLB, it is anticipated 
that ships will continue to carry to these ports until volumes reach or surpass 
the 2007 levels. At that time, the Mexican ports are expected to gain in traffic 
as reliever or alternative ports for foreign goods to enter North American 
markets. They will also have an advantage because expansions at POLA/POLB 
are continually constrained by adjacent urban development, labor unrest, and 
environmental regulations. 

The Port of Guaymas is located on the Gulf of California in the state of Sonora, 
approximately 250 miles from the nearest border crossing point in Nogales. 
This deep-water seaport is part of the CANAMEX Corridor. In 2006 the Port of 
Guaymas processed more than 3.3 million tons of cargo. Most freight from 
Guaymas enters the U.S. by rail through Nogales, and the goods are targeted 
for markets in the southeastern U.S. (CH2M HILL and Wilbur Smith Associates 

New and expanded 
Mexican ports have the 
potential to serve as 
reliever ports for the 
congested POLA/POLB, 
and could increase I-11 
and Intermountain West 
Corridor demand, 
particularly if rail freight 
were offloaded 
to trucks. 

 

Northwestern ports 
could potentially use 
the I-11 and 
Intermountain West 
Corridor to transport 
goods south, bypassing 
the congested I-5 
Corridor. 

Attachment b



3.  E X I S T I N G  A N D  FU T U R E  T R A N S P O R T  CH A R A C T E R I S T I C S  

 
50 

Inc. 2011). The Port of Guaymas has the potential to serve as a reliever port 
for the congested POLA/POLB due to its geographical proximity to the U.S. 
over the larger Pacific ports of Manzanillo and Lazaro Cardenas. Moreover, 
unlike Ensenada, Guaymas is also connected to the Ferromex Rail System and 
could increase I-11 and the Intermountain West Corridor demand, particularly 
if rail freight were offloaded to trucks. This is anticipated to occur only if 
growth in Pacific trade continues, accompanied by continuing congestion in 
the POLA/POLB complex, which is not relieved by other mechanisms 
(such as construction of other West Coast ports or diversion of freight via 
Panama Canal). 

The Mexican government had proposed to build a large container port at 
Punta Colonet in Baja California, 150 miles south of San Diego. The project was 
envisioned to have capacity to handle between 4 and 7 million TEUs per year, 
with potential for a new rail line and possibly a new border crossing location. 
However, until the port is actually designed and financing is secured, its 
capacity is highly speculative. The project was delayed numerous times over 
the past several years. At the end of 2012, Mexico’s Ministry of 
Communications and Transportation cancelled construction of this deep-water 
seaport and its rail line connecting with the U.S. border. The project is not 
considered feasible at this time due to the recent economic downturn and 
U.S. West Coast ports reducing their levels of saturation and congestion.  

The current study does not explicitly address the potential future construction 
of the port at Punta Colonet, although this possibility cannot be ruled out over 
the time frame of this study, which would further reinforce north-south 
trade-related travel demand in the I-11 and Intermountain West Corridor. As 
such, it is assumed that this project is offline for the purposes of this analysis. 
However, if this port were built in the future, it could increase demand for an 
I-11 and Intermountain West Corridor.

Attachment b



 

 
  51 

  4. Preliminary Business Case Foundation 
 

Introduction 
To help understand the nature and scale of the economic returns to a 
potential I-11 and Intermountain West Corridor investment, this section 
describes the relationship between goods movement, economic activity, and 
transportation infrastructure for the Corridor. While continued infrastructure 
investment in response to economic growth is essential for continued 
competitiveness, it is also a key enabler to help ensure the region’s continued 
economic success as it participates strongly in the nation’s emerging economy. 
Specifically, three important trends currently shaping the regional economy 
are considered, and three separate scenarios are constructed to model the 
effects of each in terms of travel demand, GDP, population, and employment 
in the region. The results provide some indication of the scale of economic 
activity and of travel demand that each scenario may produce. 

In addition to playing an important regional role in linking Phoenix and 
Las Vegas, the US 93 Corridor has the potential, as the future I-11 route, to 
play a transformative role for both the Intermountain West and the nation in 
facilitating and shaping trade patterns and related economic growth in 
the Southwest. At the same time, for Nevada, and Las Vegas in particular, it is 
anticipated to facilitate continued trade, local work force and goods mobility, 
and continued expansion of tourism visits. Similarly, for Arizona, and Phoenix 

Summary of Key Findings 
 The Intermountain West, under several alternative future scenarios considered, will experience significant 

sustained growth in the regional economy and will be accompanied by corresponding growth in travel 
demand.  

 I-11 and the Intermountain West Corridor will be needed to accommodate this increased demand, thereby 
preventing possible gridlock that could thwart the projected economic growth. 

 By strategically enhancing transportation infrastructure, the region may also have the opportunity to enjoy 
incremental and significantly enhanced economic growth related to important trends in regional and 
national trade.  

 The increasing importance of Mexico as a trading partner, and the emergence of nearshoring as an important 
and strongly growing structural feature of U.S. commerce, is a significant trend.  

 The reliability of freight movement will play a major role in deciding how goods are moved from international 
manufacturers to markets throughout the Intermountain West. 

The I-11 and 
Intermountain West 
Corridor has the 
potential to play a 
transformative role for 
both the Intermountain 
West and the nation in 
facilitating and shaping 
trade patterns and 
related economic 
growth in the Southwest. 

Attachment b



4.  PR E L I M I N A R Y  BU S I N E S S  C A S E  FO U N D A T I O N  

 
52 

in particular, it is anticipated to facilitate continued trade, particularly with 
Mexico, the development of manufacturing operations integrated with 
corresponding Mexican establishments, and local work force and 
goods mobility. 

During the past several decades, international trade, particularly U.S. trade 
with Asia, has been a key driver of economic activity in the Southwest, 
particularly in California, where trade is centered on the POLA/POLB complex. 
Under the right conditions, current developments in trade movements to and 
from the Southwest are anticipated to match or potentially outpace the 
general level of economic growth in those states.  

The Business Case is intended to address a key fundamental question: Is the 
Corridor worthy of future investment? The supporting analysis necessary to 
address this question is being performed in a two-step process. The first step 
is the Preliminary Business Case Foundation that is prepared in this early 
phase of the study without the benefit of a detailed corridor context or 
definition such as modes to be considered, corridor alignment, estimated 
costs, and operational benefits. It aims to provide a high-level qualitative 
evaluation and a preliminary analysis of the potential economic impacts that 
the Corridor might have in the region.  

To reflect the full range of possible future outcomes, four possible economic 
scenarios are examined; these scenarios have the potential to be reflected in 
the region, together or in combination, when the Corridor is completed. 
Reflecting important economic trends currently at work in the Southwest, 
these economic scenarios were selected by the Core Agency Partners during a 
two-day workshop held December 12-13, 2012, and have a strong likelihood of 
being realized, in whole or in part, together or individually, in the years ahead. 
This section documents the results of the initial analysis and provides some 
early observations regarding the role of transportation infrastructure and of 
the viability of the Corridor in each of these economic scenarios.  

The next step, a Final Business Case, will be completed at the end of this study. 
The Final Business Case will provide additional analyses refinements and offer 
further understanding of the potential economic impacts that the Corridor 
could have in Arizona and Nevada. To understand potential future economic 
impacts, it is helpful to first look at historic impacts that transportation 
infrastructure have had on economic development and to recognize the future 
economic conditions that might exist in the region. 

The Business Case is 
intended to address a 
key fundamental 
question: Is the I-11 and 
Intermountain West 
Corridor worthy of future 
investment? To reflect 
the full range of possible 
future outcomes, four 
possible economic 
scenarios are examined. 

Attachment b



4.  PR E L I M I N A R Y  BU S I N E S S  C A S E  FO U N D A T I O N  

 
 53 

Possible Future Economic Scenarios  
To apply these principles to assess the potential effects of current observable 
trends in international and domestic trade on the Intermountain West, three 
alternative scenarios were developed; each was selected to reflect an 
important dimension of the potential economic future for the Intermountain 
West. These scenarios are based on important current trends that, should they 
continue, will alter the needs for transportation, levels of trade, and overall 
development in the region. These scenarios were unconstrained; that is, the 
analysis assumed a strong supply of high-quality transportation and other key 
enabling factors.  

Each scenario was defined by comparison to a Baseline Scenario, which 
assumes that trade and freight flows, both international and domestic, grow 
as forecasted by the United States Department of Transportation. While the 
Baseline Scenario does take into account some future planned infrastructure 
projects such as the Panama Canal improvements already underway, it does 
not include this Corridor. Therefore, because the Corridor has the potential to 
structurally alter how goods move throughout the region, the analysis may 
understate the total volume of goods that would be expected to use the 
Corridor. Specific freight transport flows were estimated for each scenario 
(Table 4-1) to permit the quantification of the potential economic impacts of 
each scenario. This information is graphically presented in Figure 4-1. 

The freight flows described in Table 4-1 were estimated directly as primary 
inputs to the scenario analysis, using the professional judgment of the study 
team on the likely range of potential system response in the observed trade 
flows for each scenario. In this regard, the scenario freight flows are not the 
maximum conceivable, but are large enough to illustrate the nature and scale 
of the associated effects. 

Table 4-1. Freight Flow Assumptions Relative to the Baseline, by Scenario 

Scenario South In South Out West In West Out North In North Out East In East Out Within 

Baseline 
Condition 

FHWA Freight Analysis Framework 3 (FAF3) 2040 forecast 

Growth in 
Asia Pacific 
Trade 

Base +  
5 - 10% 

Base Base Base +  
2% 

Base Base + 5- 
10% 

Base +  
5 - 10% 

Base +  
5 - 10% 

Base + 
10 - 20% 

Nearshoring Base +20 -  
30% 

Base + 20 -  
30% 

Base Base +  
5 - 12% 

Base Base + 5- 
12% 

Base Base +  
5 - 12% 

Base + 
15 - 35% 

State 
Economic 
Developmen
t Plans 

Base +  
3 - 6% 

Base +  
3 - 6% 

Base +  
3 - 6% 

Base +  
3 - 6% 

Base +  
3 - 6% 

Base +  
3 - 6% 

Base +  
3 - 6% 

Base +  
3 - 6% 

Base +  
3 - 6% 

 

 

 

Attachment b



4.  PR E L I M I N A R Y  BU S I N E S S  C A S E  FO U N D A T I O N  

 
54 

Figure 4-1. Freight Flow Assumptions Relative to the Baseline, by Scenario 

 
Source: FHWA FAF3 data, inflated to 2012 value by Consumer Price Index inflation factor provided by the Bureau of Labor Statistics 
Consumer Price Index inflation calculator. 

  

Attachment b



4.  PR E L I M I N A R Y  BU S I N E S S  C A S E  FO U N D A T I O N  

 
 55 

To assess the impact of each scenario on regional highway congestion, truck 
traffic volumes for each were compared to the forecast values for the Baseline 
Scenario. For each route considered, the baseline traffic volumes were 
determined by: 

 Adding the change in average annual daily traffic for the scenario using the 
scenario population growth rate 

 Computing the scenario truck volume increment by using the scenario 
percentage increase of truck origins or destinations in the study area  

 Adding the scenario truck volume increment to the baseline value on each 
segment evaluated  

This analysis provided an estimated average annual daily traffic count for each 
scenario for each roadway segment analyzed. Then, level of service (LOS) 
(a qualitative assessment of a road’s operating conditions) thresholds for rural 
routes were used to determine the resultant LOS. The percentage of these 
segments demonstrating congestion (LOS D to F) was then determined and is 
described in the following sections for each alternative scenario. 

The discussion below provides a brief overview of the Baseline Scenario and 
the three alternative future scenarios, together with the corresponding 
modeled economic outcomes and potential traffic congestion implications. 

A “no-growth” scenario was not developed or analyzed because it does not 
reflect long-term experience in the region and would not generate travel 
demand in the I-11 Corridor. 

Baseline Scenario 
The Baseline Scenario serves as the background against which the results of 
the other scenarios are compared. Generally, this scenario reflects a 
continuation of recent background growth in the region and of current trends, 
without major structural changes. It is presented as the highly probable 
economic future of the region, in the absence of significant changes from the 
recent past. 

Description 
The Baseline Scenario assumes that transport and trade continue as currently 
forecast; this assumption includes existing international trade forecasts, 
continuation of the existing trends in balance of trade, continuation of the 
distribution of trade between major trading partners, and continuation of the 
existing trade route distribution.  

The Baseline Scenario also considers some transportation improvements 
currently underway, including the Panama Canal improvements, which will 
result in some shifting of transport routing. When additional Panama Canal 
capacity becomes available, certain goods movements that currently arrive in 
West Coast ports and move east primarily by rail will sail to the East via the 

The Baseline Scenario 
indicates an increase in 
overall growth in 
transportation demand, 
both for direct travel 
consumption and to 
service the industries 
that provide goods and 
services to the growing 
population. 

The urbanized areas of 
Phoenix and Las Vegas 
will continue to be 
congested. Many rural 
segments that are 
operating smoothly 
today begin to 
experience congestion 
by 2040. 

Attachment b



4.  PR E L I M I N A R Y  BU S I N E S S  C A S E  FO U N D A T I O N  

 
56 

Figure 4-2. Baseline 2040 Cumulative Freight Projections for  
Nevada and Arizona, 2012 Dollars 

 
Source: FHWA FAF3 data, inflated to 2012 value by Consumer Price Index 
inflation factor provided by the Bureau of Labor Statistics Consumer Price 
Index inflation calculator. 

Panama Canal. This redirecting of goods through the Canal may result in a 
small reduction in trucks using east-west Interstates, but is not anticipated to 
have adverse economic impacts in Arizona and Nevada. 

Projections 
The Baseline Scenario has associated 2040 projections for Arizona and Nevada 
employment, labor income, value added, and population. Value added is a 
proxy for GDP. These projections are shown in Table 4-2. The focus is on 
employment, labor income, value added, and population because growth in 
these metrics is strongly indicative of overall growth in transportation 
demand, both for direct travel consumption and to service the industries that 
provide goods and services to the growing population. 

Table 4-2. Study Area Economic Metrics, 2011 Levels and 2040 Baseline Projections 

 

Arizona 
2011 

Arizona 
Baseline 

2040 
Nevada 

2011 

Nevada 
Baseline 

2040 

Employment 3,192,519 7,558,377 1,518,833 2,844,599 
Labor Income $157 billion $351 billion $75 billion $135 billion 
Value Added (State GDP) $261 billion $610 billion $120 billion $227 billion 
Population 6,553,255 10,993,641 2,758,931 4,084,473 
Sources: HDR, ESI Corp., and IMPLAN projections using FHWA FAF3 data, inflated to 2012 value 
by the Consumer Price Index inflation factor provided by the Bureau of Labor Statistics 
Consumer Price Index inflation calculator. 

The cumulative baseline freight flows mapped 
in Figure 4-2 are the value in 2012 dollars of 
the two-way (inbound and outbound) flows by 
direction. Figure 4-2 shows that the 
predominance of east-west flows currently 
observed are projected to continue in 
the future. 

As Figure 4-3 shows, the urbanized areas of 
Phoenix and Las Vegas are already 
experiencing moderate to severe congestion, 
and even with the programmed 
improvements, the facilities will continue to 
be congested. Many rural segments that are 
operating smoothly today begin to experience 
congestion (LOS D or worse) by 2040.  

The total economic output in Arizona and 
Nevada of the Baseline Scenario is estimated 
at $911 billion. Under the Baseline Scenario, 
approximately 28 percent of the state 
transportation corridors analyzed showed 
unacceptable congestion in 2040. 

Attachment b



4.  PR E L I M I N A R Y  BU S I N E S S  C A S E  FO U N D A T I O N  

 
 57 

 

Figure 4-3. Projected Congestion under the Baseline Scenario 

 
Sources: ADOT 2012k, California Department of Finance 2012, Florida Department of Transportation 2012, MAG 2012b, 
NDOT 2012f   

Attachment b



4.  PR E L I M I N A R Y  BU S I N E S S  C A S E  FO U N D A T I O N  

 
58 

Growth in Asia Pacific Trade 
This scenario is based on the continued growth of the trade flows with Asia 
that have characterized West Coast trade during recent decades. This scenario 
is predicated on the continued growth in U.S. imports of a wide array of 
low-cost consumer goods from China and other low-cost Asian sources. This 
scenario assumes that the current trends in manufacturing in the Asia Pacific 
region continue and that the U.S. continues to receive a growing volume of 
goods from Asia.  

Description 
Growth in China, despite its recent slowdown, is stabilizing at close to 
8 percent. The International Monetary Fund (2012) projects this pace to be 
sustainable over the next 5 years. Other newly industrialized Pacific Rim 
countries, such as the Philippines and Malaysia, will also show strong growth 
averaging 5 percent. Even fully industrialized South Korea will likely outpace 
North America’s growth. These Pacific Rim countries have traditionally relied 
heavily on exports to fuel growth, and corresponding growth in U.S. imports 
has been larger (up to 12 percent per year). The scenario uses a range of 
increase in freight flows that reflects a reasonable level of corresponding 
change in the Intermountain West region, based on professional judgment. 

Figure 4-4 shows comparisons of labor costs in 2008. Labor costs in China and 
the Philippines are markedly less expensive than those in Mexico. 
Labor-intensive industries have tended to find it profitable to use this cheap 
Pacific Rim labor, either by outsourcing or offshoring (or continuing to 
outsource or offshore if these U.S. companies already have facilities in 
those locations). 

The continued importance of Asia as a source of U.S. consumer goods is 
unlikely to diminish in the near term, although some moderation in growth 

Figure 4-4. Hourly Compensation Costs of Manufacturing Employees in Selected 
Economies and Regions, 2008 

 
Source: U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics 2010 

Growth in China is 
stabilizing at close to 
8 percent, and other 
newly industrialized 
Pacific Rim countries 
such as the Philippines 
and Malaysia will also 
show strong growth 
averaging 5 percent. 
These Pacific Rim 
countries have 
traditionally relied 
heavily on exports to 
fuel growth. 

The increased 
economic activity 
associated with the 
Growth in Asia Pacific 
Trade Scenario results in 
a greater number of 
vehicles throughout the 
region, exacerbating 
the already congested 
urban Interstates and 
some regional routes. 

Attachment b



4.  PR E L I M I N A R Y  BU S I N E S S  C A S E  FO U N D A T I O N  

 
 59 

rates would not be unexpected. To date, container volumes through the 
POLA/POLB complex since the 2008 recession suggest that this growth has 
resumed already, and that congestion in West Coast ports may be seen 
again soon. 

Under this scenario, West Coast ports would reach capacity by approximately 
2020, requiring major additional capacity by that point. To accommodate the 
demand, Mexican ports are assumed to add port capacity and attract a share 
of traffic destined for the U.S. Some of the goods shipped to Mexican ports 
could be transported to the U.S. through LPOEs in Arizona and north via the 
Intermountain West Corridor. The current trend of trade with Mexico would 
continue, and the current use of U.S. facilities to carry Mexican goods and raw 
materials would also continue, which is consistent with the Baseline Scenario.  

Projections 
Goods movement in selected corridors into, out of, and within the study area 
is estimated to increase by up to 20 percent (Figure 4-5).  

Figure 4-5. Pacific Rim 2040 Cumulative Freight Projections for Nevada and 
Arizona, 2012 Dollars, High-Impact Values 

 
Sources: HDR projections and FHWA FAF3 data, inflated to 2012 value by Consumer Price 
Index inflation factor provided by the Bureau of Labor Statistics Consumer Price Index 
inflation calculator.  

Attachment b



4.  PR E L I M I N A R Y  BU S I N E S S  C A S E  FO U N D A T I O N  

 
60 

The increased economic activity associated with this scenario results in a 
greater number of vehicles throughout the region. The increase will 
exacerbate the already congested urban Interstates and some regional routes; 
on a number of rural routes, this increase results in an increase in congestion 
(Figure 4-6). 

As anticipated, the modeled economic results (employment, labor income, 
output, and employment) show significant increases under this scenario, 
driven by the increased transportation activity within the I-11 and 
Intermountain West Corridor. This economic activity relates to the assumed 
continued expansion of inland ports and logistics/trans-shipment facilities in 
the study area. The total economic output in Arizona and Nevada of this 
scenario is estimated to increase by approximately $13 to $26 billion annually, 
or approximately 1.4 to 2.8 percent. Under this scenario, approximately 
34 percent of the state transportation corridors analyzed indicated 
unacceptable congestion in 2040, an increase of 6 percent from the baseline. 
This 15 percent increase over the Baseline Scenario in the number of 
congested corridors would likely be noticeable to system users and would 
itself erode the economic competitiveness of the region. Construction of the 
I-11 and Intermountain West Corridor would alleviate this situation, although 
the specific level of system congestion relief would depend on the specific 
configurations and alignment of the Corridor, which will be analyzed more 
fully in the next study phase. 

Trade with Mexico Expands (Nearshoring) 
This scenario assumes that Asia Pacific manufacturing for the U.S. market 
flattens, and significant production growth occurs in Mexico (nearshoring).  

Description 
Nearshoring refers to the current trend of moving manufactured goods 
production, much of which was previously in Asia, to Mexico. Since the 
enactment of NAFTA, bilateral trade has grown exponentially and reached a 
record high of nearly $400 billion in 2010. Mexico’s GDP growth of 5.4 percent 
in 2010 resulted in a $35 billion increase in Mexican purchases from the U.S. 
(New Policy Institute and Arizona State University North American Center for 
Cross-Border Studies 2012). This trend reflects the advantages of Mexico’s 
proximity to the U.S. market, and its growing strength as the 14th largest 
economy in the world. In addition, China’s labor cost advantage in relation to 
Mexico’s is estimated to have shrunk to 14 percent (Thunderbird School of 
Global Management n.d.).  

 

This trend reflects the 
advantages of Mexico’s 
proximity to the U.S. 
market and its growing 
strength as the 14th 
largest economy in the 
world. In addition, 
China’s labor cost 
advantage in relation to 
Mexico’s is estimated to 
have shrunk to 
14 percent. 

Attachment b



4.  PR E L I M I N A R Y  BU S I N E S S  C A S E  FO U N D A T I O N  

 
 61 

Figure 4-6. Projected Congestion under the Growth in Asia Pacific Trade Scenario  

 
Sources: ADOT 2012k, California Department of Finance 2012, Florida Department of Transportation 2012, MAG 2012b, 
NDOT 2012f  

Attachment b



4.  PR E L I M I N A R Y  BU S I N E S S  C A S E  FO U N D A T I O N  

 
62 

The likelihood of this scenario materializing is supported by the strong growth 
of nearshoring in recent years. “After a decade of rapid globalization, 
economists say companies are seeing disadvantages of offshore production, 
including shipping costs, complicated logistics, and quality issues. Political 
unrest and theft of intellectual property pose additional risks” (Wall Street 
Journal 2010). Nearshoring is a natural response to this situation, one in which 
Arizona and Nevada have strong opportunities to play a role for the Southwest 
Triangle, as compared to California with its higher costs and congestion. This 
relatively recent, strongly growing trend has also demonstrated a strong 
tendency to create an economically integrated manufacturing/supply chain 
straddling the U.S./Mexico border. In the process, significant manufacturing 
employment is produced in both countries.  

Figure 4-7 shows the results of a survey conducted on 116 manufacturing 
companies that sell to U.S. markets (Alix Partners 2012). Mexico was the most 
popular choice for nearshoring, where hourly compensation costs are nearly 
as low as China (Figure 4-4), and it is much closer to U.S. markets. Of note, the 
U.S. is catching up with Mexico in terms of favorability for nearshoring. 

Nearshoring lowers transportation costs. Analysis from JP Morgan estimates 
that the cost to transport a container via truck from Mexico is $3,000, while 
the cost to ship a container from China is $5,000 (Schwartz 2012). Nearshoring 
also reduces exposure to commodity price uncertainty because nearshoring 
requires less fuel. Although oil prices, like nearly all goods, are predicted to 
rise over time, short-term oil prices are quite volatile. 

 

Figure 4-7. Mexico Attractive as Nearshoring Destination 

 
Source: Alix Partners 2012 

Attachment b



4.  PR E L I M I N A R Y  BU S I N E S S  C A S E  FO U N D A T I O N  

 
 63 

While lower transportation costs are a major argument for nearshoring, 
moving production closer to market provides additional benefits (Figure 4-8). 
It takes approximately 6 weeks to ship from China to U.S. consumers, while it 
takes only about 1 week from Mexico. Holding all else equal, U.S. retailers 
would prefer to receive inputs more quickly, and companies would choose not 
to have funds tied up in inventory for 5 extra weeks. 

Moreover, while labor costs are still lower in China and the Philippines relative 
to Mexico, wages are rising more quickly in the Asian markets. China has 
experienced real annual wage growth of close to 8 percent since 2000 
(The Economist 2013). The Boston Consulting Group (2012) is forecasting that 
wages will equalize between China and Mexico by 2015. Thus, one of the 
major rationales for offshoring will likely become less relevant. One caveat: 
U.S. firms that already have invested in production facilities in China might 
find it cost prohibitive to nearshore until labor costs in China are significantly 
more expensive than nearshoring options. 

Because inputs vary among industries, it is intuitive that some industries might 
be more likely than others to consider nearshoring. Figure 4-9 shows how 
different sectors might react. Unsurprisingly, goods that are lightweight (thus 
relatively cheap to transport) and labor-intensive, such as clothes and 
footwear, will likely remain overseas. Heavier goods, such as furniture or 
capital-intensive goods such as machinery, are leading candidates 
for nearshoring. 

Figure 4-8. Top Reasons for Nearshoring, Survey of Producers 

 

Source: Alix Partners 2012 

 

 

Attachment b



4.  PR E L I M I N A R Y  BU S I N E S S  C A S E  FO U N D A T I O N  

 
64 

 

Many firms have found it beneficial to have research and development occur 
within the production facility (PricewaterhouseCoopers 2012). At the same 
time, lax intellectual property laws are the norm in the Pacific Rim region. 
Some American firms are hesitant to conduct research and development in 
China because the intellectual property theft risk is so high and minimal 
recourse is available. From 2004 to 2009, three-quarters of foreign counterfeit 
goods seized in the U.S., by dollar value, originated in China (Senate Joint 
Economic Committee 2012). Large U.S. companies find it costly to prove 
intellectual property theft and to prevent future incidents, while small U.S. 
businesses often do not even attempt to bring charges. These fears can be 
partially mitigated by nearshoring. 

Projections 
This scenario assumes that Asia Pacific manufacturing for the U.S. market 
flattens and significant production growth occurs in Mexico while other major 
features of the Baseline Scenario remain unchanged. This scenario would add 
demand for north-to-south transportation facilities, including this Corridor. 
Figure 4-10 shows the relative importance of southbound flows as additional 
goods flow into the study area. A range of changes in trade flows 
corresponding to this scenario has been estimated using professional 
judgment. Thus, the scenario includes goods movement in selected corridors 
into, out of, and within the study area increases by up to 30 percent over the 
Baseline Scenario, as industries such as logistics, processing, and finishing 
facilities are supported in Arizona and Nevada. 

Figure 4-9. Nearshoring Likelihood Differs on Inputs 

 

Source: Joint Planning and Advisory Council 2012 

This scenario would add 
demand for north-to-
south transportation 
facilities, including the 
I-11 and Intermountain 
West Corridor as a result 
of significant production 
growth occurring in 
Mexico.  

The modeled economic 
output in Arizona and 
Nevada, and resulting 
congestion, are greatest 
with this scenario.  

Attachment b



4.  PR E L I M I N A R Y  BU S I N E S S  C A S E  FO U N D A T I O N  

 
 65 

Under this scenario, the total economic output in 
Arizona and Nevada is estimated to be in the range 
of $928 billion to $953 billion, an increase of 
approximately $17 to $42 billion annually, or 
approximately 1.8 to 4.3 percent. The modeled 
outputs for this scenario, all of which are 
significantly higher than for the Asia Pacific 
scenario, reflect the scale of the incremental goods 
movements postulated for this scenario. This 
scenario is unconstrained by transportation 
capacity and so will require incremental 
transportation investment to realize the gains 
indicated. Because of the scale of land 
transportation associated with this development, 
the assumed economic activity will not occur to the 
extent indicated if transportation congestion, 
including border congestion, is a limiting factor.  

Not surprisingly, this scenario has the greatest 
effect on congestion, with even the low range of 
the alternative causing many segments of rural 
roadway to have unacceptable levels of 
congestion, and the high range of the alternative 

(Figure 4-11) resulting in highly congested (LOS F) segments of I-10 toward the 
California border and I-19 south to Mexico. Analysis suggests that for this 
scenario, up to 43 percent of the state transportation corridors analyzed 
indicated unacceptable congestion in 2040, an increase of 15 percent from 
the Baseline Scenario.  

This increase in the number of congested corridors is a significant change that 
would be noticeable to system users and, without investment, would erode 
the economic competitiveness of the region. This congestion would also serve 
as a relative disincentive to attracting nearshoring operations to the 
Intermountain West Corridor, as they would naturally be attracted to more 
competitive regions benefiting from lower levels of highway congestion. 
Construction of the I-11 and Intermountain West Corridor would alleviate this, 
although the specific level of system congestion relief would depend on the 
specific configurations and alignment of the I-11 corridor, which will be 
analyzed more fully in the next study phase. 

 

  

Figure 4-10. Nearshoring 2040 Cumulative Freight Projections 
for Nevada and Arizona, 2012 Dollars, High-Impact Values 

 
Sources: HDR projections and FHWA FAF3 data, inflated to 2012 value 
by Consumer Price Index inflation factor provided by the Bureau of 
Labor Statistics Consumer Price Index inflation calculator. 

Attachment b



4.  PR E L I M I N A R Y  BU S I N E S S  C A S E  FO U N D A T I O N  

 
66 

Figure 4-11. Projected Congestion under the Nearshoring Scenario  

 
Sources: ADOT 2012k, California Department of Finance 2012, Florida Department of Transportation 2012, MAG 2012b, 
NDOT 2012f 

Attachment b



4.  PR E L I M I N A R Y  BU S I N E S S  C A S E  FO U N D A T I O N  

 
 67 

State Economic Development Plans are Fully 
Realized 
This scenario assumes that Arizona and Nevada are able to realize their major 
economic development goals, including growing their economies through an 
industry cluster-based strategy and increasing trade with Mexico and Canada. 

Description 
During the economic downturn, both states suffered devastating job losses, 
particularly in the construction industry. With the recovery, each state has 
emphasized the importance of economic development. Each state has 
reorganized their statewide economic development agencies and created 
aggressive economic development strategy plans to diversify and enhance 
their economies, restore lost jobs, create new jobs, and improve the 
foundations that support and sustain economic vitality.  

A cornerstone of these plans is the implementation of an industry 
cluster-based approach to foster economic sustainability by stimulating 
growth in key sectors. An industry cluster is a geographic concentration of 
interconnected businesses, suppliers, and associated institutions in a 
particular field. Identification of these clusters included an analysis of 
industries, their growth trends, job quality, ability to be a trading sector, and 
finally an assessment of the state’s ability to grow the cluster. The end result is 
a group of industry clusters that has the ability to generate economic growth 
both in the short and long term.  

Tables 4-3 and 4-4 identify each state’s industry clusters, the current 
employment within that cluster, the average wage, and the baseline predicted 
job growth. Some of the selected industries take advantage of local natural 
resources, with both states focusing on renewable energy and Nevada 
targeting mining. 

Table 4-3. Arizona Industry Clusters 

Industries 
Advanced 

Manufacturing 
Aerospace & 

Defense Healthcare 

Information & 
Computer 

Technology 
Direct Employment 2011 101,279 162,507 276,681 63,700 
Establishments 1,907 11,849 12,742 5,302 
Average Wage $63,014 $71,518 $53,385 $92,341 
Average Annual Predicted 
Job Growth 2011-2016 

-0.92% 2.63% 3.39% 3.01% 

Industries 
Life Sciences/ 

Optics 
 

Biotechnology 
Renewable 

Energya 
Transportation & 

Logistics 
Direct Employment 2011 31,047 34,943 3,519 63,311 
Establishments 2,408 3,626 164 3,191 
Average Wage $71,820 $73,807 n/a $49,001 
Average Annual Predicted 
Job Growth 2011-2016 

3.44% 1.58% n/a 0.56% 

a Data for average wage and job growth were not available (n/a). 
Sources: Battelle 2010, Economic Modeling Specialists Intl. 2013 

 

Arizona and Nevada 
have developed an 
industry cluster-based 
approach to foster 
economic sustainability 
by stimulating growth in 
key sectors.  

Attachment b



4.  PR E L I M I N A R Y  BU S I N E S S  C A S E  FO U N D A T I O N  

 
68 

Table 4-4. Nevada Industry Clusters 

Industries 
Aerospace & 

Defense 

Arts, 
Entertainment, 
Recreation & 

Visitor Industries Healthcare 
Information 
Technology 

Direct Employment 2011 15,655 357,638 86,710 52,597 
Establishments 21 8,675 5,645 3,857 
Average Wage $78,764 $34,704 $67,969 $40,437 
Average Annual Predicted 
Job Growth 2011-2016 

0.43% 0.69% 2.36% 2.04% 

Industries Manufacturing 
Mining & 
Materials 

Renewable 
Energya 

Transportation & 
Logistics 

Direct Employment 2011 23,429 23,914 1,701 85,653 
Establishments 1,135 746 33 6,848 
Average Wage $69,152 $79,794 $45,671 $56,974 
Average Annual Predicted 
Job Growth 2011-2016 

2.04% 1.65% 16.82% 1.61% 

a Energy data are from Brookings Institution and include the year 2010 with growth rate 2007 to 2010. 
Source: SRI International 2011  

Many of the industry clusters rely on a robust transportation infrastructure for 
the movement of goods and access to customers. Specifically, because most of 
the targeted industries are in high-value manufacturing, most of the goods 
would be likely to be transported by truck. Each state’s initiative to boost 
strategic infrastructure investments is aimed at increasing competitiveness in 
global trade and promoting job creation and economic vitality. If these 
measures to raise competitiveness are successful, production could shift to 
Arizona and Nevada. Rather than nearshoring to Mexico, firms may consider 
reshoring (U.S. firms moving foreign facilities back to the U.S.) or onshoring 
(foreign firms moving their facilities to the region). 

Results 
In terms of the effect of the scenario on freight movements, the resulting shift 
of production to Arizona and Nevada may result in a shifting of balance of 
trade by state and a significant growth in export movements. This scenario 
would likely be accompanied by a less significant growth in import movements 
to support the growing manufacturing sector. The cumulative effects are 
shown in Figure 4-12. 

The achievement of state economic development goals will be enhanced by 
increasing transportation infrastructure capacity. Both Arizona and Nevada 
have adopted economic development targets. For Arizona, gains are expected 
in transportation and logistics, manufacturing, healthcare, and professional 
services; for Nevada, gains are expected in mining, transportation and 
logistics, and manufacturing. The current level of focused energy and 
resources being applied by both Arizona and Nevada suggests that significant 
progress on these plans is likely to be realized over the period of this analysis. 

Attachment b



4.  PR E L I M I N A R Y  BU S I N E S S  C A S E  FO U N D A T I O N  

 
 69 

This scenario postulates substantial achievement of these goals, while other 
features of the Baseline Scenario remain largely unchanged. The analysis used 
to examine this scenario comprises uniformly distributed increases in 
transportation demand for goods movement into, out of, and within the 
Intermountain West region, which were estimated using professional 
judgment. The increased economic activity associated with this scenario 
results in a greater number of vehicles throughout the region. The increase 
will exacerbate the already congested urban Interstates and some of the 
regional routes, and on a number of rural routes, this increase results in 
unacceptable congestion (Figure 4-13). 

 

Figure 4-12. State Economic Development Plans 2040 Cumulative Freight 
Projections for Nevada and Arizona, 2012 Dollars, High-Impact Values 

 
Sources: HDR projections and FHWA FAF3 data, inflated to 2012 value by CPI inflation 
factor provided by the BLS CPI inflation calculator. 

Attachment b



4.  PR E L I M I N A R Y  BU S I N E S S  C A S E  FO U N D A T I O N  

 
70 

Figure 4-13 Projected Congestion under the Scenario where State Economic Development Plans are Fully 
Realized 

 
Sources: ADOT 2012k, California Department of Finance 2012, Florida Department of Transportation 2012, MAG 2012b, 
NDOT 2012f  

Attachment b



4.  PR E L I M I N A R Y  BU S I N E S S  C A S E  FO U N D A T I O N  

 
 71 

While the economic effects of this scenario are more modest than indicated 
for the preceding scenarios, they will increase the level of economic 
integration in the region, placing additional demands on the transportation 
network. It is also true that the extent to which these goals might be realized 
will be significantly influenced by the availability of high-quality, uncongested 
transportation facilities, both for movement of goods related to the 
investments and to facilitate commuter flows. Under this scenario, the total 
economic output in Arizona and Nevada is estimated to be in the range of 
$919 billion to $927 billion. Analysis suggests that for this scenario, 34 percent 
of the state transportation corridors analyzed indicated unacceptable 
congestion in 2040, an increase of 6 percent from the baseline. Construction 
of the I-11 and Intermountain West Corridor would alleviate this, although the 
specific level of system congestion relief would depend on the specific 
configurations and alignment of the I-11 corridor, which will be analyzed more 
fully in the next study phase. 

Transportation Investment as an 
Enabling Factor in Economic 
Development 
Potential benefits to the regional economy associated with the three scenarios 
discussed above can be realized only if the region maintains its current relative 
competitiveness and is able to attract the level of activity described above. 
Transportation is a key and necessary enabler of economic development.  

Achieving the right conditions to maximize the benefits to the study area from 
current trade developments includes addressing the key enabling factor of 
transportation capacity. This analysis examines the macro-level relationships 
linking trade, transportation, and economic activity to understand the role the 
Corridor might play in facilitating economic growth in the Intermountain West. 
To illustrate these relationships, this section includes a number of examples 
drawn from U.S. experience during the past three decades. These examples 
are related to the growth of Asia Pacific trade and its impacts on West Coast 
port cities, supporting transportation corridors, and the U.S. economy.  

The Role of Trade in Growing the U.S. Economy  
During the past 25 years, the increasing significance of import trade volumes 
from Asia has been a defining reality for POLA/POLB and the ports of Oakland 
and Seattle, as well as the cities in which they are located. These goods 
movements, largely composed of finished consumer products, have 
necessitated infrastructure investment, provided direct employment in port 
activity, and spawned large, robust logistics hubs in each of these locations. By 
far the largest of these hubs, the POLA/POLB complex has invested in 
numerous large-scale infrastructure projects to facilitate this trade.  

Major port activity has 
necessitated 
infrastructure 
investment, provided 
direct employment in 
port activity, and 
spawned large, robust 
logistics hubs in the 
surrounding regions. 

Attachment b



4.  PR E L I M I N A R Y  BU S I N E S S  C A S E  FO U N D A T I O N  

 
72 

This economic activity was attracted to these locations because of the 
access to tidewater provided by the ports, and, at least initially, the availability 
of convenient rail and highway transportation to convey cargoes to 
inland destinations.  

POLB alone moves more than $140 billion worth of goods each year, 
supporting more than 316,000 Southern California jobs (POLB 2013). Taken 
together, the linkage between Asia Pacific trade and its derivative U.S. West 
Coast ports, logistics, and transportation activities has become a multibillion 
dollar industry responsible for hundreds of thousands of jobs. The benefits of 
this trade to the U.S. economy have been large and persistent over 
many years. 

The Role of Transportation Corridors in Attracting 
Trade Flows  
The I-11 and Intermountain West Corridor would play a key enabling role in 
attracting trade flows to the Intermountain West region, particularly for those 
scenarios (described above), with a strong link to international trade. With the 
continuing growth of the U.S. economy, the availability of capacity on 
high-quality transportation facilities suitable for shippers’ needs will attract 
new trade flows and related economic growth. Transportation corridors and 
the supply chains through which goods move are generally structured to 
minimize transportation cost. To illustrate, Asia Pacific import trade flows 
typically enter the U.S. through West Coast ports, with the POLA/POLB 
complex being dominant among them. Much of the U.S. West Coast trade 
growth (beyond that related to the local market) has been focused on Chicago 
as a key intermediate destination where major inland U.S. rail interchanges 
are focused. Cost minimization has generally been achieved by minimizing 
shipping distance.  

Since the early 2000s, congestion in the POLA/POLB complex has emerged as a 
significant secondary determinant to cost and travel time. The result has been 
some adjustment to the logistics network, including the shifting of logistics 
functions east to so-called “inland ports” that are remote from the congestion 
of the POLA/POLB complex. This adjustment has in turn shifted economic 
activity further east in California and to points beyond, where the presence of 
high-quality transportation corridors makes this feasible.  

A similar example of this phenomenon, with particular application to this 
study, relates to the boom in the logistics industry in the Reno area, which has 
been linked by the Brookings Institution to the deepening of the Port of 
Oakland. This investment, which enabled larger container vessels to dock at 
Oakland, took pressure off the POLA/POLB complex. Reno, as a trans-shipment 
point east of the Sierra Nevada along I-80 with high-quality transportation 
links, low taxes, and inexpensive land, thus experienced a jump in demand for 
the development of logistics facilities.  

The availability of 
capacity on high-quality 
transportation facilities 
suitable for shippers’ 
needs will attract new 
trade flows and related 
economic growth. 

Deepening of the Port 
of Oakland resulted in a 
jump in demand in the 
Reno area for the 
development of logistics 
facilities—as a trans-
shipment point east of 
the Sierra Nevada along 
I-80 with high-quality 
transportation links, low 
taxes, and inexpensive 
land. 

Attachment b



4.  PR E L I M I N A R Y  BU S I N E S S  C A S E  FO U N D A T I O N  

 
 73 

In summary, the assignment of trade flows to specific corridors within the 
continental U.S. continues to illustrate strong competition between facilities to 
lower cost, reduce congestion-related delays, and handle volume growth. In 
the face of strong demand growth, trade flows will be attracted to corridors 
with available low-cost, high-quality transportation capacity that serve the 
appropriate origins and destinations.  

The Role of Transportation Corridors in Catalyzing 
Regional Economic Growth 
All along the corridors linking West Coast ports to cargo destinations, 
economic activity has sprung up to support the needs of the supply chain. 
Initially within the ports themselves, then in inland ports, logistics and 
warehousing centers have been built to support the efficient movement, 
storage, and, in some cases, finishing of consumer goods.  

Strong evidence indicates that domestic trade has similarly been attracted to 
these established trade corridors because of the critical mass of low-cost 
supply chain facilities located along uncongested transportation routes. When 
the necessary improvements in transcontinental rail and truck-freight 
corridors and support facilities are added, the investment, and associated 
economic activity, is large. However, it is also true that this activity has 
generally occurred incrementally along existing corridors.  

The structuring of U.S. supply chains has occurred organically within the 
context of existing infrastructure patterns. The benefits of economic activity 
associated with Asia Pacific trade have accrued to those jurisdictions that 
offered existing transportation networks with available capacity and low 
operating costs.  

A good example of this phenomenon can be seen at the LPOEs at the border 
between Texas and Mexico. Supported by toll roads and other private and 
public funding, strong investment was made in infrastructure to mitigate 
border-crossing delays and enhance capacity (Thunderbird School of Global 
Management n.d.). As a result, Texas today enjoys trade flows to and from 
Mexico that are approximately 10 times greater than those between Arizona 
and Mexico. 

Key Findings 
Each of the scenarios examined has the potential to make a major 
contribution to the economic well-being of the region’s residents, bringing up 
to an additional half a million people and 240,000 employees to the region 
over the next 25 years. The specifics of the modeled increases in economic 
output, population, and employment are shown in Table 4-5. 

 

 

Supported by toll roads 
and other private and 
public funding, strong 
investment was made in 
infrastructure to mitigate 
border-crossing delays 
and enhance capacity 
at LPOEs at the border 
between Texas and 
Mexico. As a result, 
Texas today enjoys 
trade flows to and from 
Mexico that are 
approximately 10 times 
greater than those 
between Arizona and 
Mexico. 

Attachment b



4.  PR E L I M I N A R Y  BU S I N E S S  C A S E  FO U N D A T I O N  

 
74 

Table 4-5. Key Modeled Results Corresponding to Each Scenario 

Scenario 

Economic 
Output 

($ billions) 
Population  

(high range) 
Employment  
(high range) 

Unacceptably 
Congested 

Highways (%) 

Current Conditions (2011) 634 9,253,806 4,711,352 9 
Projected Baseline Conditions 
(2040) 

911 15,078,114  6,934,707  28  

Growth in Asia Pacific Trade 924−937 15,398,688 (2.1%) 7,082,049 (2.1%) 34 
Trade with Mexico Expands 
(Nearshoring) 

928−953 15,599,549 (3.5%) 7,174,171 (3.5%) Up to 43 

State Economic Development 
Plans are Fully Realized 

919−927 15,264,701 (1.2%) 7,020,407 (1.2%) 34 

A brief consideration of the range of current and anticipated trends in U.S. 
trade, together with the natural geographic advantages of the Intermountain 
West region, suggests that the region will, under the entire range of 
alternative future scenarios considered, experience significant sustained 
growth in the regional economy, accompanied by corresponding growth in 
travel demand. The level of highway congestion associated with some of these 
possible economic futures suggests that additional investment in 
transportation infrastructure is likely required to realize the full extent of 
these benefits. In fact, the levels of system congestion for the scenarios 
examined suggests that without additional system capacity such as the I-11 
and Intermountain West Corridor, even the most conservative growth 
scenarios may not be realized due to the constraining factor of transportation 
congestion. By strategically enhancing regional transportation infrastructure, 
the region has the opportunity to enjoy full access to the significant 
incremental and economic growth related to important trends in regional and 
national trade.  

The increasing importance of Mexico as a trading partner, the emergence of 
nearshoring as an important and strongly growing structural feature of 
U.S. commerce, and the continuation of the historic strong growth of the 
region all suggest that during the next few decades the Intermountain West 
region’s demands on its transportation infrastructure will grow strongly. This 
trend will be reinforced as the various binational initiatives seeking to improve 
Arizona/Sonora border crossing efficiency and capacity advance their 
objectives (for example, Arizona-Mexico Commission, Transportation and 
Trade Corridor Alliance, Arizona-Sonora Border Master Plan, Freight 
Transportation Framework Study, Arizona Multimodal Logistics Complex 
Analysis, and the Joint Planning Advisory Council for the Arizona Sun Corridor). 
In particular, the high levels of congestion in Southern California suggest that a 
high-quality, north-south corridor in the Intermountain West such as I-11 has 
the potential to become the corridor of choice for trade-related traffic to and 
from Mexico, particularly should the nearshoring phenomenon continue to 
grow. When the current preference for supply chain reliability and resilience 
to support just-in-time delivery in integrated manufacturing and distribution 

The region will, under 
the entire range of 
alternative future 
scenarios considered, 
experience significant 
sustained growth in the 
regional economy, 
accompanied by 
corresponding growth in 
travel demand.  

By strategically 
enhancing regional 
transportation 
infrastructure, the region 
has the opportunity to 
enjoy full access to the 
significant incremental 
and economic growth 
related to important 
trends in regional and 
national trade.  

Attachment b



4.  PR E L I M I N A R Y  BU S I N E S S  C A S E  FO U N D A T I O N  

 
 75 

systems is factored in, the potential attractiveness of the I-11 corridor is 
further strengthened. Further analysis in the next project phase will further 
examine the implications of these insights. 

The scenarios examined in this study are not mutually exclusive and were not 
analyzed with the goal of selecting a preferred outcome. Rather, they illustrate 
the types of influences on goods movement, transportation demand, 
economic activity, population, and employment to be expected in the region if 
certain key economic trends were enabled to play a strong role in the regional 
economic future. Accordingly, under strong economic leadership, the trends 
underlying each of the scenarios examined will contribute to the region’s 
future economic prosperity. The extent to which any individual scenario is 
realized will depend on a host of factors, many of which are beyond the 
control of economic policy. However, the range of features includes the 
potential for significant to very large growth in the economy and in 
transportation demand. Planning for the system capacity increases required to 
enable this growth is prudent and timely. 

Next Steps 
The economic scenarios and analyses presented in this section outline the 
potential shape and magnitude of the trade and economic benefits that might 
be achieved in the I-11 and Intermountain West Corridor under a coordinated 
program to improve north-south mobility on selected surface transportation 
corridors (notionally by upgrading US 93). To focus on a defined, 
implementable program, in the next study phase significant work will be 
carried out to confirm and refine the insights developed through this 
preliminary work.  

The next study phase will include further analysis to validate the scenarios 
presented while developing estimates for the range of associated 
transportation demand. Travel demand will then be assigned to the regional 
transportation corridors based on mode, origins and destinations, system 
capacity, and performance. This effort will permit a Corridor-specific 
understanding of transportation demand over time and the implications for 
congestion and capacity, while simultaneously providing a detailed 
understanding of Corridor operating characteristics, user benefits, travel time, 
and safety implications of potential investments. In parallel, program-level 
estimates of the capital costs of Corridor improvements will allow the 
development of a rudimentary understanding of the range of potential benefit 
and cost ratios for proposed programs of corridor investment.  

With this improved understanding of transportation demand and the potential 
need to respond with system investment, it will be possible to consider the 
level of potential effects related to having a significantly higher-quality 
transportation facility in place. This will include the potential to capture more 
discretionary domestic and internationally originating traffic (in concert with 

Attachment b



4.  PR E L I M I N A R Y  BU S I N E S S  C A S E  FO U N D A T I O N  

 
76 

assumed binational progress on border crossing issues). This understanding 
will permit the development of a comprehensive Business Case for a 
demand-responsive program of Corridor investments to support the continued 
growth of the region’s economy, while including explicit consideration of the 
potential for these same investments to induce significant increases in trade 
flows and associated economic activity in the region. The goal of this Business 
Case will be to support the establishment of a Corridor program investment 
strategy including the timing, scope, triggers, benefits, and costs for a notional 
investment program. 

 

Attachment b



 

 
  77 

 5. Stakeholder and Community Input 

 

The I-11 and Intermountain West Corridor is expected to increase the 
movement of people, goods, and services through local communities and from 
state to state, connecting them to a broader region. The study therefore 
involves a discussion of multiple stakeholders and individuals to accurately 
reflect regional needs. The study team is using a variety of venues to 
communicate and solicit feedback from stakeholders and the public. Using 
traditional meeting methods, along with virtual technologies to bridge the 
challenging Corridor length, opportunities to learn about and discuss the 
project have been offered. At the project outset, the team launched an 
interactive Website to communicate information about the project and to 
provide a venue to solicit feedback. To date, more than 75 comments have 
been received electronically by the project team. This tool has been useful in 
growing the database of key stakeholders and interests; to date, the database 
includes the names of nearly 2,300 individuals.  

Several focused meeting opportunities were arranged. To encourage 
participation, meetings were held in varied locations and often offered the 
opportunity to participate via Webinar. Table 5-1 lists the formal meetings 
held with stakeholders and the public. 

In addition to these meetings, the study team held meetings with the Core 
Agency Partners, stakeholder groups, and other interests, and responded to 
several requests for presentations to entities, including the Inter-Tribal Council 
of Arizona and Inter-Tribal Council of Nevada, regional transportation 
commissions, councils of governments, and metropolitan planning 
organizations, municipalities, and organizations.  

Phoenix Public Meeting 

Summary of Key Findings 
 The project’s interactive Website has helped grow the project database of key stakeholders to nearly 

2,300 individuals. 
 To date, 10 formal stakeholder and public meetings have been held in various locations and via Webinar to 

encourage participation; these meetings have resulted in hundreds of pages of comments and ideas. 
 Key themes derived from these outreach efforts are related to Corridor opportunities, safety and mobility, 

funding and financing, environmental impacts, land use and development, design, alignments, and 
constraints.  

Attachment b



5.  ST A K E H O L D E R  A N D  C O M M U N I T Y  I N P U T  

 
78 

While the engagement efforts with stakeholders and the public have produced 
hundreds of pages of comments and ideas, the sections below summarize key 
themes derived from outreach efforts to date. 

Table 5-1. Stakeholder and Public Meetings 

Date Meeting Location(s) Attendees 

9/26/12 Stakeholder Partners Meeting Surprise, Kingman, Las Vegas, 
Carson City, Webinar 

205 

10/18/12 Public Information Meeting Henderson 51 
10/23/12 Public Information Meeting Phoenix 142 
1/8/13 Utility/Energy Focus Group Phoenix, Las Vegas, 

Carson City, Webinar 
59 

1/22/13 Economic Development Focus Group Surprise, Las Vegas, Reno, 
Webinar 

67 

1/29/13 Freight Users Focus Group Surprise, Las Vegas, 
Carson City, Webinar 

40 

2/5/13 Environment and Sustainability Focus Group Surprise, Las Vegas, 
Carson City, Webinar 

50 

2/12/13 Land Use and Community Development 
Focus Group 

Surprise, Las Vegas, 
Carson City, Webinar 

55 

2/19/13 Corridor Operations Focus Group Surprise, Las Vegas, 
Carson City, Webinar 

30 

2/26/13 Alternative Delivery and Finance 
Focus Group 

Surprise, Las Vegas, 
Carson City, Webinar 

34 

 

Corridor Opportunities 
Feedback often cited the immense economic development opportunities the 
Corridor could facilitate for Arizona, Nevada, and the Intermountain West. 
Support for tourism activities, including connecting recreational assets, 
gaming, and entertainment venues could prove valuable to the states’ 
economies. Many of the comments concentrated on how the Corridor could 
increase trade by supporting the existing economies of mining, energy (solar, 
nuclear, alternative, and renewable fuels), construction, agriculture, and 
military activities, as well as expansions to manufacturing, aerospace/high 
tech, and transportation logistics throughout the Southwest Triangle. As 
manufacturing and labor activities in the Pacific Rim, Central and South 
America, and Mexico evolve and nearshoring/onshoring opportunities grow, 
market access through the Intermountain West to Canada would be served by 
the Corridor, providing relief to already congested Southern California and 
Mexican ports.  

Carson City Focus Group 

Attachment b



5.  ST A K E H O L D E R  A N D  C O M M U N I T Y  I N P U T  

 
 79 

Safety and Mobility 
Concerns regarding the safety of existing routes US 93 and US 95 were often 
cited. Because the mix of passenger and freight activities may not always be 
adequately accommodated by current infrastructure, respondents indicated 
that an I-11 Corridor could provide a more efficient and reliable transportation 
linkage for this underserved region. Freight stakeholders encouraged careful 
planning and placement of truck stops and rest areas to support long-haul 
operations and hours-of-service regulations. While many comments focused 
on safety concerns of using the existing/future infrastructure, several 
individuals asked that the study consider security issues related to the 
movement of hazardous materials or the potential for increased threats 
related to immigration, border security, terrorist activities, and illegal 
drug trade.  

Funding and Financing 
Considerable feedback focused on concerns related to the availability or 
potential sources of Corridor funding. While tolling was the tool most 
frequently discussed—with some in favor and others against—appreciation for 
unique and alternative Corridor delivery options was acknowledged. While 
some dismissed the Corridor because of the potential capital cost alone, 
others underscored the importance of having an informed dialogue about the 
financial implications of designing, building, and maintaining a future I-11 and 
Intermountain West Corridor. A variety of funding, financing, and alternative 
delivery options were suggested.  

Environmental Impacts 
Consideration for environmental disturbances and impacts was emphasized. 
Research for, and subsequent protection of, wildlife habitat and migration 
corridors, waterways and wetlands, and cultural sites is critical, as is 
consideration of key species found within the study area (including the desert 
tortoise, bighorn sheep, and pronghorn antelope). While some comments 
noted that the environmental and climate impacts of the Corridor outweigh 
any possible benefit, and disapproval of the Corridor was noted, various 
strategies and mitigation tactics were recommended for potential use. 

Land Use and Development 
Emphasis was placed on the importance of connecting land use and 
transportation decisions to build the nation’s first “smart” corridor. Working 
with local jurisdictions to identify a future I-11 and Intermountain West 
Corridor in land use plans is a good first step, but facilitating compatible uses 
adjacent to the Corridor is equally important to maximizing the benefits of the 
asset. Zoning, right-of-way designation, and establishing easements are tools 
communities can use for these purposes. Some parties, however, noted that 

Attachment b



5.  ST A K E H O L D E R  A N D  C O M M U N I T Y  I N P U T  

 
80 

communities bypassed by the Corridor could experience negative impacts; 
others worried that it might promote urban sprawl. Focusing on using existing 
corridors to the maximum extent possible and connecting existing activity 
centers and employment hubs was offered as a sustainable planning strategy. 

Corridor Design 
There is considerable support for the study of a multifunctional Corridor that 
not only provides multimodal transportation opportunities but also houses 
assets that require similar rights-of-way. Considerations ranging from 
biking/cycling, pedestrian and equestrian movements, and transit alternatives 
were offered, but high-speed passenger and freight rail were the most 
frequently suggested modes to consider, along with traditional vehicle 
movements. Utility (including transmission lines and telecommunications) and 
energy (including liquid/natural gas, fiber/dark fiber, wind, and solar) options 
and other emerging/future opportunities were offered as potential candidates 
for shared or combined rights-of-way or easements. While using a coordinated 
corridor for the movement of people, goods, and utilities was supported, 
some questioned whether this type of “combination facility” would increase 
national security concerns. Any effort, however, would necessitate the 
consideration of separate requirements, size of footprint, asset compatibility, 
and cost. The Corridor could be the opportunity to build a smart or “green” 
corridor of the future, serving as a new model for the movement of goods and 
people by learning from the best practices of previous corridor development. 
In addition to support for a multimodal, multifunctional corridor, many 
specific features and amenities were suggested for consideration.  

Corridor Alignments 
While this phase did not study potential corridor alignments for a future I-11 
and Intermountain West Corridor, the public and stakeholders still desired to 
propose “lines on a map.” Their ideas for existing corridors, including US 93, 
were routinely recommended. Additionally, many commenters wanted 
assurance that a no build alternative would be considered, with several 
questioning whether the results of this study would indeed identify a need for 
a future I-11 (or any new roadway). Others questioned whether future 
evaluation of potential corridors was even warranted, and they were 
concerned that a preferred alignment was predetermined. For those who 
supported a future Corridor, connecting key activity centers, including inland 
ports, airports, and other logistical assets, was recommended. Connections 
beyond the Priority Corridor Segment (Phoenix to Las Vegas metropolitan 
areas) were also advised, with individuals stressing the importance of the 
Corridor being a true Intermountain West route, connecting Mexico and 
Canada. While destinations south of Phoenix often focused on the Sun 
Corridor, potential connection points to the north ranged from Vancouver,  

Surprise Stakeholder Partners 
Meeting 

Attachment b



5.  ST A K E H O L D E R  A N D  C O M M U N I T Y  I N P U T  

 
 81 

Seattle, and Reno in the west, to locations such as Ely (Nevada) and Salt Lake 
City to the east. 

Constraints 
Several key constraints were noted, most notably funding challenges and 
environmental considerations. Many commenters emphasized the challenge 
of building consensus for a future Corridor and the need for long-term political 
will and the commitment necessary to implement a project of this magnitude. 
Other constraints cited include the locations of many decentralized population 
and employment centers throughout the study area, as well as the significant 
cost and complications of right-of-way acquisition. 

 

Attachment b



Attachment b



 

 
  83 

 6. Next Steps 
 

This Corridor Justification Report summarizes the findings of the first half of 
the study and describes the characteristics affecting the corridor—such as 
existing and future population and employment, economic diversity, freight 
movement, and environmental conditions—that will be needed in the second 
half of the study to evaluate the location and type of an enhanced 
transportation facility.  

The second half of the study (Figure 6-1) will be dedicated to preparing the 
Corridor Concept Report, which will identify and evaluate alternatives, and 
ultimately recommend a preferred corridor(s) for further consideration. 
Detailed alternative alignment and mode analyses will be conducted for the 
priority segment areas between and including the Phoenix and Las Vegas 
metropolitan areas. An implementation plan will delineate future actions 
needed to develop the Corridor and will assign timeframes and responsibilities 
for accomplishing those actions. A purpose and need statement will be 
prepared to fulfill important National Environmental Policy Act requirements 
needed for the next phase (environmental study) of the project 
development process. 

A high-level feasibility assessment will 
be conducted for the future connectivity 
areas of southern Arizona and northern 
Nevada that will narrow alignment and 
mode options to only those that are 
feasible and meet the draft purpose and 
need. More detailed analyses will be 
required in subsequent studies to 
advance these segments through the 
National Environmental Policy Act process. 

In addition to this Corridor Justification 
Report, at the conclusion of the study, two 
additional primary documents will be 
produced: the Corridor Concept Report, 
which will include a series of decisions and 
working papers presented during this 
phase, and the Final Business Case 
Foundation. The objective of the Business 
Case is to provide an understanding of the 
potential economic impact that corridor 
development would have on Arizona and 
Nevada. Applying the economic scenarios 

Figure 6-1. Corridor Concept Report Timeline and Process 

PEL = Planning and Environmental Linkages 

Attachment b



6.  NE X T  ST E P S  

 
84 

identified in Chapter 4 of this report to the alignments developed during the 
Corridor Concept phase of the study, a high-level economic impact analysis 
and a benefit cost analysis will be conducted. The Business Case will promote 
the economic value of the project to government agencies, other 
stakeholders, taxpayers, and potentially interested private partners. 

Before construction commences on any transportation project, a number of 
traditional steps must be taken. The process begins with planning and is 
followed by environmental analyses, design, and possibly right-of-way 
acquisitions. This study, the first step in that process, is implementing 
new guidelines for streamlining the National Environmental Policy Act 
requirements by advancing some of them into the planning process, referred 
to as Planning and Environmental Linkages. 

An ongoing element of this corridor study, the Planning and Environmental 
Linkages process will help streamline the entire environmental review process, 
allowing this study to provide the foundation and minimize the need for re-
evaluation as the project progresses into the environmental phase  

ADOT and NDOT have both worked with FHWA to adapt the federal guidance 
into state-led processes, which include a series of checklists to be completed 
throughout a study’s process. The Planning and Environmental Linkages 
procedures of the two states are very similar and will be carried forth 
throughout this study to identify important issues early, so that agencies, 
stakeholders, and the public can make informed and timely decisions. 

 

Attachment b



 

 
  85 

 7. Acronyms and Abbreviations 
 

ADOT Arizona Department of Transportation 
bqAZ Building a Quality Arizona 
CANAMEX Transportation corridor connecting Canada and 
 Mexico through the United States 
FAF3 [FHWA] Freight Analysis Framework 
FHWA Federal Highway Administration 
GDP gross domestic product 
I Interstate 
LOS level of service 
LPOE land port of entry 
MAG Maricopa Association of Governments 
MAP-21 Moving Ahead for Progress in the 21st Century 
NAFTA North American Free Trade Agreement 
NASCO North America’s SuperCorridor Coalition 
n.d. no date 
NDOT Nevada Department of Transportation 
NHS National Highway System 
POLA Port of Los Angeles 
POLB Port of Long Beach 
SR State Route 
TEU 20-foot equivalent unit 
UPRR Union Pacific Railroad 
U.S.  United States 

 

Attachment b

http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/United_States�


Attachment b



 

 
  87 

 8. References 
 

Airports Council International. 2012. North American Airport Passenger Traffic 
Up 1.8 Percent. Available at: http://www.aci-na.org/newsroom/press-
releases/north-american-airport-passenger-traffic-18-percent. 
Accessed November 27, 2012. 

Alix Partners. 2012. “Executive Perspectives on Near-Shoring.” October. 

America2050.org. Available at: http://www.america2050.org/. 
American Transportation Research Institute. 2011. FPM Congestion 

Monitoring at 250 Freight Significant Highway Locations. Available at: 
http://atri-online.org/2011/10/01/fpm-congestion-monitoring-at-250-
freight-significant-highway-locations/. 

Arizona Commerce Authority. 2013. Job by Industry Report for Arizona, EMSI. 
Arizona Department of Administration, Office of Employment and Population 

Statistics. 2012a. Available at: 
http://www.workforce.az.gov/population-projections.aspx. 

 Accessed May 20, 2013 
Arizona Department of Administration. 2012b. State Demographers Office 

Population Projections. Available at: 
http://www.azstats.gov/population-projections.aspx. Accessed 
September 25, 2012. 

Arizona Department of Transportation (ADOT). 2010a. bqAZ Statewide 
Transportation Planning Framework Program. Available at: 
http://www.bqaz.gov/ Accessed September 20, 2012. 

Arizona Department of Transportation (ADOT). 2012b. Arizona-Sonora Border 
Master Plan. Available at: 
http://www.azdot.gov/highways/projects/Arizona-Sonora_Border/ind
ex.asp. Accessed October 9, 2012. 

Arizona Department of Transportation (ADOT). 2012k. Arizona Statewide 
Travel Demand Model. 

Arizona Department of Transportation (ADOT). 2013b. Arizona-Sonora Border 
Master Plan. Available at: 
http://www.azdot.gov/highways/projects/Arizona-Sonora_Border/ind
ex.asp.  

Battelle Technology Partnership in collaboration with C2ER. 2010. “Emerging 
Green Industries in Arizona: Definitions, Industry Base, and 
Opportunity Areas.”  

Boston Consulting Group. 2012. More Than a Third of Large Manufacturers are 
Considering Reshoring from China to the U.S. 

Attachment b

http://www.aci-na.org/newsroom/press-releases/north-american-airport-passenger-traffic-18-percent�
http://www.aci-na.org/newsroom/press-releases/north-american-airport-passenger-traffic-18-percent�
http://www.america2050.org/�
http://atri-online.org/2011/10/01/fpm-congestion-monitoring-at-250-freight-significant-highway-locations/�
http://atri-online.org/2011/10/01/fpm-congestion-monitoring-at-250-freight-significant-highway-locations/�
http://www.workforce.az.gov/population-projections.aspx�
http://www.azstats.gov/population-projections.aspx�
http://www.bqaz.gov/�
http://www.azdot.gov/highways/projects/Arizona‐Sonora_Border/index.asp�
http://www.azdot.gov/highways/projects/Arizona‐Sonora_Border/index.asp�
http://www.azdot.gov/highways/projects/Arizona‐Sonora_Border/index.asp�
http://www.azdot.gov/highways/projects/Arizona‐Sonora_Border/index.asp�


8.  RE F E R E N C E S  

 
88 

Brookings Institution. 2009a. Expect Delays: An Analysis of Air Travel Trends in 
the United States. Available at: 
http://www.brookings.edu/reports/2009/1008_air_travel_tomer_pue
ntes.aspx.  

Brookings Institution. 2009b. An Analysis of Air Traffic Patterns in the 
Intermountain West. Available at: 
http://www.brookings.edu/~/media/Research/Files/Reports/2009/10/
08%20air%20travel%20tomer%20puentes/1008_air_travel_imw_repo
rt.PDF  

Brookings Institution. 2011. An Economic Development Agenda for Nevada. 
Available at: 
http://www.brookings.edu/~/media/research/files/papers/2011/11/1
4%20nevada%20economy/1114_nevada_economy.pdf.  

Bureau of Transportation Statistics (BTS). 2012b. Airport Summary Data (U.S. 
Flights Only) – August 2011 to July 2012b. Available at: 
http://www.transtats.bts.gov/airports.asp?pn=1. 
Accessed November 5, 2012. 

Bureau of Transportation Statistics. 2012c. Transborder Freight Data. Available 
at: http://transborder.bts.gov/programs/international/transborder 
TBDR_QA.html  

California Department of Finance. 2012. State and County Population 
Projections. Available at: www.dof.ca.gov/research. 

Cambridge Systematics, Inc. 2007. National Rail Freight Infrastructure Capacity 
and Investment Study. Available at: 
www.camsys.com/pubs/AAR_Nat_%20Rail_Cap_Study.pdf.  

CH2M HILL and Wilbur Smith Associates Inc. 2011. I-15 Corridor 
Characteristics: Intelligent Transportation Systems. Available at: 
http://www.i15alliance.org/pdfs/tech_memos/corridor_system_chara
cteristics/I-15CSMP_CorrChar_ITS_FINAL.pdf. 

Economic Modeling Specialists Intl. 2013. “Jobs by Industry Report” for 
Arizona. January. 

Federal Aviation Administration. n.d. Air Traffic Activity System – Airport 
Operations. Available at: http://aspm.faa.gov/opsnet/sys/Airport.asp. 
Accessed November 27, 2012. 

Federal Aviation Administration. 2012b. Enplanements at Primary Airports by 
Rank. Available at: 
http://www.faa.gov/airports/planning_capacity/passenger_allcargo_s
tats/passenger/index.cfm?year=2011. Accessed November 27, 2012. 

Federal Aviation Administration. 2012d. FAA Aerospace Forecasts FY2012-
2032: Full Forecast Document and Tables. Available at: 
http://www.faa.gov/about/office_org/headquarters_offices/apl/aviati
on_forecasts/aerospace_forecasts/2012-2032/. 
Accessed December 3, 2012. 

Attachment b

http://www.brookings.edu/reports/2009/1008_air_travel_tomer_puentes.aspx�
http://www.brookings.edu/reports/2009/1008_air_travel_tomer_puentes.aspx�
http://www.brookings.edu/~/media/Research/Files/Reports/2009/10/08%20air%20travel%20tomer%20puentes/1008_air_travel_imw_report.PDF�
http://www.brookings.edu/~/media/Research/Files/Reports/2009/10/08%20air%20travel%20tomer%20puentes/1008_air_travel_imw_report.PDF�
http://www.brookings.edu/~/media/Research/Files/Reports/2009/10/08%20air%20travel%20tomer%20puentes/1008_air_travel_imw_report.PDF�
http://www.brookings.edu/~/media/research/files/papers/2011/11/14%20nevada%20economy/1114_nevada_economy.pdf�
http://www.brookings.edu/~/media/research/files/papers/2011/11/14%20nevada%20economy/1114_nevada_economy.pdf�
http://www.transtats.bts.gov/airports.asp?pn=1�
http://transborder.bts.gov/programs/international/transborderTBDR_QA.html�
http://transborder.bts.gov/programs/international/transborderTBDR_QA.html�
http://www.dof.ca.gov/research�
http://www.camsys.com/pubs/AAR_Nat_%20Rail_Cap_Study.pdf�
http://www.i15alliance.org/pdfs/tech_memos/corridor_system_characteristics/I-15CSMP_CorrChar_ITS_FINAL.pdf�
http://www.i15alliance.org/pdfs/tech_memos/corridor_system_characteristics/I-15CSMP_CorrChar_ITS_FINAL.pdf�
http://aspm.faa.gov/opsnet/sys/Airport.asp�
http://www.faa.gov/airports/planning_capacity/passenger_allcargo_stats/passenger/index.cfm?year=2011�
http://www.faa.gov/airports/planning_capacity/passenger_allcargo_stats/passenger/index.cfm?year=2011�
http://www.faa.gov/about/office_org/headquarters_offices/apl/aviation_forecasts/aerospace_forecasts/2012-2032/�
http://www.faa.gov/about/office_org/headquarters_offices/apl/aviation_forecasts/aerospace_forecasts/2012-2032/�


8.  RE F E R E N C E S  

 
 89 

Federal Aviation Administration. 2012f. All-Cargo Data for U.S. Airports. 
Available at: 
http://www.faa.gov/airports/planning_capacity/passenger_allcargo_s
tats/passenger/.  

Federal Highway Administration (FHWA). 2005. Crash Cost Estimates by 
Maximum Police-Reported Injury Severity Within Selected Crash 
Geometries (FHWA-HRT-05-051). Available at: 
http://www.fhwa.dot.gov/publications/research/safety/05051/05051.
pdf.  

Federal Highway Administration (FHWA). 2012. Freight Analysis Framework 
Version 3 (FAF3). Accessed November 2012. 

Federal Highway Administration (FHWA). 2013. Freight Analysis Framework 
Version 3.4 (FAF3). Released January 10, 2013. 
Accessed February 2013. 

Florida Department of Transportation. 2012. 2012 FDOT Quality/Level of 
Service Handbook Tables. Available at: www.dot.state.fl.us. 

Government Accountability Office. 2009. National Airspace System: Regional 
Airport Planning Could Help Address Congestion If Plans Were 
Integrated with FAA and Airport Decision Making. Available at: 
http://www.gao.gov/products/GAO-10-120. 
Accessed December 3, 2012. 

Greater Phoenix Economic Council. 2013. Available at: 
http://www.gpec.org/home. Accessed January 30, 2013. 

International Monetary Fund. 2012. World Economic Outlook Database 
October 2012. Available at: 
http://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/weo/2012/02/weodata/index.a
spx.  

Joint Planning and Advisory Council. 2012. Freight Transportation Framework 
Study: Examining Freight and Multimodal Opportunities in the Sun 
Corridor. Available at: http://www.jpacaz.org/pdf/2012-10-
30/JPAC_2012-10-30_Sun-Corridor-Freight-Transportation-
Framework-Study-Presentation.pdf. 

Maricopa Association of Governments (MAG). 2007. I-10/Hassayampa Valley 
Transportation Framework Study. Available at: 
http://www.bqaz.org/hasOverview.asp?mS=m3. 
Accessed October 9, 2012. 

Maricopa Association of Governments (MAG). 2009a. I-8 and I-10/Hidden 
Valley Transportation Framework Study. Available at: 
http://www.bqaz.org/hiddReports.asp?mS=m4. 
Accessed October 9, 2012. 

Maricopa Association of Governments (MAG). 2012b. Maricopa Association of 
Governments Regional Travel Demand Model. 

Attachment b

http://www.faa.gov/airports/planning_capacity/passenger_allcargo_stats/passenger/�
http://www.faa.gov/airports/planning_capacity/passenger_allcargo_stats/passenger/�
http://www.fhwa.dot.gov/publications/research/safety/05051/05051.pdf�
http://www.fhwa.dot.gov/publications/research/safety/05051/05051.pdf�
http://www.dot.state.fl.us/�
http://www.gao.gov/products/GAO-10-120�
http://www.gpec.org/home�
http://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/weo/2012/02/weodata/index.aspx�
http://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/weo/2012/02/weodata/index.aspx�
http://www.jpacaz.org/pdf/2012-10-30/JPAC_2012-10-30_Sun-Corridor-Freight-Transportation-Framework-Study-Presentation.pdf.�
http://www.jpacaz.org/pdf/2012-10-30/JPAC_2012-10-30_Sun-Corridor-Freight-Transportation-Framework-Study-Presentation.pdf.�
http://www.jpacaz.org/pdf/2012-10-30/JPAC_2012-10-30_Sun-Corridor-Freight-Transportation-Framework-Study-Presentation.pdf.�
http://www.bqaz.org/hasOverview.asp?mS=m3�
http://www.bqaz.org/hiddReports.asp?mS=m4�


8.  RE F E R E N C E S  

 
90 

North America’s Corridor Coalition (NASCO), August 1, 2012. The NASCO 
Report, Vol. IV, Issue 15. 

Nelson, Arthur C. and Robert E. Lang. 2011. Megapolitan America: A New 
Vision for Understanding America’s Metropolitan Geography.  

Nevada Department of Employment. 2012. Nevada Long-Term Industrial 
Employment Projections. Available at: 
http://www.nevadaworkforce.com/?PAGEID=67&SUBID=197.  

Nevada Department of Transportation (NDOT). 2012f. Nevada Statewide 
Travel Demand Model.  

Nevada State Demographer’s Office. 2012. Available at: 
http://nvdemography.org. Accessed September 25, 2012. 

New Policy Institute and Arizona State University North American Center for 
Cross-Border Studies. 2012. Realizing the Full Value of Crossborder 
Trade with Mexico. Available at: 
http://21stcenturyborder.files.wordpress.com/2011/12/realizing-the-
value-of-crossborder-trade-with-mexico1.pdf. 

North America’s Corridor Coalition (NASCO), August 1, 2012. The NASCO 
Report, Vol. IV, Issue 15. 

Port of Long Beach (POLB). 2013. Biography of Larry Cottrill, Director of Master 
Planning, Port of Long Beach, California. Available at: 
http://www.polb.com/contact/staff/directors/cottrill.asp.  

PricewaterhouseCoopers. 2012. “A Homecoming for U.S. Manufacturing?” 
September. Available at: https://www.pwc.com/en_US/us/industrial-
products/publications/assets/pwc-us-manufacturing-resurgence.pdf. 

Regional Plan Association, 2005. America Megaregions. Available at: 
http://www.america2050.org/megaregions.html.  

Schwartz, Shelley. 2012. “What’s the Next Global Manufacturing 
Superpower?” September 18. Available at: 
http://www.cnbc.com/id/49007307/What039s_the_Next_Global_Manufactu
ring_Superpower. Accessed January 2013. 

Senate Joint Economic Committee. 2012. “The Impact of Intellectual Property 
Theft on the Economy.” August. Available at: 
http://www.jec.senate.gov/public/index.cfm?a=Files.Serve&File_id=aa
0183d4-8ad9-488f-9e38-7150a3bb62be. 

Southern California Association of Governments. 2012. 2012-2035 Regional 
Transportation Plan. Available at: 
http://rtpscs.scag.ca.gov/Pages/2012-2035-RTP-SCS.aspx. Accessed 
October 2012. 

Southern California National Freight Gateway Collaboration. 2011. On the 
Move Southern California Delivers the Goods. Available at: 
http://freightcollaboration.org/docManager/1000000072/Freight%20
Brochure_Final_May5-2011_small.pdf.  

Attachment b

http://www.nevadaworkforce.com/?PAGEID=67&SUBID=197�
http://nvdemography.org/�
http://21stcenturyborder.files.wordpress.com/2011/12/realizing-the-value-of-crossborder-trade-with-mexico1.pdf�
http://21stcenturyborder.files.wordpress.com/2011/12/realizing-the-value-of-crossborder-trade-with-mexico1.pdf�
http://www.polb.com/contact/staff/directors/cottrill.asp�
https://www.pwc.com/en_US/us/industrial-products/publications/assets/pwc-us-manufacturing-resurgence.pdf�
https://www.pwc.com/en_US/us/industrial-products/publications/assets/pwc-us-manufacturing-resurgence.pdf�
http://www.america2050.org/megaregions.html�
http://www.cnbc.com/id/49007307/What039s_the_Next_Global_Manufacturing_Superpower�
http://www.cnbc.com/id/49007307/What039s_the_Next_Global_Manufacturing_Superpower�
http://www.jec.senate.gov/public/index.cfm?a=Files.Serve&File_id=aa0183d4-8ad9-488f-9e38-7150a3bb62be�
http://www.jec.senate.gov/public/index.cfm?a=Files.Serve&File_id=aa0183d4-8ad9-488f-9e38-7150a3bb62be�
http://rtpscs.scag.ca.gov/Pages/2012-2035-RTP-SCS.aspx.%20Accessed%20October%202012�
http://rtpscs.scag.ca.gov/Pages/2012-2035-RTP-SCS.aspx.%20Accessed%20October%202012�
http://freightcollaboration.org/docManager/1000000072/Freight%20Brochure_Final_May5-2011_small.pdf�
http://freightcollaboration.org/docManager/1000000072/Freight%20Brochure_Final_May5-2011_small.pdf�


8.  RE F E R E N C E S  

 
 91 

SRI International. 2011. “Nevada Industry and Competitiveness Analysis, 
Identification of Industry Opportunities.” November 14. 

Texas State Data Center. Available at: 
http://txsdc.utsa.edu/Data/TPEPP/Projections/Data.aspxtate. Data 
Center, 2012. Accessed May 20, 2013. 

Texas Transportation Institute. 2009. A Model Comparison of Domestic Freight 
Transportation Effects on the General Public. Available at: 
http://www.americanwaterways.com/press_room/news_releases/N
WFSTudy.pdf.  

The Economist. 2013. “Reshoring Manufacturing: Coming Home.” The 
Economist. January 13. Available at: 
http://www.economist.com/news/special-report/21569570-growing-
number-american-companies-are-moving-their-manufacturing-back-
united. 

Thunderbird School of Global Management. n.d. Arizona-Mexico Supply Chain 
Landscape Analysis: A Nearshoring Study. Available at: 
http://www.azmag.gov/Documents/EDC_2012-04-03_Arizona-
Mexico-Supply-Chain-Landscape-Analysis-Nearshore-Study.pdf.  

Tucson Regional Economic Opportunities. 2006. Tucson Economic Blueprint 
Strategic Analysis Report. 

U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis. 2012. Regional Economic Accounts. 
Available at: http://www.bea.gov/regional/. 
Accessed September 25, 2012. 

U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics. 2010. International Labor Comparisons. 
Available at: http://www.bls.gov.fls/china.htm. 
Accessed January 2013.  

U.S. Census Bureau. 2002. Demographic Trends in the 20th Century. 
Available at: http://www.census.gov/prod/2002pubs/censr-4.pdf. 

U.S. Census Bureau. 2010a. 2010 Census; 2006–2011 American Community 
Survey. Available at: 
http://www.census.gov/acs/www/guidance_for_data_users/comparin
g_2011. Accessed September 25, 2012. 

U.S. Census Bureau. 2011. American Community Survey. 2011, 2009-2011, 
2006-2011. Available at: http://factfinder2.census.gov. Accessed 
September 25, 2012. 

Wall Street Journal. 2010. March 12. 

World Shipping Council. 2011. Available at: 
http://www.worldshipping.org/about-the-industry/global-trade/top-
50-world-container-ports. Accessed August 2012. 

Attachment b

http://txsdc.utsa.edu/Data/TPEPP/Projections/Data.aspxtate�
http://www.americanwaterways.com/press_room/news_releases/NWFSTudy.pdf�
http://www.americanwaterways.com/press_room/news_releases/NWFSTudy.pdf�
http://www.economist.com/news/special-report/21569570-growing-number-american-companies-are-moving-their-manufacturing-back-united.�
http://www.economist.com/news/special-report/21569570-growing-number-american-companies-are-moving-their-manufacturing-back-united.�
http://www.economist.com/news/special-report/21569570-growing-number-american-companies-are-moving-their-manufacturing-back-united.�
http://www.azmag.gov/Documents/EDC_2012-04-03_Arizona-Mexico-Supply-Chain-Landscape-Analysis-Nearshore-Study.pdf�
http://www.azmag.gov/Documents/EDC_2012-04-03_Arizona-Mexico-Supply-Chain-Landscape-Analysis-Nearshore-Study.pdf�
http://www.bea.gov/regional/�
http://www.bls.gov.fls/china.htm�
http://www.census.gov/prod/2002pubs/censr-4.pdf�
http://www.census.gov/acs/www/guidance_for_data_users/comparing_2011/�
http://www.census.gov/acs/www/guidance_for_data_users/comparing_2011/�
http://factfinder2.census.gov/�
http://www.worldshipping.org/about-the-industry/global-trade/top-50-world-container-ports.%20Accessed%20August%202012�
http://www.worldshipping.org/about-the-industry/global-trade/top-50-world-container-ports.%20Accessed%20August%202012�


I-11 & INTERMOUNTAIN WEST CORRICOR: FREQUENTLY ASKED QUESTIONS (FAQS) 

DECEMBER 4, 2012 
1 

December 4, 2012 

Frequently Asked Questions (FAQs) 
Why is this study being conducted? 
Congress recognized the importance of the US 93 Corridor between Phoenix and Las Vegas 
and designated it as future I-11 in the recent transportation authorization bill, Moving Ahead 
for Progress in the 21st Century Act (MAP-21). Previous planning studies have presumed that if 
extended north of Las Vegas and south of Phoenix, this Corridor has the potential to become a 
major multimodal north-south transcontinental corridor through the Intermountain West. The 
Corridor would connect major cities, existing and future trade hubs, existing and future 
domestic and international deep-water ports, intersecting Interstate highways, and railroads. 
This study is being conducted to evaluate the validity of these claims, establish a purpose and 
need for the Corridor, consider 
possible alignment(s) and 
multimodal alternatives, and 
develop implementation and 
funding strategies. 

 
What is the study area?  
For study purposes, the Corridor is 
divided into segments. The segment 
between the metropolitan areas of 
Las Vegas and Phoenix is considered 
high priority and will be studied in 
the most detail to examine 
preferred alignment(s) for I-11. 
From Las Vegas to Canada, and 
from Phoenix to Mexico, potential 
options for extension of the 
Corridor will be considered. This will 
include identifying potential 
connection points into Mexico. 
These Corridor segments have been 
identified in the map shown to the 
right. 

  

Attachment c



I-11 & INTERMOUNTAIN WEST CORRICOR: FREQUENTLY ASKED QUESTIONS (FAQS) 

DECEMBER 4, 2012 
2 

Do you have a map of the proposed route? 
No. It is very early in the study process and alternatives/alignments have not yet been developed. Several previous 
studies have identified potential alignments for the Corridor or a similar north-south Interstate route (e.g., Hassayampa 
Freeway and the CANAMEX Corridor). As part of this study, review of prior recommendations will occur, building upon 
them utilizing new information, to determine suitable alternative alignment options. Each feasible alignment, as well as 
the “no build” option, will be evaluated based on various criteria, including but not limited to: meeting passenger and 
freight travel needs, compatibility with local plans, community support, environmental impact, and cost. 
Notwithstanding maps or proposals from other organizations that might suggest an alignment for I-11, no decision has 
been made on where the route will go.  

 
If extended north of Las Vegas, will the Corridor connect to Reno? 
Once the need for the transportation facility is established, alignment alternatives will be explored between Phoenix and 
Las Vegas (the highest-priority segment). A range of Corridor routing options north of Las Vegas will be reviewed, which 
may include connecting to Reno, or other communities in Nevada. 

 
If extended south of Phoenix, will the Corridor connect to Tucson? 
Once the need for the transportation facility is established, alignment alternatives will be explored between Phoenix and 
Las Vegas (the highest-priority segment). A range of Corridor routing options south of Phoenix will be reviewed, which 
may include connecting to Tucson, or other communities in Arizona. 

 
Will this be only a highway corridor? 
Options for multiple modes of transportation will be explored such as highway, freight rail, passenger rail, transit, 
pipeline and energy/utility transmission. One or more of these options could be paired within the same right of way, or 
different transportation modes could travel parallel to one another using different alignments. Technology 
improvements that can enhance travel will also be considered (e.g., real-time/adaptive messaging signs, vehicle 
communication, etc.). 

 
With US 93 improvements in place, do we really need a freeway between Phoenix and Las Vegas? 
As part of this study, the team will investigate and assess the need for a new or improved facility with respect to various 
factors such as traffic congestion, freight movement, economic development and safety to determine whether the 
facility is needed, for what purpose, and with what benefit. 

 
When will this Corridor be built?  
This is the beginning of a two-year study to determine whether there is a need for a new or improved transportation 
facility between Phoenix and Las Vegas, with potential extensions north to Canada and south to Mexico. If a need exists, 
this study will determine viable location(s) for the facility. The study will serve as the foundation for subsequent, more 
detailed studies (such as environmental and engineering) that are required. No funding is currently available to 
construct the Corridor. Certain highway segments that could be part of I-11, however, such as the Boulder City Bypass in 
Nevada, are farther along in the development process and could be constructed sooner than other portions as funding 
becomes available. 

 

Attachment c



I-11 & INTERMOUNTAIN WEST CORRICOR: FREQUENTLY ASKED QUESTIONS (FAQS) 

DECEMBER 4, 2012 
3 

Will I-11 be a toll road? 
At this point, no funding is available to construct an Interstate facility in the Corridor. This study will first evaluate the 
need for the Corridor and then develop high-level cost estimates and options to pay for it. Should the Corridor proceed 
through implementation, a combination of funding sources and financing will be necessary to build the facility. Various 
funding sources and project implementation strategies will be investigated, including public-private partnerships, of 
which tolling is just one of many options. 

 
Is I-11and Intermountain West Corridor the best project for spending our limited transportation 
dollars? 
As the study progresses, better information will be available to answer this question. Within the first nine months of the 
project we will assess the need for the facility by conducting a thorough analysis to determine the potential facility’s 
benefits and costs and determine if there is a business case for implementing the project. The results of this business 
analysis will be shared with our public and private partners to understand where this project fits in the statewide 
(Arizona and Nevada) and regional priorities for transportation system development. 

 
How is this study being funded? 
The I-11 & Intermountain West Corridor Study is being funded jointly by NDOT and ADOT through federal allocations 
and state resources. 

 
Will this create a safer roadway between Phoenix and Las Vegas? 
There has been a significant investment to improve the US 93 corridor between Wickenburg, Arizona and Henderson, 
Nevada. The route, however, still has a low level of access control; many intersecting roads and driveways provide direct 
access to US 93 thereby reducing safety and efficiency for traffic movement. Along with other multimodal options, this 
study will consider an access-controlled roadway, consisting ultimately of a freeway that has access only at fully-
controlled traffic interchanges. 

 
What will be done to limit the impacts on wildlife fragmentation and habitat as well as on wilderness 
lands? 
A detailed environmental analysis will be part of subsequent studies for this Corridor. However, during this preliminary 
phase, several environmental agencies and organizations are part of the project’s Stakeholder Partners group, helping to 
identify areas that are not conducive to new or improved transportation facilities, and advising on mitigation measures 
that can allow the development of new or improved facilities without fragmenting and therefore jeopardizing wildlife 
habitats. This sort of collaboration has been successful in previous efforts, including ADOT and the Arizona Game and 
Fish Department’s recent work integrating wildlife crossings with US 93 corridor improvements. 

 
Will this Corridor create urban sprawl? 
One of the visions for this Corridor is that it will promote economic development by connecting communities. 
Throughout this study, the project team will collaborate with the communities along the Corridor to understand their 
growth plans and develop recommendations consistent with those plans. 

 
Will public input be considered in the evaluation of a potential I-11 & Intermountain West Corridor? 
Absolutely. Draft study reports will be posted on the study website (www.i11study.com) for public review and 
comments will be received and incorporated into final versions. Transportation is personal and every decision that will 

Attachment c

http://www.i11study.com/�


I-11 & INTERMOUNTAIN WEST CORRICOR: FREQUENTLY ASKED QUESTIONS (FAQS) 

DECEMBER 4, 2012 
4 

be made regarding this Corridor affects someone to some degree. Neighborhoods, businesses and the traveling public 
will benefit or be adversely affected in some way. NDOT and ADOT strongly believe that residents and visitors to their 
states are their customers and should be given an opportunity to participate in planning and project development.  

Stakeholders, residents, the traveling public, businesses and other interested parties are encouraged to communicate 
their needs, desires and visions for this Corridor so that NDOT and ADOT, in cooperation with its partners, can better 
meet the transportation needs. A Citizen's Guide to the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) is posted on the 
website and has been developed to help citizens and organizations who are concerned about the environmental effects 
of federal decision-making to effectively participate in federal agencies’ environmental reviews under NEPA. Even 
though we have not yet begun the NEPA phase, this study embraces the NEPA process because we believe that the 
public, stakeholders and interested parties need to be involved in and should have the opportunity to influence the 
transportation planning, design and construction process. 

 
Who will ultimately make the decision on where the Corridor would be located? 
The I-11 & Intermountain West Corridor Study is a high priority for NDOT and ADOT, which have pooled their resources 
and are jointly managing this study; together, the agencies will ultimately be responsible for approving all study 
decisions. Corridor decisions regarding the preferred alignment(s) and components of the Corridor will be made in 
subsequent phases of the project and will follow the process established by NEPA. ADOT and NDOT will follow a 
transparent decision-making process that includes input from the public and Stakeholders Partners in conducting this 
Corridor study. All interested public agencies, non-profit organizations and private interest groups are invited to 
participate in a Stakeholder Partners group that will be asked to provide data and other input, and to share their 
opinions and ideas on decision points throughout the process.  

 
How can I get involved? 
Staying informed and submitting your comments are great ways to get involved with this project. 

Stay Informed: 

• Check out the website (www.i11study.com) for periodic updates 

• Submit your email address for inclusion on the project distribution list (see “Get Involved” tab on website) 

• Review documents as they become available (see “Project Documents” tab on website) 

• Attend public meetings and agency presentations 

Submit Comments: 

• Using the comment form on the “Get Involved” tab on website 

• By calling or mailing our project managers: 

Sondra Rosenberg 
Nevada Department of Transportation 
1263 South Stewart Street 
Carson City, NV 89712 
(775) 888-7241 

Michael Kies, PE 
Arizona Department of Transportation 
206 S. 17th Avenue 
Phoenix, AZ 85007 
(602) 712-8140 

 
  

Attachment c

http://www.i11study.com/�


 

 

 July 31, 2013   
MEMORANDUM 

TO: Department of Transportation Board of Directors 
FROM:  Rudy Malfabon, Director 
SUBJECT: August 12, 2013 Transportation Board of Directors Meeting 
Item #11: Old Business  
____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Summary: 
 
This item is to provide follow up and ongoing information brought up at previous Board 
Meetings. 
 
Analysis: 
 
a. Report of Outside Counsel Costs on Open Matters - Informational item only. 

 
 Please see Attachment A. 
 
b. Monthly Litigation Report - Informational item only. 

 
 Please see Attachment B. 
 
c. Fatality Report dated July 17, 2013 - Informational item only. 
 
 Please see Attachment C. 
 
List of Attachments: 
 
a. Report of Outside Counsel Costs on Open Matters -  Informational item only. 
b. Monthly Litigation Report - Informational item only. 
c. Fatality Report dated July 17, 2013 - Informational item only. 
 
Recommendation for Board Action: 
 
Informational item only. 
 
Prepared by: 
 
Rudy Malfabon, Director 

 
1263 South Stewart Street 
Carson City, Nevada 89712 

Phone: (775) 888-7440 
Fax:      (775) 888-7201 



C:\temp\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\G9NXTK7V\Outside Counsel Contracts BOD 7-15-13

Contract Per iod Contract and Amendment 
D t

Nossaman, LLP Pioneer Program  9/23/09 - 7/1/13 9/23/2009  $                   125,000.00 
Legal and Financial Planning  Amendment #1 2/23/2010  $                    80,000.00 
NDOT Agmt No. P282-09-002  Amendment #2 10/6/2010  $                    30,000.00 

 Amendment #3 10/26/2010  $                    30,000.00 
 Amendment #4 8/31/2011  $                   365,000.00  $              630,000.00  $                189,025.42 

Nossaman, LLP Project Neon  3/11/13 - 3/11/15 3/11/2013 1,400,000.00$                
Legal and Financial Planning
NDOT Agmt No. P014-13-015

1,400,000.00$             $             1,268,270.37 
Chapman Law Firm NDOT vs. Ad America

 8th JD  - 4 Eminent Domain Cases
Project Neon - Las Vegas
NDOT Agmt No. P301-11-004

6/14/2011 - 8/31/13 6/14/2011  $                   406,675.00 

 Amendment #1 8/30/2012  Expansion of Scope 
 Amendment #2 7/8/2013  $                    85,000.00  $              491,675.00  $                    4,876.35 

Snell & Wilmer, LLP Peek Construction vs. NDOT
1st JD 120C 00030 1B
 Contract # 3407 (Wells Wildlife Crossing)
 NDOT Agmt No. P082-12-004

3/1/2012 - 6/30/14 3/1/2012  $                   150,000.00 

 $              150,000.00  $                  21,032.23 

Snell & Wilmer, LLP Peek Construction vs. NDOT
1st JD 120C 00032 1B
Contract # 3377 (Kingsbury Grade)
 NDOT Agmt No. P083-12-004

3/1/2012 - 3/30/2015
Amendment #1

3/1/2012
2/18/13

 $150,000.00
$75,000.00 

$225,000.00  $              225,000.00  $                    6,058.46 

Snell & Wilmer, LLP Construction Claims Williams Brother, Inc.
Contract # 3392 (Various in Las Vegas) NDOT 
Agmt No. P084-12-004

3/1/2012 - 6/30/14 3/1/2012  $                    30,000.00 

 $                30,000.00  $                  26,822.50 

Chapman Law Firm NDOT vs. Blue Diamond R.V. and Storage
 8th JD A610962
RE:  Work Order 20359000
NDOT Agmt No. P155-12-004

4/24/2012 - 4/24/14 4/24/2012  $                   107,425.00 

 Amendment #1 8/30/2012  $                    88,250.00  $              195,675.00 $14,948.76

Chapman Law Firm NDOT vs. Carrie Sanders
8th JD - A-12-664693-C
Project Neon - Las Vegas
NDOT Agmt No  P192-12-004

6/12/12 - 6/12/14 6/12/2012  $                   541,800.00 

 $              541,800.00  $                489,639.03 

Chapman Law Firm NDOT vs. Gendall
 8th JD - A-12-666487-C
Project Neon - Las Vegas
NDOT Agmt No. P325-12-004

6/12/12 - 6/12/14 6/12/2012  $                   541,800.00 

 $              541,800.00  $                509,197.43 

Chapman Law Firm NDOT vs. Robarts 1981 Decedents Trust
 8th JD - 12-665880-C
Project Neon - Las Vegas
NDOT Agmt No. P452-12-004

10/23/12 - 10/12/14 10/23/2012  $                   475,725.00 

 $              475,725.00  $                443,610.49 

OPEN NDOT - OUTSIDE COUNSEL CONTRACTS AS OF JULY 17, 2013
Vendor Case/Project Name Contract and Amendment 

Amount
Total Contract 

Author ity
Contract Author ity 

Remaining

Attachment a



C:\temp\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\G9NXTK7V\Outside Counsel Contracts BOD 7-15-13

Contract Per iod Contract and Amendment 
D t

OPEN NDOT - OUTSIDE COUNSEL CONTRACTS AS OF JULY 17, 2013
Vendor Case/Project Name Contract and Amendment 

Amount
Total Contract 

Author ity
Contract Author ity 

Remaining

Chapman Law Firm NDOT vs. Catello Family Trust
 8th JD - A-12-671920-C
Project Neon - Las Vegas
NDOT Agmt No. P476-12-004

11/16/12 - 11/30/15 11/16/2012  $                   449,575.00 

 $              449,575.00  $                435,691.18 

Chapman Law Firm NDOT vs. MLK-ALTA
 8th JD - A-12-658642-C
Project Neon - Las Vegas
NDOT Agmt No. P508-12-004

 1/14/13 - 1/14/15 1/14/2013  $                   455,525.00 

 $              455,525.00  $                435,639.55 

Chapman Law Firm NDOT vs. Highland Partnership 1980
 8th JD - 
Project Neon - Las Vegas
NDOT Agmt No. P507-12-004

 1/14/13 - 1/14/15 1/14/2013  $                   449,575.00 

 $              449,575.00  $                438,684.46 

Chapman Law Firm NDOT vs. Highland 2000-I, LLC
 8th JD - A-12-671915-C
Project Neon - Las Vegas
NDOT Agmt No. P501-12-004

 1/14/13 - 1/14/15 1/14/2013  $                   449,575.00 

 $              449,575.00  $                424,613.39 

Laura FitzSimmons, Esq. Condemnation Litigation Consultation
NDOT Agmt No. P510-12-004

12/16/12 - 12/30/14 12/16/2012  $                   300,000.00 

 $              300,000.00  $                       342.00 

Lemons, Grundy, Eisenberg NDOT vs. Ad America (Appeal)
 8th JD  - A-11-640157-C
Project Neon - Las Vegas
NDOT Agmt No. P037-13-004

1/22/13 - 1/22/15 1/22/2013 $205,250.00 

 $              205,250.00  $                162,542.74 

Sylvester & Polednak, Ltd. NDOT vs. Wykoff
8th JD - A-12-656578-C
Warms Springs Project - Las Vegas
NDOT Agmt No. P071-13-004

 2/27/13 - 2/27/15 2/27/2013 $275,000.00 

 $              275,000.00  $                168,591.99 

Sylvester & Polednak, Ltd. NDOT vs. Railroad Pass
8th JD - A-12-665330-C
Boulder City Bypass Project
NDOT Agmt No. P072-13-004

 2/27/13 - 2/27/15 2/27/2013  $                   275,000.00 

 $              275,000.00  $                246,282.34 

Sylvester & Polednak, Ltd. NDOT vs. K & L Dirt
8th JD - A-12-666050-C
Boulder City Bypass Project
NDOT Agmt No. P073-13-004

 2/27/13 - 2/27/15 2/27/2013  $                   275,000.00 

 $              275,000.00  $                259,967.10 

Sylvester & Polednak, Ltd. NDOT vs.  I-15 & Cactus
Cactus Project - Las Vegas
8th JD - A-12-664403-C
NDOT Agmt No. P074-13-004

 2/27/13 - 2/27/15 2/27/2013  $                   200,000.00 

 $              200,000.00  $                196,090.00 

Sylvester & Polednak, Ltd. JYTYJK, LLC dba Wireless Toyz vs. NDOT 
8th JD A-13-681291-C
Project Neon - Las Vegas
NDOT Agmt No. P127-13-004

 4/19/13 - 2/28/13 4/19/2013  $                   175,000.00 

 $              175,000.00  $                169,395.20 

Attachment a



C:\temp\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\G9NXTK7V\Outside Counsel Contracts BOD 7-15-13

Contract Per iod Contract and Amendment 
D t

OPEN NDOT - OUTSIDE COUNSEL CONTRACTS AS OF JULY 17, 2013
Vendor Case/Project Name Contract and Amendment 

Amount
Total Contract 

Author ity
Contract Author ity 

Remaining
Watt, Tieder, Hoffar & Fitzgerald Pacific Coast Steel vs. NDOT

K3292 - I-580
2nd JD CV12-02093
NDOT Agmt No. P160-13-004

 4/30/13 - 4/30/15 4/30/2013  $                   275,000.00 

 $              275,000.00  $                188,000.87 

Sylvester & Polednak Fitzhouse Enterprises
(acquired title as Westcare)
8th JD - A-13-660564-C
Project Neon - Las Vegas
NDOT Agmt No. P201-13-004

 5/31/13 - 5/31/15 5/31/2013 290,000.00$                   

290,000.00$                $                252,014.38 

Chapman Law Firm 54 B LLC vs. Clark County & NDOT
8th JD - A-12-674009
NDOT Agmt No. P217-13-004

 6/6/13 - 11/30/15 6/6/2013 250,000.00$                   

250,000.00$                $                245,419.13 

* BH Consulting Agreement Management assistance, policy 
cecommendations, negotiation support and 
advice regarding NEXTEL and Re-channeling 
of NDOT's 800 Mhz frequencies.

6/30/12 - 6/30/16 6/30/2012  $                    77,750.00 

 $                77,750.00  $                  76,340.00 
*  Pass Through - Federally mandated 800 MHz rebanding project fully reimbursed by Sprint Nextel.

Attachment a



Page 1

Monthly Litigation Report to the Nevada Department of Transportation - July 15, 2013       

Fees Costs Total
Condemnations
NDOT vs. 2.5 Acres @ Dean Martin, LLC 8   Eminent domain - I-15 Cactus
NDOT vs. AD America, Inc.  (Cactus - Direct) 8   Eminent domain - I-15 Cactus 102,626.26$    25,038.74$     127,665.00$    
NDOT vs. Bawcon 4   Eminent domain - Elko
NDOT vs. Catello Family Trust, Carmine V. 8   Eminent domain  - Project Neon 12,459.50$      1,424.32$       13,883.82$      
NDOT vs. Falcon Capital 2   Eminent domain  -  I-580
NDOT vs. Fitzhouse/Westcare 8  Eminent domain  - Project Neon 10,725.00$      27,260.62$     37,985.62$      
NDOT vs. Gendall Trust 8   Eminent domain  - Project Neon 23,192.11$      2,052.81$       25,244.92$      
NDOT vs. Highland Partnership 1980, LLC 8   Eminent domain  - Project Neon 7,353.75$        3,536.79$       10,890.54$      
NDOT vs. Highland 2000-I, LLC 8   Eminent domain  - Project Neon 22,662.61$      2,299.00$       24,961.61$      
NDOT vs. I-15 and Cactus, LLC 8   Eminent domain - I-15 Cactus 3,875.00$        35.00$            3,910.00$        
NDOT vs. Jenkins, Carrie, aka Carrie Sanders 8   Eminent domain - Project Neon 37,540.50 3,752.56 41,293.06$      
NDOT vs. Jericho Heights, LLC 8   Eminent domain - Boulder City Bypass 289,000.00$    10,658.58$     299,658.58$    

NDOT vs. K & L Dirt Company, LLC 8   Eminent domain - Boulder City Bypass 13,900.00$      1,132.90$       15,032.90$      
NDOT vs. KP & TP, LLC, Roohani, Khusrow 8   Eminent domain  - I-15 and Warm Springs 
NDOT vs. MLK-ALTA 8   Eminent domain - Project Neon 17,900.00$      1,985.45$       19,885.45$      
NDOT vs. Railroad Pass Investment Group 8   Eminent domain - Boulder City Bypass 25,750.00$      2,967.66$       28,717.66$      
NDOT vs. Union Pacific Railroad Co. 7   Eminent domain - Recnstr.  of SR 317
NDOT vs. Woodcock, Jack 8   Eminent domain - I-15 and Warm Springs 
NDOT vs. Wykoff Newberg Corporation 8   Eminent domain - I-15 and Warm Springs 20,507.23$      85,900.78$     106,408.01$    

Case Name J
u

Nature of Case Outside Counsel to Date

Attachment b



Page 2

Monthly Litigation Report to the Nevada Department of Transportation - July 15, 2013       

Fees Costs Total
Inverse Condemnations
54 B LLC 8   Inverse condemnation 4,470.50$        110.37$           4,580.87$         
AD America, Inc. vs. NDOT (Cactus) 8   Inverse condemnation - I-15 Cactus 36,937.75$      24,898.22$      61,835.97$       

AD America, Inc. vs. NDOT (NEON) 8   Inverse condemnation - Project Neon 253,185.75$    52,676.18$      305,861.93$     
AD America, Inc. vs. NDOT (SouthPoint) 8   Inverse condemnation - I-15 Cactus 29,911.05$      4,231.96$        34,143.01$       
Blue Diamond RV & Storage vs. NDOT 8   Inverse condemnation - Blue Diamond Road 163,992.27$    16,300.47$      180,292.74$     
JYTYJK, LLC dba Wireless Toyz vs. NDOT Inverse condemnation - Project Neon 4,850.00$        754.80$           5,604.80$         
MLK-ALTA vs. NDOT 8   Inverse condemnation - Project Neon 17,900.00$      1,985.45$        19,885.45$       
Nassiri, Fred vs. NDOT 8  Inverse condemnation
P8 Arden, LLC vs. NDOT 8    Inverse condemnation - Blue Diamond Road
Robarts 1981 Decedents Trust vs. NDOT 8   Inverse Condemnation - Project Neon 30,332.33$      1,782.18$        32,114.51$       
Rural Telephone vs. Dorsey Ln, NDOT 4   Public utility seeks permanent easement
Torts
Allstate Insur. vs. Las Vegas Paving;NDOT LPlaintiff alleges property damage and negligence
Austin, Renee vs. State, NDOT 2   Plaintiff alleges negligence causing personal injury
Chadwick, Estate of Lonnie Joe vs. NDOT 8    Estate alleges transfer of property without court order
Daisy Investments, LLC vs. State 8   Plaintiff alleges property damage and negligence
Discount Tire Company vs. NDOT; Fisher 8   Plaintiff alleges negligence
Ewasko vs. State, NDOT 2   Plaintiff alleges negligence in design of truck ramp
Harper, Kenneth J. vs. NDOT 8   Plaintiff alleges negligence/personal injury/wrongful death
Marshall, Charles vs. State, NDOT 8   Plaintiff alleges personal injury
NDOT vs. Tamietti 1   NDOT seeks injunct. relief to prevent closing access
State Farm Fire and Casualty Co. vs. NDOT R   Plaintiff alleges negligence in failure to maintain roadway
Tefft vs. State, NDOT 8   Plaintiff's allege breached duty in construction of median
Contract Disputes
Peek Construction vs. State, NDOT 1      Plaintiff alleges delays on Contract 3377, SR 207 204,064.50$    10,363.24$      214,427.74$     
Peek Construction vs. State, NDOT 1      Plaintiff alleges delays on Contract 3407, US-93 123,113.00$    4,220.67$        127,333.67$     
Pacific Coast Steel vs. State, NDOT 2    Plaintiff alleges delays/incomplete design on I-580 Galena 29,712.00$      2,574.45$        32,286.45$       
Personnel Matters
Akinola, Ayodele vs. State, NDOT U  Plaintiff alleges 14th Amendment violation - discrimination
Cooper, Jennifer vs. State, NDOT 9   Plaintiff appeals trial verdict of alleged decrimination
Lau, Stan vs. State, NDOT N  Plaintiff is appealing termination

Case Name J
u

Nature of Case
Outside Counsel to Date

Attachment b



                                                                                                                                                  7/17/2013

TO: PUBLIC SAFETY, DIRECTOR NDOT,  HIGHWAY SAFETY COORDINATOR, 
NDOT TRAFFIC ENGINEERING, FHWA, LVMPD, RENO PD.

FROM: THE OFFICE OF TRAFFIC SAFETY, FATAL ANALYSIS REPORTING SYSTEM (FARS)

SUBJECT: FATAL CRASHES AND FATALITIES BY COUNTY, PERSON TYPE, DAY, MONTH, YEAR AND PERCENT CHANGE.

Yesterday Crashes Fatals Yesterday Crashes Fatals Crashes Fatals

up to 7/15/13 1 1 7/15/2012 1 1 0 0
MONTH 11 15 MONTH 9 9 2 6
YEAR 127 143 YEAR 132 142 -5 1

CRASH AND FATAL COMPARISON BETWEEN 2012 AND 2013, AS OF CURRENT DATE. 

2012 2013 2012 2013
COUNTY 2012 2013 % 2012 2013 % Alcohol Alcohol % Alcohol Alcohol %

Crashes Crashes CHANGE Fatalites Fatalities Change Crashes Crashes Change Fatalities Fatalities Change

CARSON 0 4 0 5 0 2 0 3
CHURCHILL 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0
CLARK 94 96 2.1% 104 104 0.0% 31 22 -29.0% 32 25 -21.9%
DOUGLAS 1 2 100.0% 1 2 100.0% 0 1 0 1
ELKO 7 1 -85.7% 7 2 -71.4% 3 0 -100.0% 3 0 -100.0%
ESMERALDA 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
EUREKA 1 0 -100.0% 1 0 -100.0% 0 0 0 0
HUMBOLDT 2 2 0.0% 2 3 50.0% 1 0 -100.0% 1 0 -100.0%
LANDER 3 0 -100.0% 3 0 -100.0% 1 0 -100.0% 1 0 -100.0%
LINCOLN 1 4 300.0% 1 4 300.0% 1 2 100.0% 1 2 100.0%
LYON 1 1 0.0% 1 3 200.0% 1 0 -100.0% 1 0 -100.0%
MINERAL 2 1 -50.0% 2 1 -50.0% 0 0 0 0
NYE 5 5 0.0% 5 8 60.0% 0 1 0 1
PERSHING 1 1 0.0% 1 1 0.0% 0 0 0 0
STOREY 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
WASHOE 13 9 -30.8% 13 9 -30.8% 3 3 0.0% 3 3 0.0%
WHITE PINE 1 0 -100.0% 1 0 -100.0% 0 0 0 0

YTD 132 127 -3.8% 142 143 0.7% 41 31 -100.0% 42 35 -16.7%
TOTAL 12 236 ----- -46.2% 259 ----- -44.8% 60 -48.33% 66 ----- -46.97%

2012 AND 2013 ALCOHOL CRASHES AND FATALITIES ARE BASED ON PRELIMINARY DATA.

COMPARISON OF FATALITIES BY PERSON TYPE BETWEEN 2012 AND 2013, AS OF CURRENT DATE.

2012 2013 2012 2013
COUNTY Vehicle Vehicle % 2012 2013 % Motor- Motor- % 2012 2013 % 2012 2013

Occupants Occupants Change Peds Peds Change Cyclist Cyclist Change Bike Bike Change Other Other

CARSON 0 3 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0
CHURCHILL 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0
CLARK 60 59 -1.7% 25 27 8.0% 17 14 -17.6% 1 3 200.0% 1 1
DOUGLAS 0 2 1 0 -100.0% 0 0 0 0 0 0
ELKO 6 2 -66.7% 0 0 1 0 -100.0% 0 0 0 0
ESMERALDA 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
EUREKA 1 0 -100.0% 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
HUMBOLDT 2 3 50.0% 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
LANDER 3 0 -100.0% 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
LINCOLN 1 3 200.0% 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0
LYON 0 3 0 0 1 0 -100.0% 0 0 0 0
MINERAL 2 1 -50.0% 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
NYE 3 5 66.7% 1 1 0.0% 0 2 1 0 -100.0% 0 0
PERSHING 1 1 0.0% 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
STOREY 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
WASHOE 6 4 -33.3% 5 2 -60.0% 1 3 200.0% 0 0 1 0
WHITE PINE 0 0 0 0 1 0 -100.0% 0 0 0 0

YTD 85 86 1.2% 32 32 0.0% 21 21 0.0% 2 3 50.0% 2 1
TOTAL 12 156 -44.87% 58 -44.83% 38 -44.74% 3 0.00% 4

Total 2012 259

CURRENT SAME DATE LAST YEAR # CHANGE

Attachment c


	Agenda
	Item #3
	Item #4
	Item #5
	Attachment A
	Line Item 1
	Line Item 2
	Line Item 3


	Item #6
	Item #6 Attachment A
	Item #6 Attachment B

	Item #7a 
	Item #8a
	Item #9
	Item #10
	Item #10 Attachment a
	Item #10 Attachment b
	Item #10 Attachment c

	Item #11 
	Item #11 Attachment a
	Item #11 Attachment b
	Item #11 Attachment c




